
Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Angela Brogden 

Tel: (0113) 37 88661 
Produced on Recycled Paper 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES) - 
CONSULTATIVE MEETING 

 

 
Consultative meeting to be held remotely* on 

Tuesday, 27th July, 2021 at 1.30 pm 
 

(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 1.00 p.m.) 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
C Anderson - Adel and Wharfedale; 

L Cunningham - Armley; 

J Dowson - Chapel Allerton; 

Gibson - Cross Gates and Whinmoor; 

N Harrington - Wetherby; 

C Hart-Brooke - Rothwell; 

M Iqbal - Hunslet and Riverside; 

W Kidger - Morley South; 

G Latty - Guiseley and Rawdon; 

A Marshall-Katung (Chair) - Little London and 
Woodhouse; 

E Taylor - Chapel Allerton; 

 
Co-opted Member (Non-voting) 

 
Dr J Beal - Healthwatch Leeds 

 
 

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the 
‘To View Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead 
of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting.   

 
 

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1190&MId=11613 
  
 

*This is being held as a remote ‘consultative’ meeting.  While the meeting will be webcast live to enable public access, it 

is not being held as a public meeting in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972.  

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1190&MId=11613


 
B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in 
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor 
Code of Conduct’. 
 

 

2   
 

  MEETING NOTE OF 15TH JUNE 2021 
 
To note for information the note of the Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board 
consultative meeting held on 15th June 2021. 
 

5 - 10 

3   
 

  THE HEALTH AND CARE BILL 2021-22 AND 
THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE LOCAL 
INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM 
 
To consider and discuss a report from the Head of 
Democratic Services which presents information 
and guidance surrounding the new Health and 
Care Bill and the development of the local 
Integrated Care System. 
 

11 - 
106 

4   
 

  WORK SCHEDULE 
 
To consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work 
schedule for the 2021/22 municipal year. 
 

107 - 
132 

Third Party Recording  
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the 
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification 
of the main speakers and their role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete. 

 
Webcasting 
 
Please note – the publicly accessible parts of this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent 



 
C 

broadcast via the City Council’s website. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is to be filmed.



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES) - 
CONSULTATIVE MEETING 

 
TUESDAY, 15TH JUNE, 2021 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor A Marshall-Katung in the Chair 

 Councillors C Anderson, L Cunningham, 
J Dowson, Gibson, N Harrington, C Hart-
Brooke, M Iqbal, W Kidger, G Latty and 
K Renshaw 

 
 
 
Co-opted Member – Dr J Beal 
 
 
 
In welcoming everyone to the Scrutiny Board’s meeting, Councillor Marshall-
Katung also highlighted that should she encounter connection issues during 
the meeting then Councillor Graham Latty would take over as Chair, as 
agreed by the Board. 
 
   
 

1 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. 
 
 

2 Minutes - 16th March 2021  
 

RECOMMENDED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 16th March 2021 
be noted. 
 
 

3 Co-opted Members  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that set out the 
appointment of co-opted members to the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and 
Active Lifestyles). 
 
Members were advised that since 2014, the Board has appointed a standing 
non-voting co-opted member representative from HealthWatch Leeds and that 
this organisation would therefore welcome such arrangements to continue for 
this municipal year.  Board Members had therefore noted and welcomed that 
the Chair of HealthWatch Leeds (Dr John Beal) had again been identified as 
their nominated representative.  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Additionally, it was noted that this approach would not preclude the 
appointment of any further non-voting co-opted members and so the views of 
Board Members were sought in terms of whether to explore representation 
from other potential areas too, either as standing co-opted members or in 
terms of other alternative options of engagement that are available to the 
Board too, for example, the Board may wish to adopt a more ad hoc approach 
and consider the appointment of co-opted members linked to a scrutiny 
inquiry where organisations would be able to nominate a representative best 
suited for the specific purpose of that inquiry.  In consideration of the options 
available, the Board supported to adopt an ad hoc approach in terms of any 
other non-voting co-opted members. 
 
RECOMMENDED – The report and views expressed by Board Members be 
noted and used to inform a decision on the appointment of co-opted members 
at the Board’s next formal meeting. 
 
 

4 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented the 
Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference. 
 
RECOMMENDED – That the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference be noted. 
 
 

5 Local Authority Health Scrutiny  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented 
information and guidance to assist the Board in undertaking the council’s 
statutory health scrutiny function. 
 
In introducing the report, the Principal Scrutiny Adviser made particular 
reference to the duty of NHS Commissioners and Service Providers to consult 
local authorities, through the health scrutiny function, where any proposal is 
under consideration for a substantial development of the health service or a 
substantial variation in the provision of such a service in the local authorities’ 
area. 
 
To assist in this process, it was noted that a Health Service Developments 
Working Group has previously been established to offer an environment that 
allows early engagement with the Scrutiny Board regarding proposed 
developments or changes to local health services. It was therefore proposed 
that similar arrangements be established again for this municipal year.  Draft 
terms of reference surrounding the Health Service Developments Working 
Group were appended to the report for consideration and Members expressed 
support for such arrangements to be continued. 
 
Particular attention was also given to the West Yorkshire Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) that was established back in 
November 2015 as a discretionary joint health scrutiny committee. Members 

Page 6



were asked to consider the Board’s representatives on the JHOSC for this 
municipal year, while also recognising that such arrangements may be subject 
to further review linked to forthcoming legislative proposals for a new Health 
and Care Bill.  In acknowledging that the Board’s previous representatives 
had included the Chair and Councillor G Latty, Members were supportive of 
continuing the same arrangement for this year.   
 
RECOMMENDED –  
 

(a) That the contents of the report be noted. 
(b) That the views expressed by the Board in relation to the Health Service 

Development Working Group and the appointment of Board Members 
onto the West Yorkshire JHOSC be noted and reflected to inform the 
position for approval at the Board’s next formal meeting. 
 

 
6 Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report on potential sources of 
work for the Scrutiny Board. 
 
The following were in attendance: 
 

- Councillor Fiona Venner Executive Member for Adult and Children’s 
Social, Care and Health Partnerships 

- Councillor Salma Arif, Executive Member for Public Health and Active 
Lifestyles 

- Cath Roff, Director of Adults and Health 
- Victoria Eaton, Director of Public Health 
- Phil Evans, Chief Officer, Operations and Active Leeds 
- Steve Baker, Business Manager, City Development 
- Tim Ryley, Chief Executive, NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group  
- Sara Munro, Chief Executive, Leeds & York Partnership NHS 

Foundation Trust 
- Sam Prince, Executive Director of Operations, Leeds Community 

Healthcare NHS Trust 
- Rob Newton, Associate Director Policy & Partnerships, Leeds 

Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 
 
Suggestions for future areas of work from Members and officers in attendance 
included: 
 

 General impact of Covid-19. It was suggested that the Board may wish 
to receive periodic updates surrounding the general impact of Covid-19 
and ongoing recovery measures across the local health and care 
system. Linked to this, particular interest was raised in relation to the 
impact on people with learning disabilities and autism, social care 
services and care homes. 

 Long Covid – The Board expressed particular interest around the 
support available for addressing symptoms of ‘long Covid’.  

Page 7



 Backlogs in NHS services. Members expressed an interest to explore 
the extend to which Covid-19 has impacted waiting times for local NHS 
treatments, including screening services and elective surgery. It was 
noted that HealthWatch had also undertaken research on this matter. 

 Improving ‘same day response’ services. While there was particular 
interest to explore how GP services are planning to safely return to a 
face-to-face appointment service, it was felt that this could be extended 
to include other ‘same day response’ services too. 

 The re-engagement of specialist commissioned services. Members 
expressed a wish to also focus on the re-engagement of other 
specialised commissioned services, with particular reference made to 
health checks. 

 Covid-19 Vaccination Programme. The Board had previously kept a 
watching brief on the Leeds Covid-19 Vaccination Programme and had 
received a brief progress update during the meeting.  

 Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections. Members noted that 
CQC inspections of care providers have been impacted by the 
pandemic, but that routine inspections are anticipated to resume 
shortly. It was requested that regular dashboards detailing the quality 
of registered providers continue to be shared with the Board. 

 Integrated Care System (ICS) development. It was suggested that the 
Board monitor the development of the new ICS, particularly in 
anticipation of the new Health and Care Bill. 

 Dental health inequalities. Members noted that work was being 
undertaken by Healthwatch across the region and felt that this could 
potentially be an area of interest to the West Yorkshire JHOSC. 

 Financial assessments for social care. Members were interested to 
receive further information surrounding the ongoing consultation 
around the removal of the maximum assessed charge for care, which 
ends in August 2021. 

 Access and participation in Active Leeds services. It was suggested 
that the Board consider how Active Leeds services are being 
maximised in the most deprived areas in Leeds and how access and 
participation can be further improved. 

 Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS). It was suggested that, later in the 
municipal year, the Board consider the impact of the introduction of the 
LPS on the workforce and how the changes will be practically 
implemented. 

 Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review. It was suggested 
that the Board consider the recommendations of the Marmot Review 
into health inequalities in England ‘10 Years On’ report, and the 
subsequent ‘Build Back Fairer’ report highlighting the inequalities 
associated with Covid-19, for development of local needs assessments 
and strategies moving forward. 

 Staff wellbeing. In recognition of the challenge faced by staff across the 
health and care system in Leeds throughout the pandemic, Members 
were advised that the health and wellbeing of staff has been identified 
as a key priority for the coming year and an area in which the Board’s 
input would be valuable.  

Page 8



 
RECOMMENDED – That the contents of the reports, along with Member’s 
comments, be noted. 
 

7 Performance Update  
 

The Directors of Adults and Health, Public Health and City Development 
submitted a joint report that provided an overview of outcomes and service 
performance related to the Scrutiny Board’s remit. 
 
The following were in attendance: 
 

- Councillor Fiona Venner Executive Member for Adult and Children’s 
Social Care and Health Partnerships 

- Councillor Salma Arif, Executive Member for Public Health and Active 
Lifestyles 

- Cath Roff, Director of Adults and Health 
- Victoria Eaton, Director of Public Health 
- Phil Evans, Chief Officer, Operations and Active Leeds 
- Steve Baker, Business Manager, City Development 
- Peter Storrie, Head of Service (Children / Adults lead), Intelligence & 

Policy Service 
 
The Directors and Chief Officer for Operations and Active Leeds introduced 
their respective elements of the report, outlining some of the key trends in 
relation to health inequalities in Leeds and noting that much of the data set 
out in the report is from 2019 and therefore reflects a pre-pandemic picture of 
the city.   
 
Members discussed a number of matters, including: 
 

 Phone call assessments. Members expressed concern around the use 
of phone-in services in place of physical assessments of people 
receiving care and were advised that phone calls are used to initially 
assess an individual’s circumstances and whether a visit is required. It 
was confirmed that an update on the work of the rapid response team 
would be circulated separately to Members.  

 Life expectancy inequalities. In recognition of the decline of life 
expectancy for women in Leeds, Members requested that future 
reports include breakdown of data by ward and causes of death to 
understand the differences between the most and least deprived areas 
of Leeds.  

 Active Leeds. Members recognised the challenges faced by Active 
Leeds centres across the city throughout the pandemic and joined the 
Chair and Executive Members in thanking all Active Leeds staff for 
their hard work and resilience during this time.  

 Early identification and prevention. Members noted the government’s 
mandate to deprioritise local authority commissioned services, 
including the health check offer, however expressed concern around 
the impact of reduced early intervention and sought assurance that 

Page 9



health checks are to be reintroduced at the earliest opportunity. 
Members were advised that despite the instruction from central 
government, approximately one third of health checks have continued, 
and public health teams are working closely with GP services to 
resume full delivery and also work through the backlog of patients who 
have not been offered a health check since the beginning of the 
pandemic. Related to this, Members requested that future reports also 
include health check data for ex-prisoners and the homeless 
population. 

 
RECOMMENDED – That the contents of the reports, along with Member’s 
comments, be noted. 
 

8 Work Schedule  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented the draft 
work schedule for the forthcoming municipal year. This included the traditional 
items of Scrutiny work which involves performance monitoring, 
recommendation tracking and Budget and Policy Framework Plans. 
 
In introducing the report, the Principal Scrutiny Adviser made particular 
reference to the Health Service Developments Working Group meeting that 
was held on 26th April 2021 to consider development proposals linked to the 
adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation service and community neurological 
rehabilitation services in Leeds.  
 
During that working group meeting, Board Members had requested that 
further service-related information, including patient numbers, waiting times 
and initial findings arising from ongoing patient engagement, be made 
available to the successor Board by early June in order to assist Board 
Members in determining any appropriate next steps.  It was noted that this 
additional information had now been shared with Board Members.  It was also 
noted that the Board was now proposing to utilise its planned meeting on 5th 
October to consider the future vision for stroke services in Leeds more 
generally and in doing so, would also receive at that point an updated position 
regarding the development of the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation service 
and the community neurological rehabilitation service. 
 
RECOMMENDED – That the draft work schedule be noted. 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 The Health and Care Bill 2021-22 was introduced in the House of Commons on 6 July 
2021 and is set to enact policies set out in the NHS’s recommendations for legislative 
reform, following the NHS Long Term Plan (January 2019), and the White Paper, 
Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all 
(February 2021). 

 

 The Bill focuses largely on the detail on how a new health and care system based on 
integration rather than competition will be structured. This includes specifications on how 
Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) are to be set up and the distinct statutory functions 
relating to Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) and Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) 

 

 At the request of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board, this report 
presents information surrounding the new Bill and the current context for health and social 
care in West Yorkshire and Leeds, particularly with regard to the development of the local 
Integrated Care System. 

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider and discuss the information presented within this report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Health and Care Bill 2021-22 and the development of 
the local Integrated Care System 

Date: 27th July 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden 

Tel: 0113 3788661 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. The Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board held a remote consultative meeting 
on 15th June 2021 to consider priority areas of work for the forthcoming municipal year.  
 

2. During this meeting, the Board expressed an interest surrounding the anticipated Health 
and Care Bill 2021-22 and the implications of this for health and social care in West 
Yorkshire and Leeds, particularly with regard to the development of the new local 
Integrated Care System (ICS).   

 

3. Members acknowledged the ongoing work of the West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) in liaising with the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health 
and Care Partnership to consider the implications of the legislative proposals for West 
Yorkshire, including a focus on the potential future role of scrutiny as part of the new ICS 
system.   

 

4. While it was noted that Members would be kept up-to-date on the work being undertaken 
by the JHOSC, the Board expressed a wish to use its July meeting to discuss the 
development of the local Integrated Care System with representatives across the local 
health and care system in anticipation of the Bill being published in late June/early July.      

 
What impact will this proposal have? 

 

5. The Health and Care Bill 2021-221 was published and introduced in the House of 
Commons on 6 July 2021. 

 
6. To help inform the Board’s discussion, the Director of Adults and Health has provided a 

report which summarises the main points of the Health and Care Bill in context for health 
and social care in West Yorkshire and Leeds, particularly with regard to the development 
of the local Integrated Care System (see Appendix 1). 

 

7. A report on the Health and Care Bill published by the House of Commons Library is also 
attached as a useful background document (see Appendix 2).  
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

8. The government ran a formal consultation process on its proposals before publishing the 

Health and Care Bill 2021-22. 

 

9. Representatives from across the local health and care system will be attending today’s 

meeting to contribute to the Board’s discussion and respond to Members’ questions. 

What are the resource implications? 
 

10. The report of the Director of Adults and Health references any associated resource 
implications.   

 

                                                           
1 The complete Bill can be accessed via this link https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf 
 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 12

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

What are the legal implications?  
 

11. The proposals set out in the Health and Care Bill are intended to pass into law by April 
2022. 

 
What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

12. The report of the Director of Adults and Health references any associated risk 
management implications.   

  
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☐ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☐ Climate Emergency 

 
13. The Leeds Health and Well-being strategy sets out the ambition that Leeds will be a 

healthy and caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest improve their health 

the fastest. The aims of integrated care support many of the strategy’s priorities including 

“the best care, in the right place, at the right time”. 
  

Appendices 
 

14. Appendix 1 – Report of the Director of Adults and Health on the West Yorkshire and 
Harrogate Health and Care Partnership/ Leeds Integrated Care Partnership. 
 

15. Appendix 2 – ‘Health and Care Bill’ House of Commons Library document. 12th July 2021. 
 

 

Background papers 
 

16. None. 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

• The purpose of this report is to set out the current context for health and social care in West 

Yorkshire and Leeds, and for Scrutiny Board members to consider the implications of the 

White Paper Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 

and the Health and Care Bill 2021-22 published on 6th  July 2021.  
 

• The report sets out proposals for a new governance structure at West Yorkshire level and at 

a place-based/ Leeds level. 
 

• The report also references the national changes within the Public Health system as set out 
in Transforming the public health system: reforming the public health system for the 
challenges of our times DHSC 29/3/2021. 
 

• The Health and Care Bill also includes proposals that impact on adult social care and these 
are summarised in the report too. 

 

• Leeds Health and Well-being strategy sets out the ambition that Leeds will be a healthy and 

caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest improve their health the fastest. 

The aims of integrated care support many of the strategy’s priorities including “the best care, 

in the right place, at the right time”. 
 

• The Best Council Plan has at its heart tackling poverty and reducing inequalities. Addressing 

health inequalities is a key priority for integrated health and care services in Leeds. 
 

• The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) has been assigned to fulfil the 

council’s health scrutiny function and therefore has a specific remit / responsibility in relation 

to reviewing and scrutinising any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of 

local health services. 

Recommendations 

Members are asked to consider and discuss the information and guidance presented in this report. 

West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care 
Partnership/ Leeds Integrated Care Partnership 

Date: 27 July 2021 

Report of: Director of Adults & Health 

Report to: Adults, Health & Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report Authors: Cath Roff, Tony Cooke, Victoria Eaton 

Tel: 0113 3783884 

Page 15



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1. At its meeting on 15 June, Scrutiny Board members discussed the priority items it wanted to 

consider over the municipal year. It identified the development of integrated health and care 
services and the implications of the Health and Care Bill 2021-22. This report summarises 
the main points of the Bill and its implications for Leeds. 

 

2. In 2015 NHS Planning guidance announced the requirement to produce Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans. This required NHS organisations and local authorities across England 
to come together to develop “place-based” plans for the future of health and care services in 
their area. Draft plans were produced by June 2016 and final plans were submitted in 
October. STPs became Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships. STPs represented a 
shift in the way that the NHS in England planned its services. While the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 sought to strengthen the role of competition within the health system, NHS 
organisations were now being told to collaborate rather than compete to respond to the 
challenges facing their local services. This change of approach was an acknowledgement 
that changes such as the abolition of a range of NHS bodies, the creation of new bodies, 
tighter financial settlements and the outsourcing of many services had not improved 
outcomes and had resulted in reduced co-operation between services.  
 

3 From 2018, some of these partnerships evolved to form even closer partnerships through 
integrated care systems or ICS’s, with the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care 
Partnership (WY H&CP) being the ICS in which Leeds sits. In an integrated care system, 
NHS organisations, in partnerships with local councils and others, take collective 
responsibility for managing resources, delivering NHS standards, and improving the health 
of the population they serve. 
 

4. STPs and the subsequent ICS bodies did not escape the inevitable controversy inherent in 
NHS change. During this period Leeds had signed off a strong Health and Wellbeing 
strategy rooted in integration and improving the health of the poorest the fastest. This, 
coupled with effective political leadership, helped guide engagement with the STP and WY 
H&CP. A series of ‘red lines’ for LCC engagement with the ICS were agreed by Executive 
Board in 2017/18 and these were subsequently supported by the Partnership Executive 
Group that also includes NHS and Third Sector colleagues. These lines included requests 
for greater focus on health inequality, economic development and climate change but they 
also included a call for greater political engagement, the development of a structure that 
mirrored the local Health and Wellbeing Boards and, perhaps most importantly, that 
resource allocation would be fair and reflect both population and deprivation where possible.  
 

5. As a result of these conversations a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) was drafted that 
set a clear direction for the ICS and its subsequent strategy. The MoU stated that local 
government’s regulatory and statutory arrangements would remain separate from those of 
the NHS and whilst councils would be subject to the mutual accountability arrangements for 
the partnership they would not be subject to a single NHS financial control total and its 
associated arrangements for managing financial risk. Through this MoU Councils agreed to 
align planning and performance improvement with NHS partners where it made sense to do 
so. Democratically elected councillors would continue to hold the partner organisations 
accountable through their formal Scrutiny powers.  
 

6. Perhaps most importantly, from March 2019 there has been a ‘Partnership Board’ in place 
chaired by Cllr Swift, Leader of Calderdale Council, and including Council leaders and 
Health and Wellbeing Board Chairs as well as Chief Executives from the range of NHS 
organisations, the Third Sector and patient representatives. The Partnership Board provides 
the formal leadership for the Partnership and is responsible for setting strategic direction. It 
provides oversight for all Partnership business and a forum to make decisions together as 
partners. 

Page 16

https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/meetings/partnershipboard


 

7. The current WY&H plans are rooted in ‘primacy of place’ with services delivered and 
strategy designed as close as possible to people themselves. Primacy of place enables 
Leeds (and other areas) to determine, within national guidance, its own destiny and drive 
change locally, preventing over-reach of the ICS. It is predicated on a subsidiarity test with 
three components:  
 

• Critical mass/scale – the size of the issue requires a regional focus, or alternatively a 
service is so specialist it can only be delivered at scale (e.g. bariatric surgery or particular 
cancers) 

• Best practice – sharing of innovation and best practice (e.g. the Bradford Healthy Hearts 
Programme, the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Calderdale Cares) 

• ‘Wicked issues’ and resolving system-wide intractable problems (e.g. workforce issues 
and managing competition for limited staffing resources or the development of residential 
provision for young people with mental health issues)  

 

8. In 2019 the NHS Long term Plan confirmed, in what it described as the biggest national 
move to integrated care in any major western country, that every part of England would be 
served by an integrated care system from April 2021. The Plan also confirmed that primary 
and community services would be funded to provide a greater range of services in more 
convenient settings. 

 

9. The Bill now takes that a step further with proposals to bring forward into legislation from 
April 2022 the following: 
 

(a) Establishing integrated care systems in law. Clinical Commissioning groups will be 
dissolved and their allocative functions absorbed within the ICS NHS body 

(b) The creation of statutory ICS bodies will allow NHS England to set financial allocations 
and other financial objectives at a system level. There will be a duty to meet the system 
financial objectives and deliver financial balance. How money will flow/ be allocated to 
place level will be key. 

(c) NHS providers within the ICS will retain their current structures, governance and 
organisational financial statutory duties but there will be a new duty to compel providers 
to have regard to the system financial objectives 

(d) The ICS NHS body will take on the commissioning functions of the CCGs and their 
responsibilities in relation to oversight and scrutiny committees 

(e) The ICS partnership will bring together health, social care and public health as well as 
other bodies as appropriate, to develop a plan to address the wider health and care 
needs of the system. This plan will inform decision-making by the ICS NHS bodies and 
local authorities 

(f) It will create provision to allow the formation of joint committees between ICSs and NHS 
providers and between NHS providers separately to give a legal basis for making joint 
decisions. Both types of committees could include representation from other bodies such 
as primary care networks and local authorities. 

(g) The Bill draws attention to a forthcoming data strategy for health and care. The strategy 
will set out the proposals to address structural, cultural and legislative barriers to sharing 
data for the benefit of the individual, population and system. 

(h) It sets out plans to remove the current procurement rules which apply to the NHS and 
public health commissioners when arranging healthcare services. Commissioners will be 
able to arrange services with the most appropriate provider. Commissioners will be able 
to run a competitive process where it adds value, recognising their duty to act in the best 
interests of patients, tax-payers and the local population.  

 
 

Page 17



10. It described the core purpose of an ICS being to: 
 

 • improve outcomes in population health and healthcare 
 • tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience and access 
 • enhance productivity and value for money 
 • help the NHS support broader social and economic development 
 

11. The proposals represent a marked shift away from the focus on competition that 
underpinned the coalition government’s 2012 reforms towards a new model of collaboration, 
partnership and integration. At the same time, removing some of the competition and 
procurement rules could give the NHS and its partners greater flexibility to deliver joined-up 
care to the increasing number of people who rely on multiple services. 

 
12. Unlike previous reforms, the proposed legislation aims to avoid a one-size-fits-all approach 

and leaves many decisions to local systems and leaders. This is appropriate given the great 
variation across England in terms of history, demography and local health challenges. 
 

13. It is important to recognise the limitations of what legislation can achieve. It is not possible to 
legislate for collaboration and co-ordination of local services – that has to come from the 
strength of local relationships. 

 

14. In March 2021  Transforming the public health system: reforming the public health system 
for the challenges of our times  was published which took the lessons from COVID to 
describe proposals to place two Public Health functions – health security and health 
improvement into two separate areas.  The first is the UK Health Security Agency [UKHSA] 
whose role will be protecting against infectious diseases and external health threats; the 
second is a new Office for Health Promotion, within the Department of Health and Social 
Care, which will drive our prevention agenda across government . There will also be a new 
cross-government ministerial board on prevention, to drive forward and co-ordinate 
government action on the wider determinants of health. The policy paper notes that the 
changes detailed above will also impact locally on the Public Health system with statutory 
integrated care systems  bringing local authorities and the NHS together, so they can take 
decisions together and strengthen the prevention agenda at a local level, as well as 
supporting local authorities and Directors of Public Health. 

 
15. In terms of the impact on social care, the Bill sets out four measures: enhanced integration 

through the position of social care in the ICS structure, a new standalone legal basis for the 
Better Care Fund and allowing “Discharge to Assess” models to follow, a legal power to 
make direct payments to providers and finally an enhanced assurance framework and 
improved data collection. 

 

16. The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy outlines an ambition to move care into the 
community, closer to people’s homes. We have referred to this strategic objective as 
achieving a “left shift”. The Left Shift Blueprint puts in place the metrics by which we will 
judge how well that strategic shift has been achieved. This is a key document with four 
principles: 

 

(i) Supporting people to live, age and die well 
(ii) Addressing health inequalities 

(iii) More care delivered closer to home 

(iv) People as equal partners in their care 

 

 

 

Page 18



City partners have signed up to the strategic indicators below as to how we will judge 

success in re-aligning care against the core principles: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17. The key next step is to put in place the new governance structures at West Yorkshire and 
Leeds level. The government published the ICS Design Framework in June 2021. It sets out 
that: 

• Each ICS will have a Partnership at system level, formed by the NHS and local 
government as equal partners – it will be a committee, not a body. The West 
Yorkshire ad Harrogate Health and Care partnership already has this in place. 

• Members must include local authorities that are responsible for social care services in 
the ICS area. Beyond this, members may be widely drawn from all partners working 
to improve health, care and well-being in the area, to be agreed locally 

• The ICS partnership will have a specific responsibility to develop an “integrated care 
strategy” for their whole population 

• The Chair of the Partnership can also be the chair of the ICS NHS body but it does 
not have to be – for local determination 

 

There will also need to be a formal ICS NHS body referred to in the Bill as the ICS 

Integrated Care Board. This will be the vehicle through which NHS lines of accountability will 

operate. Its functions will include: 

 

• Developing a plan to meet the health needs of the population 

• Allocating resources to deliver the plan across the system (both revenue and    
capital) 

• Establishing joint working and governance arrangements between partners 

• Arrange for the provision of health services including through contracts and            
agreements with providers and major transformation programmes across the ICS 

• Have a People Plan with implementation with employers 

• Leading system wide on digital and data 

• Joint work on estate, procurement and community development 

• Leading emergency planning and response 
 

Page 19



18. The ICS Integrated Care Board will be different from traditional NHS boards, owned by 
partners across the ICS. There will be a minimum requirement for Board membership set 
out in legislation but must include the following roles: 

 

• An independent chair  

• Two other independent non-executives (cannot be on Boards of any other NHS 
Body)  

• A Chief Executive  

• A Chief Finance Officer  

• An Acute Hospital Representative  

• A Mental Health Trust Representative  

• A Representative of General Practice  

• A Medical Director  

• A Chief Nurse  

• One member drawn from the local authority, or authorities, with statutory social care 
responsibility whose area falls wholly or partly within the area of the ICS NHS body.  
 

This Board will be held accountable for delivering NHS statutory duties: that is, duties for 
the use of NHS resources and for meeting NHS standards in their area. In reality, it will be 
very similar to the responsibilities of CCGs, but across a broader area. The guidance is 
permissive as to how they discharge this accountability especially in larger ICS. In West 
Yorkshire the intention is to seek to discharge these duties primarily through delegation 
to places. 
 

19. An ICS Integrated Care Board could establish any of the following place-based governance 
arrangements with local authorities and other partners: 
 

• Consultative Forum, informing decisions by the ICS Integrated Care Board, local 
authorities and other partners  

• Committee of the ICS Integrated Care Board with delegated authority to take 
decisions about the use of the ICS BHS body resources 

• Joint Committee of the ICS Integrated Care Board and one or more statutory 
providers, where the relevant statutory bodies delegate decision-making on specific 
functions/ services/ population to the joint committee 

• Individual Directors of the ICS Integrated Care Board having delegated authority, 
which they may choose to exercise through a committee 

• Lead Provider managing resources and delivery at place level under a contract with 
the ICS Integrated Care Board 

 

20. In Leeds we believe we have been working as an integrated care partnership for some time 
with numerous pieces of working spanning re-modelled care pathways, a population health 
approach, workforce and data and digital integration. The establishment of a formal body is 
a logical next step.The current thinking in Leeds for our own Board is to establish it as a 
Joint Committee of the ICS Integrated Care Board. This would allow for the full devolution of 
the NHS budget to Leeds plus the ability to add non-NHS resources such as the Better Care 
Fund and pooled budgets with the Council under this governance.  

 
21. The Leeds Board will be:  

•  Accountable to the ICS with wider partners for achieving the best possible 
improvements in the health and wellbeing of all the people of Leeds and ensuring for 
them the provision of high-quality services within a delegated NHS Budget.  

•  Delivering these on behalf of, and in line with, the strategies of the West Yorkshire 
ICS and the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board.  

Page 20



•   Responsible for the delivery of the Leeds ambitions around Population Health 
Management, The Left Shift and addressing Health Inequalities.  

•  Responsible for ensuring the integration of services in Leeds driven-by data informed, 
personalised and preventative care based around citizen’s needs.  

•  Responsible for establishing the necessary infrastructure and capabilities in Leeds to 
facilitate allocation of resources, effective risk sharing mechanisms, and statutory 
duties across Leeds for NHS services.  

 
22. The most important issue is that Leeds adopts a governance structure that allows the 

maximum possible autonomy and to do so in a way that does not inhibit other places in the 

wider West Yorkshire Partnership.  

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

23. When the Bill passes into law, we will see the dissolution of Leeds NHS CCG and its role 
and responsibilities transfer to the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care 
Partnership. Depending on what model of governance is adopted at place (i.e. local 
authority level) this will affect how much control and autonomy the Leeds system has over 
its NHS resources. 
 

24. In the future, there will not be a formal commissioner/ provider split but rather collective 
decision-making on the use of resources for the whole system. 

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 
25. The government ran a formal consultation process on its proposals before publishing the 

White paper and Bill. 
 
What are the resource implications? 
 
26. To a certain extent these are unknown as we do not know how precisely money will flow into 

the Leeds NHS system. 
 

What are the legal implications?  
 
27. The proposals in the Bill are intended to pass into law by April 2022. 

 
What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 
28. The key risk in the Bill is the loss of control of Leeds NHS resources which can be mitigated 

by adopting a model of governance that supports the devolution of resources to a Leeds 
Integrated Care Board. This is a working title and we may need to change it to make a 
clearer distinction between the West Yorkshire Board and the Leeds Board. 

  
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☐Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☐Climate Emergency 

29. Leeds Health and Well-being strategy sets out the ambition that Leeds will be a healthy and 

caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest improve their health the fastest. 

The aims of integrated care support many of the strategy’s priorities including “the best care, 

in the right place, at the right time”. 

Wards Affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 21



Options, timescales and measuring success  

a) What other options were considered? 

30. The options for different types of local governance will be determined by national legislation 

as set out earlier in this report. The other option Leeds could choose that would ensure a 

devolved budget is to be a sub-committee of the ICS. 

 

b) How will success be measured? 

31. Leeds partners have agreed that the “left shift blueprint” as set out in paragraph 16 as our 

measures of success. 

 

c) What is the timetable for implementation? 

32. The Health and Care Bill 2021-22 is expected to pass into legislation by April 2022. The 

Leeds Board is expected to be established in shadow form by October 2021 in preparation 

for the new arrangements. 

  

Appendices 

33. None 

 

Background papers 

34. Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care – government 

White Paper, Department of Health and Social Care, February 2021 

Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all (HTML version) - 

GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

35. The Health and Care Bill 2021-22, House of Commons library, July 2021 
CBP-9232.pdf (parliament.uk) 

 

36. Integrated care systems: Design Framework, Department of Health and Social Care, June 

2021 
Report template - NHSI website (england.nhs.uk)  

 

 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-9232/CBP-9232.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0642-ics-design-framework-june-2021.pdf


 

 

 
commonslibrary.parliament.uk 

 

 

  

 
By Thomas Powell, 
Manjit Gheera, 
David Foster, 
Bukky Balogun, 
Lorraine Conway 

12 July 2021 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 
140 of 2021-22] 

  

 Summary 
1 Background to NHS reform and integrated care 
2 Part 1: Provisions to support integration and collaboration 
3 Part 2: Health and adult social care information 
4 Part 3: Secretary of State powers to transfer functions 
5 Part 4: The Health Services Safety Investigations Body 
6 Provisions relating to adult social care 
7 Restrictions on TV and online advertising of less healthy food 

and drink 
8 Other provisions 
 

Page 23



 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

2 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

  

Page 24



 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

3 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

 

 

  

Number CBP9232 

 
Image Credits 
Attributed to: Project 365 #219: 070809 Badge of Honour by Pete. Public 
domain/ image cropped. 

Disclaimer 
The Commons Library does not intend the information in our research 
publications and briefings to address the specific circumstances of any 
particular individual. We have published it to support the work of MPs. You 
should not rely upon it as legal or professional advice, or as a substitute for 
it. We do not accept any liability whatsoever for any errors, omissions or 
misstatements contained herein. You should consult a suitably qualified 
professional if you require specific advice or information. Read our briefing 
‘Legal help: where to go and how to pay’ for further information about 
sources of legal advice and help. This information is provided subject to the 
conditions of the Open Parliament Licence.  

Feedback 
Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publicly 
available briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be 
aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated to reflect 
subsequent changes.  

If you have any comments on our briefings please email 
papers@parliament.uk. Please note that authors are not always able to 
engage in discussions with members of the public who express opinions 
about the content of our research, although we will carefully consider and 
correct any factual errors. 

You can read our feedback and complaints policy and our editorial policy at 
commonslibrary.parliament.uk. If you have general questions about the work 
of the House of Commons email hcenquiries@parliament.uk. 

 

Page 25

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn03207/
mailto:papers@parliament.uk
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/
mailto:hcenquiries@parliament.uk


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

4 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Contents 

Summary 6 

1 Background to NHS reform and integrated care 9 

1.1 The NHS Long Term Plan (January 2019) and the Health and Care White 
Paper (February 2021) 9 

1.2 The Health and Social Care Committee’s report on the White Paper 11 

2 Part 1: Provisions to support integration and collaboration 16 

2.1 Background 16 

2.2 Merging NHS England and NHS Improvement (Clauses 1, 26-32 and 
Schedules 1 and 5) 18 

2.3 The Triple Aim (Clauses 4, 15, 43 and 56) 19 

2.4 NHS England and Integrated Care Board requirements to involve and 
consult patients and carers (Clauses 5 and 19) 20 

2.5 Other provisions relating to the exercise of functions by NHS England 
(Clauses 6-8 and 10-11) 20 

2.6 Functions and duties of Integrated Care Systems (Clauses 12-25 and 
Schedules 2 and 3) 21 

2.7 Financial controls on NHS England and ICBs (Clauses 21-24) 26 

2.8 Additional powers for the Secretary of State and the relationship with 
NHS England 27 

2.9 NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts 31 

2.10 Joint working, delegation, and collaboration (Clauses 60-65 and 
Schedule 9) 33 

2.11 NHS payment systems (Clause 66 and Schedule 10) 34 

2.12 Patient choice and competition (Clauses 67-73 and Schedules 11 and 12)
 35 

3 Part 2: Health and adult social care information 39 

4 Part 3: Secretary of State powers to transfer functions 43 

4.1 Arm’s Length Bodies: transferring and delegating functions (Clauses 86-
92) 43 

Page 26



 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

5 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

5 Part 4: The Health Services Safety Investigations Body 45 

5.1 Background 45 

5.2 The Bill (Clauses 93-119 and Schedule 13) 49 

6 Provisions relating to adult social care 56 

6.1 Hospital discharge and social care assessments (Clause 78) 56 

6.2 CQC assessment of local authority social care functions (Clause 121) 57 

6.3 Financial assistance (Clause 122) 58 

6.4 Comment on wider reform of adult social care 59 

7 Restrictions on TV and online advertising of less healthy food and 
drink 61 

7.1 Background 61 

7.2 The Bill (Clause 125 and Schedule 16) 62 

7.3 Views of stakeholders 66 

8 Other provisions 70 

8.1 International healthcare (Clause 120) 70 

8.2 Professional regulation (Clause 123) 71 

8.3 Medical examiners (Clause 124) 72 

8.4 Hospital food (Clause 126) 73 

8.5 Food labelling requirements (Clause 127) 73 

8.6 Water fluoridation (Clauses 128 and 129) 76 

8.7 Miscellaneous provisions (Clauses 75-77) 80 

8.8 Part 6: Consequential provisions, regulations, commencement, extent 
and short title (Clauses 130-135) 80 

 

Page 27



 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

6 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Summary 

The Health and Care Bill 2021-22 [Bill 140 of 2021-22] was introduced in the 
House of Commons on 6 July 2021. The second reading is scheduled for 
Wednesday 14 July 2021.  

The Bill would enact policies set out in the NHS’s recommendations for 
legislative reform, following the NHS Long Term Plan (January 2019), and the 
White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health 
and social care for all (February 2021).  

The Government says the Bill builds on the NHS’s own proposals for reform, 
aiming to make it less bureaucratic, more accountable, and more integrated, 
and that it has incorporated lessons learnt from the pandemic.  

What does the Bill do? 
Several provisions in the Bill were originally proposed by NHS England, such 
as establishing existing Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) on a statutory footing, 
formally merging NHS England and NHS Improvement, and making changes 
to procurement and competition rules relating to health services. 

The Bill also includes proposals from the February 2021 White Paper to give 
the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care powers to direct NHS 
England and to decide how some other health services are organised. It gives 
the Secretary of State powers to transfer functions between some of the 
‘Arm’s Length Bodies’ that lead, support and regulate healthcare services in 
England, and to intervene in proposed changes to the way health services are 
delivered. 

The Bill doesn’t cover wider reforms of the social care and public health 
systems, although it does provide for some changes in these areas (and ICSs 
are intended to improve coordination between the NHS and local authority 
services).  

Social care and public health provisions 
For social care, the Bill provides for the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to 
assess how local authorities deliver their adult social care functions and it 
aims to improve data sharing. 

There are also measures to streamline how people with ongoing care needs 
are discharged from hospitals. Public health measures in the Bill relate to 
food advertising and water fluoridation. 

Page 28

https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3022
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-7-next-steps/possible-legislative-change/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/health-and-care-bill-introduced-to-parliament
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/public-services/public-bodies


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

7 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Safety investigation and other measures 
The Bill would establish the Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch as a 
statutory body, and make changes to the system of medical examiners.  

These measures were previously introduced in the Health Services Safety 
Investigations Bill [HL Bill 4] in October 2019 and earlier draft legislation in 
2017.  

Other matters covered by the Bill include the regulation of health and care 
professionals, the collection and sharing of data (including measures to 
support the development of new medicine registries), international 
healthcare, and hospital food standards. 

The Bill contains 135 clauses (grouped into six parts), with 16 Schedules, and 
makes changes to several existing Acts, most notably the National Health 
Service Act 2006 and the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

Reaction to the Bill 

NHS England 

The NHS England Chief Executive, Sir Simon Stevens, said the Bill’s proposals 
for integrated care were “widely supported”: 

They go with the grain of what our staff and patients can see is 
needed, by removing outdated and bureaucratic legal barriers to 
joined-up working between GPs, hospitals, and community services.  

The Chief Executive said the reforms would “undoubtedly both help tackle 
health inequalities and speed the recovery of care disrupted by the covid 
pandemic.” 

The Health and Social Care Committee 

The Health and Social Care Committee’s report on the White Paper proposals 
summarises a wide range of responses to the Government’s planned reforms. 
Overall, it supported the direction of travel set out in the White Paper.  

The Committee noted that the creation of ICSs could improve the delivery of 
care services for patients if proper accountability mechanisms are put in 
place, particularly relating to the safety and quality of care. However, the 
Committee also concluded that several areas in the White Paper required 
further clarity or revision, such as the addition of new powers for the 
Secretary of State. 

The new Secretary of State, Sajid Javid, has written the Health and Social 
Care Committee to explain how its report’s recommendations informed the 
drafting of the legislation. 

Page 29

https://www.hsib.org.uk/
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2466
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2466
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/645961/Draft_bill_health_service_safety_investigations_bill.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/health-and-care-bill-introduced-to-parliament
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6630/documents/71458/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6630/documents/71458/default/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

8 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

More powers for the Secretary of State 

While there has been widespread support for better integrated care, the 
proposals to extend the Secretary of State’s powers have been 
controversial.  Dr Jennifer Dixon, Chief Executive of the Health Foundation, 
said that the new powers are“ politically driven and risks taking healthcare 
backwards.” 

NHS Providers has said it will seek appropriate safeguards to balance new 
ministerial powers. It also stresses that an excessively top-down approach to 
ICS structures could hinder effective local collaborative working. 

While  noting its concerns about the additional powers for the Secretary of 
State, the NHS Confederation has said its membership of NHS organisations 
are relieved that the Bill has been brought forward before the summer recess. 
They describe the timetable for ensuring that ICSs can take on statutory 
responsibilities by April 2022 as “incredibly tight”.  

Private sector involvement 

There are mixed views about what changes to competition rules might mean 
for the level of private sector involvement in the NHS. The King’s Fund has 
welcomed the Bill’s removal of “cumbersome” competition rules under the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012. But the Labour party, the British Medical 
Association and anti-privatisation campaigners have warned that the Bill 
could allow contracts to be awarded to private healthcare providers without 
proper scrutiny. 

What about other pressures on the NHS? 

There are concerns that the Bill does not sufficiently address the greatest 
challenges facing the NHS, namely the impact of the pandemic on staff and 
patients, waiting lists for non-Covid treatment, wider reform of adult social 
care, and workforce pressures.  

A wide range of groups representing NHS staff and organisations have called 
for the Bill to include further measures to require a long-term workforce 
strategy. This has been backed by think tanks and the Health and Social Care 
Committee. 

The Shadow Health Secretary, Jonathan Ashworth, questioned the timing of 
the Bill, asking why the Government was embarking on reorganising the NHS 
rather than “…resourcing the NHS sufficiently to bring down the record 
waiting lists for surgery, mental health and cancer care or giving our NHS 
workers the proper pay rise they deserve.” 

 

 

 

 

Page 30

https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/news/giving-the-health-secretary-more-power-over-the-nhs-risks
https://nhsproviders.org/resource-library/briefings/on-the-day-briefing-health-and-care-bill
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/health-and-care-bill
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/press/press-releases/important-reforms-undermined-by-ministerial-interference-health-care-bill?utm_source=The%20King%27s%20Fund%20newsletters%20%28main%20account%29&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=12506522_NEWSL_HMP%202021-07-09&dm_i=21A8,7G23E,8N01D,U99NB,1
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2021/jul/06/health-bill-could-see-nhs-contracts-awarded-without-tender-process
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2021/jul/06/health-bill-could-see-nhs-contracts-awarded-without-tender-process
https://health.org.uk/news-and-comment/news/the-nhs-bill-must-put-in-place-a-system-to-support-better-workforce-planning
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/
https://labourlist.org/2021/07/ministers-publish-controversial-corporate-takeover-health-and-care-bill/
https://labourlist.org/2021/07/ministers-publish-controversial-corporate-takeover-health-and-care-bill/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

9 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

1 Background to NHS reform and 
integrated care 

1.1 The NHS Long Term Plan (January 2019) and 
the Health and Care White Paper (February 
2021) 

The White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve 
health and social care for all (February 2021), set out the Government’s plans 
for a Health and Care Bill. The Government’s intention to introduce this 
legislation was confirmed in the Queen’s speech on 11 May 2021. 

The White Paper included a number of measures that were originally 
proposed by NHS England to support the NHS Long Term Plan (January 2019). 
The NHS Long Term Plan set objectives for improving public health and 
clinical outcomes in areas such as preventing infant mortality, improving 
cancer survival rates, and better mental health services. To enable these 
changes, the Plan set out actions on workforce, technology, innovation and 
efficiency. It also proposed changes to the ‘system architecture’ of the NHS to 
increase the coordination of services through the creation of Integrated Care 
Systems. This was seen as a move away from some of the competition-based 
reforms introduced by the Health and Social Care Act 2012.1 

The Long Term Plan included recommendations for changes to the legislative 
framework and said amendments to primary legislation “…would significantly 
accelerate progress on service integration, on administrative efficiency, and 
on public accountability”.2 

Proposals for legislation in the Long Term Plan were followed by the Health 
and Social Care Committee’s report NHS Long-term Plan: legislative 
proposals (HC2000, 24 June 2019). The December 2019 Queen’s speech 
included plans for draft legislation to support the Long Term Plan.3  

 

1  Further background can be found in the Library briefing paper on The structure of the NHS in England 
(June 2020) 

2  NHS Long Term Plan, January 2019, page 10 
3  Further background can be found in the Library briefing paper on The structure of the NHS in England 

(June 2020) 

Page 31

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-7-next-steps/possible-legislative-change/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhealth/2000/200002.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhealth/2000/200002.htm
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/853886/Queen_s_Speech_December_2019_-_background_briefing_notes.pdf
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-7206/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-7-next-steps/possible-legislative-change/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-7206/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

10 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

The latest proposals from NHS England were set out in a consultation, 
Integrating care: next steps to building strong and effective integrated care 
systems across England, published in November 2020.4  

The White Paper (February 2021) confirmed NHS England proposals to:  

• establish Integrated Care Systems as statutory bodies and other 
measures to support integration of health and care; 

• formally merge NHS England and NHS Improvement; and 
• make changes to procurement and competition rules relating to health 

services. 

The White Paper also set out several proposed changes to the legislation 
relating to the Secretary of State, including powers to direct NHS England, to 
make changes to Arm’s Length Bodies, and to intervene in health service 
reconfigurations. 

The White Paper detailed a wide range of other proposals for inclusion in the 
Bill, including the following areas:  

• social care (relating to payments, CQC assessments and data sharing) 
• public health (water fluoridation and food and drink advertising) 
• the collection and sharing of health and social care data 
• international healthcare (enabling more comprehensive reciprocal 

healthcare arrangements outside the EEA),  
• to require the Secretary of State to produce a workforce assessment 

every 5 years  
• to enable greater changes to the regulation of health and care 

professionals through secondary legislation 

The White Paper confirmed the Health and Care Bill would incorporate 
measures that were previously introduced in the Health Services Safety 
Investigations Bill in October 2019, and earlier draft legislation in 2017 to 
establish the Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch as a statutory body, and 
changes to the system of medical examiners.5 

While many responses to the White Paper supported the overall aims of better 
integrated care, there were concerns about areas not covered, notably wider 
social care reform. There were calls for further detail and scrutiny on some of 
the proposed measures, such as additional powers for the Secretary of State. 

 

4  See also NHS England’s Legislating for Integrated Care Systems: five recommendations to 
Government and Parliament, frequently asked questions on ICS legislative recommendations and 
consultation on proposals for the NHS Provider Selection Regime (all published in February 2021).  

5  Health Service Safety Investigations Bill [HL] Session 2019 

Page 32

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2466
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2466
https://www.hsib.org.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/legislating-for-integrated-care-systems-five-recommendations.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/legislating-for-integrated-care-systems-five-recommendations.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/C1127-faqs-on-ics-legislative-recommendations.pdf
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/nhs-provider-selection-regime/
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2466


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

11 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

1.2 The Health and Social Care Committee’s 
report on the White Paper 

The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care wrote to the Chair of the 
Health and Social Care Committee inviting the Committee to scrutinise the 
White Paper in advance of the Bill’s introduction to help inform Government 
thinking. The Health and Social Care Committee took oral evidence on the 
White Paper, including sessions with the Secretary of State on 16 March 2021,6 
and NHS Chief Executive Sir Simon Stevens on 9 March 2021.7  

A session took place with some of the health think tanks and other 
stakeholders on 2 March 2021.8 

Written evidence was submitted to the Health and Social Care Committee’s 
inquiry. This evidence included detailed submissions from most of the 
organisations giving oral evidence on 2 March 2021, including the King’s Fund, 
the Nuffield Trust, the Health Foundation, NHS Providers, the NHS 
Confederation and the Local Government Association. 

The Health and Social Care Committee’s report on the White Paper proposals 
was published on 14 May 2021. Given time constraints, the Committee 
focussed on the purpose of the reforms, patient choice and potential 
implementation (Chapter 2), Integrated Care Systems (Chapter 3), social care 
(Chapter 4), workforce planning (Chapter 5), additional powers for the 
Secretary of State (Chapter 6), public health (Chapter 7) and proposals to 
reduce bureaucracy and increase innovation (Chapter 8). 

Overall, the Committee said it supported the proposals and welcomed the 
“direction of travel.”9 The Committee observed the creation of ICSs had 
potential to improve the delivery of care services for patients provided proper 
countability mechanisms are put in place, particularly relating to safety and 
quality of care. However, the Committee identified areas in the White Paper 
which required further clarity or revision - and noted some concerning 
omissions, such as wider reform of adult social care.10 

 

6  The Committee took evidence from the then Secretary of State for Health and Social Care Matt 
Hancock, and Jason Yiannikkou, the Director of NHS Legislation Programme at the Department of 
Health and Social Care (DHSC).  

7  Sir Simon Stevens gave evidence alongside Amanda Pritchard, Chief Operating Officer of NHS England 
and NHS Improvement. 

8  On 2 March 2021 the Committee took evidence from Richard Murray, Chief Executive of the King’s 
Fund; Hugh Alderwick, Head of Policy at the Health Foundation; Nigel Edwards, Chief Executive of the 
Nuffield Trust; Danny Mortimer, Chief Executive of the NHS Confederation; Sarah Pickup, Deputy Chief 
Executive of the Local Government Association; Sir Robert Francis, Chair of Healthwatch England; 
and Chris Hopson, Chief Executive of NHS Providers. 

9  Health and Social Care Committee, The Government’s White Paper proposals for the reform of Health 
and Social Care, 14 May 2021, HC 20 2021-22, para 13, page 5 

10  Ibid, chapter 4 

Page 33

https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/1881/pdf/
https://committees.parliament.uk/event/3941/formal-meeting-oral-evidence-session/
https://committees.parliament.uk/event/3866/formal-meeting-oral-evidence-session/
https://committees.parliament.uk/event/3866/formal-meeting-oral-evidence-session/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/81/health-and-social-care-committee/publications/written-evidence/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5827/documents/67112/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5827/documents/67112/default/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

12 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

The Committee’s report on the White Paper proposals recommended the 
Government include in the Bill a more detailed framework that sets out the 
roles and responsibilities of what are now referred to as the Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) and the Integrated Care Partnership. To ensure that ICS are 
“…not dominated by the views of the NHS” the Committee recommend that a 
duty be placed on ICBs to ensure that: 

• the composition of boards includes representatives with experience and 
expertise in the views and needs of patients, carers and the social care 
sector. 

• where an ICS’s decision-making affects carers and the social care sector, 
that the ICS undertake formal consultation with the groups and sectors 
affected.11 

The Committee welcomed the former Secretary of State’s commitment to 
include in the Bill, at the Committee’s suggestion, provisions to enable the 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) to undertake ratings of Integrated Care 
Systems. They further recommended that the CQC’s assessment of ICSs should 
include consultation with patient groups and consideration of patient 
outcomes.12 

Other Committee recommendations related to the appointment of board 
members to the statutory ICS bodies. These included calls for greater voice 
within ICSs for carers, transparency around the criteria by which the Secretary 
of State will use powers to appoint and veto appointments, and the 
introduction of a “fit and proper person test” for board members.13 

The Committee said it did not believe the proposal to introduce a duty for the 
Secretary of State to publish a workforce assessment once every five years 
was an adequate response to NHS staff shortages. The Committee welcomed 
proposals from the Kings Fund, Health Foundation and Nuffield Trust to place 
a duty in the Bill to produce annual workforce projections (similar proposals 
were submitted by the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges and Royal College 
of Nursing). The Committee recommended the Government include provisions 
in the Bill to require Health Education England to publish objective, 
transparent and independent annual reports on workforce shortages and 
future staffing requirements to cover the next five, ten and twenty years and 
to include an assessment of whether sufficient numbers are being trained. 
They further recommended that such workforce projections cover social care 
as well as the NHS, given the close links between the two systems, and that 
workforce reports be undertaken in consultation with the Devolved 
Administrations. 

On 14 April 2021, the Health Foundation, Nuffield Trust and The King's Fund 
wrote a joint letter to Matt Hancock and Jeremy Hunt calling for the proposed 

 

11  Ibid, para 52 
12  Ibid, para 24, pages 7-8 
13  Ibid, para 52-54, page 15 

Page 34

https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

13 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Bill to put in place a system to support better workforce planning. 
Specifically, they called for a new clause to require Health Education England 
to publish annual, independently verified projections of the future supply of 
the health care workforce in England, and set out how those projections 
compare to projected demand for the healthcare workforce over a 15-year 
period (consistent with the long-term projections of health care spending 
produced by the Office for Budget Responsibility).14   

On 6 July 2021 the new Secretary of State, Sajid Javid, sent a letter to the 
Health and Social Care Committee to confirm new powers for the CQC to 
assess ICSs would be introduced as an amendment to the Bill. The letter went 
on to outline several areas where the Committee had informed the 
Government’s approach to drafting the legislation and its plans for statutory 
guidance. However, the letter said the Government did not agree that a 
requirement in primary legislation to publish long-term workforce projections 
was needed in order to continue to invest in the workforce.15 

Integrated Care Systems 
By bringing local health and care leaders together to plan around the long-
term needs of residents, Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) aim to make 
practical improvements, such as making it easier for patients to access and 
navigate different health and care services. They also aim to help people live 
healthier lives for longer, and to stay out of hospital when they do not need to 
be there, for example by joint working with councils and others such as the 
voluntary sector.  

The King’s Fund provides the following background on how ICS form a key part 
of the future direction for the NHS as set out in the NHS Long Term Plan, to 
achieve greater integration of health and care services; improve population 
health and reducing inequalities: 

ICSs are part of a fundamental shift in the way the health and care 
system is organised. Following several decades during which the 
emphasis was on organisational autonomy, competition and the 
separation of commissioners and providers, ICSs depend instead on 
collaboration and a focus on places and local populations as the 
driving forces for improvement. They have grown out of sustainability 
and transformation partnerships (STPs) – local partnerships formed in 
2016 to develop long-term plans for the future of health and care 
services in their area.16 

 

14  Joint letter to the Rt Hon Matthew Hancock MP and Rt Hon Jeremy Hunt MP from the Health 
Foundation, Nuffield Trust and The King's Fund, 14 April 2021 

15  Letter from the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care, Sajid Javid, to the Chair of the Health 
and Social Care Committee, Jeremy Hunt, 6 July 2021; HSJ, Exclusive: CQC to get new powers through 
Health and Care Bill amendment, 8 July 2021 

16  The King’s Fund, Integrated Care Systems explained, 11 May 2021  

Page 35

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6630/documents/71458/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6630/documents/71458/default/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/topics/nhs-long-term-plan
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/stps-in-the-nhs
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/stps-in-the-nhs
https://health.org.uk/news-and-comment/news/the-nhs-bill-must-put-in-place-a-system-to-support-better-workforce-planning
https://health.org.uk/news-and-comment/news/the-nhs-bill-must-put-in-place-a-system-to-support-better-workforce-planning
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6630/documents/71458/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6630/documents/71458/default/
https://www.hsj.co.uk/policy-and-regulation/exclusive-cqc-to-get-new-powers-through-health-and-care-bill-amendment/7030448.article
https://www.hsj.co.uk/policy-and-regulation/exclusive-cqc-to-get-new-powers-through-health-and-care-bill-amendment/7030448.article
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

14 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSEI) published FAQs on their 
legislative recommendations on ICSs on 11 February 2021. This included a 
section ‘How will a statutory ICS be different from a CCG?’, set out below: 

Although we propose the ICS takes on many of the CCG functions, its 
remit will be much broader and have a much greater system role. 
NHS trusts, FTs or local authorities will be full and active partners in 
the leadership of the ICS and could also delegate some of their 
functions into the collaborative arrangements in the system. 

The design of ICSs 
The King’s Fund briefing Integrated Care Systems explained (11 May 2021) 
noted that there was a relatively permissive approach in the early stages of 
their development. The aim was that the development of ICSs should be 
locally led, and “in contrast to many previous attempts at NHS reform” there 
was no blueprint for developing an ICS.17 NHS England did subsequently 
provide guidance for a more consistent approach to the design of ICS 
governance, including Designing Integrated Care Systems in England and the 
NHS Long-Term Plan, both published in 2019.  

Designing Integrated Care Systems in England highlighted three important 
levels at which decisions are made within ICSs:  

• Neighbourhoods (populations circa 30,000 to 50,000 people) - served 
by groups of GP practices working with NHS community services, social 
care and other providers to deliver more coordinated and proactive 
services, including through primary care networks.  

• Places (populations circa 250,000 to 500,000 people) - served by a set 
of health and care providers in a town or district, connecting primary 
care networks to broader services including those provided by local 
councils, community hospitals or voluntary organisations.  

• Systems (populations circa 1 million to 3 million people) - in which the 
whole area’s health and care partners in different sectors come together 
to set strategic direction and to develop economies of scale.18 

NHS planning and contracting guidance for 2020/21 (January 2020) set out 
some further guidance on the development of ICS structures. This included 
the streamlining of commissioning arrangements, including typically moving 
to just one clinical commissioning group (CCG) per ICS, with formal mergers 
expected to have taken place by 1 April 2021.  

Further information is available from the NHSEI webpage: Integrated Care 
Systems. 

 

17 Ibid. 
18  NHS England Designing Integrated Care Systems in England, June 2019, page 2 

Page 36

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/C1127-faqs-on-ics-legislative-recommendations.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/C1127-faqs-on-ics-legislative-recommendations.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/designing-integrated-care-systems-in-england.pdf
file://hpap03f/DIS_Rdf$/powellt/Desktop/NHS%20Long%20Term%20Plan
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/designing-integrated-care-systems-in-england.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-operational-planning-and-contracting-guidance-2020-21/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/integrated-care-systems/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/integrated-care-systems/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/designing-integrated-care-systems-in-england.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

15 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

 

 

19  See HSJ, ‘Retrograde’ white paper rule will spark ‘18 months of arguments over ICS boundaries’, 19 
February 2021, and HSJ, ICS boundary changes will worsen patient care, Hancock warned, 21 June 
2021. 

20  PQ183122, Integrated Care Systems, 22 April 2021 
21  Hansard, NHS Integrated Care System Boundaries, 29 June 2021, c240 

ICS boundaries 

NHS England’s Designing Integrated Care Systems in England (2019) noted 
that the ICS ‘place level’ may match local council boundaries or the “natural 
geographies” at which services are delivered.  

The Government’s February 2021 White Paper said that joined up approaches 
should be “coterminous with local authorities”. This has been reported by the 
Health Service Journal (HSJ) and others as meaning that ICSs “…will 
generally not be allowed to cross the boundaries of upper-tier local 
authorities.” The HSJ has noted that at least 18 of the 42 ICS are not currently 
entirely coterminous with local authority boundaries.19 

PQ responses have noted that ICSs “…which are not aligned with local 
authority boundaries are being reviewed to ensure future arrangements can 
support effective partnership working between the National Health Service 
and local government.”20  

A number of MPs raised concerns about possible changes to ICS boundaries in 
their areas during an Adjournment debate on 29 June 2021. The Minister 
responding, Edward Argar, noted that Sajid Javid, as the newly appointed 
Secretary of State, “…will want to consider carefully the background to this 
issue, the options before him and, indeed, the views of right hon. and hon. 
Members before any decision is made.”21 

Page 37

https://www.hsj.co.uk/policy-and-regulation/retrograde-white-paper-rule-will-spark-18-months-of-arguments-over-ics-boundaries/7029529.article
https://www.hsj.co.uk/policy-and-regulation/ics-boundary-changes-will-worsen-patient-care-hancock-warned/7030340.article?mkt_tok=OTM2LUZSWi03MTkAAAF9zYL_dmwoIF0C99BmJ7zNgsWwcuHAFx_guLHiOex-RuJ4aHAc22IPf3c7H7NWuBzbaxyo5JD5f7hL_gnfaKMSsTf7Y6wrKBcs8XY5zQi-AQ
http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2021-04-19/183122
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2021-06-29/debates/0B1D5C1C-24BA-4F35-BAB1-B40D63F86EE9/NHSIntegratedCareSystemBoundaries
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/designing-integrated-care-systems-in-england.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

16 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

2 Part 1: Provisions to support integration 
and collaboration 

2.1 Background 

The Health and Care White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working 
together to improve health and social care for all (February 2021), set out the 
Government’s plans to put Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) on a statutory 
footing.22 It proposed that statutory ICSs would be made up of an ICS NHS 
Body (referred to as an ‘Integrated Care Board’ in the Bill) and a Health and 
Care Partnership (referred to as ‘Integrated Care Partnership’ in the Bill).  The 
Integrated Care Board (ICB) will focus on integration between NHS bodies and 
the Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP) will focus on integration between the 
NHS, local government, and other providers. 

The White Paper said ICS collaboration would be supported by a number of 
other legislative provisions, including: a duty to collaborate across the NHS 
and local government; a shared duty on all NHS bodies to pursue the ‘triple 
aims’ of the NHS Long Term Plan (better health and wellbeing, better quality 
health care and ensuring the financial sustainability of the NHS); and a duty 
on NHS trusts and foundation trusts to have regard to the system’s financial 
objectives. The legislation proposed by the White Paper would enable 
decisions to be taken by joint committees and facilitate increased 
‘collaborative commissioning’ across different footprints, for example, by 
enabling NHS England to share some of its direct commissioning functions 
with ICSs. 

The introduction to the White Paper provided the following information on 
establishing ICSs as statutory bodies, including how they would work with 
other measures to support the integration of health and care: 

We will also bring forward measures for statutory Integrated Care 
Systems (ICSs). These will be comprised of an ICS Health and Care 
Partnership, bringing together the NHS, local government and 
partners, and an ICS NHS Body. The ICS NHS body will be responsible 
for the day to day running of the ICS, while the ICS Health and Care 
Partnership will bring together systems to support integration and 

 

22  This was originally proposed by NHS England, to support the NHS Long Term Plan (January 2019), 
with the latest proposals from NHS England set out in a consultation, Integrating care: next steps to 
building strong and effective integrated care systems across England, published in November 2020 
(see also Legislating for Integrated Care Systems: five recommendations to Government and 
Parliament, published in February 2021).  

Page 38

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-7-next-steps/possible-legislative-change/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/legislating-for-integrated-care-systems-five-recommendations.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/legislating-for-integrated-care-systems-five-recommendations.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

17 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

develop a plan to address the systems' health, public health, and 
social care needs. Both bodies will need to draw on the experience 
and expertise of front-line staff across health and social care. The 
legislation will aim to avoid a one-size-fits-all approach but enable 
flexibility for local areas to determine the best system arrangements 
for them. A key responsibility for these systems will be to support 
place-based joint working between the NHS, local government, 
community health services, and other partners such as the voluntary 
and community sector.23 

The King’s Fund’s The health and social care White Paper explained (9 March 
2021) outlines the importance of ‘place level’ footprints within ICSs, which they 
say will be expected to do “much of the heavy lifting of integration”: 

The [White Paper] also recognises the importance of ‘place’, which is 
a smaller footprint than that of an ICS, often that of a local authority. 
Experience suggests that much of the heavy lifting of integration and 
improving population health is driven by organisations collaborating 
at this level, and successful ICSs have therefore often concentrated 
their efforts on developing the places within their footprint. The 
Department states that it has decided against giving place a 
statutory underpinning although it is explicit that there will be an 
expectation that ICS NHS bodies delegate ‘significantly’ to place 
level as well as to provider collaboratives. The development of 
place-based partnerships will therefore be left to local 
determination, building on existing arrangements where these work 
well. ICSs will be expected to work closely with health and wellbeing 
boards and required to ‘have regard to’ the joint strategic needs 
assessments and joint health and wellbeing strategies produced by 
health and wellbeing boards.24 

Under the Government’s proposals, ICS Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) will 
take on the commissioning functions of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) 
as well as some of NHS England’s commissioning functions. NHS England will 
allocate a single system financial envelope to each ICB using the existing CCG 
allocation formula.25 

The February 2021 White Paper sets out the duties for ICS and NHS providers 
with regard to system financial objectives, noting that a duty would be placed 
on the ICS to deliver financial balance. While the ICS will not have the power 
to direct providers, the White Paper says “…these arrangements will be 
supplemented by a new duty to compel providers to have regard to the 

 

23  DHSC White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 
for all, 11 February 2021, para 1.14, pages 10-11. Further detail on the Government’s proposals for ICSs 
is set out at Annex B of the White Paper, encompassing both the legislative and the non-legislative 
arrangements they intend to put in place. 

24  The King’s Fund, The health and social care White Paper explained (9 March 2021) 
25  PQ289, Integrated Care Systems: Finance, 18 May 2021 

Page 39

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-social-care-white-paper-explained
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-social-care-white-paper-explained
http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2021-05-11/289


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

18 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

system financial objectives so both providers and ICS NHS Bodies are 
mutually invested in achieving financial control at system level.”26 

2.2 Merging NHS England and NHS Improvement 
(Clauses 1, 26-32 and Schedules 1 and 5) 

Background 
NHS England is the operational name for the NHS Commissioning Board, 
which was established by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. It is an 
executive non-departmental public body which leads and oversees the 
funding, planning and delivery of healthcare in England. Currently, NHS 
England allocates most of the funding it receives from the Department of 
Health and Social Care to NHS clinical commissioning groups (CCGs), and 
supports them to commission services based on local need. NHS England 
directly commissions some healthcare services including specialised services, 
and screening and immunisation programmes.  

Since 2016 NHS Improvement has been the operational name for the two 
different bodies (Monitor and the Trust Development Authority) that support 
and oversee NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts, as well as independent 
providers that provide NHS-funded care.  

NHS England and NHS Improvement, currently known as NHSEI, have seven 
regional directorates that give support to NHS organisations on the ground.  

NHS England and NHS Improvement are accountable through their boards to 
the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care, and through the Secretary 
of State to Parliament.  

Since 1 April 2019, NHS England and NHS Improvement have worked together 
as a single organisation (known as NHSEI), although they remain legally 
distinct under the Health and Social Care Act 2012. Proposals to formally 
merge them into one body known as ‘NHS England’ were published by NHSEI 
in September 2019. This would combine their respective responsibilities for 
provider and commissioner performance, finance and care transformation. 
Plans for this merger were confirmed in the Government’s February 2021 White 
Paper. 

Clause 1 of the Bill would formally merge NHS England and NHS 
Improvement. There are additional provisions to abolish the two statutory 

 

26  DHSC White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 
for all, 11 February 2021, para 5.12. The King’s Fund’s The health and social care White Paper 
explained (9 March 2021) provides some further background on these financial duties. 

Page 40

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-social-care-white-paper-explained
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-social-care-white-paper-explained


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

19 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

bodies that currently make up NHS Improvement and transfer most of their 
functions to NHS England.27 

Clause 1 and Schedule 1: changing the name of the NHS 
Commissioning Board 
Clause 1 changes the legal name of the National Health Service 
Commissioning Board to NHS England. Schedule 1 contains consequential 
amendments which seek to amend other legislation to change any references 
to the NHS Commissioning Board to NHS England. 

Clauses 26-32 and Schedule 5: Merging functions of 
Monitor and the Trust Development Authority into NHS 
England 
Clause 26 abolishes Monitor, which was first established in 2004 as the 
independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts and later became the 
economic regulator for the health service under the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012.  

Schedule 5 makes consequential amendments relating to the transfer of 
Monitor’s functions to NHS England. Clause 27 places a duty on NHS England 
to minimise the risk of conflict between its regulatory and other functions, 
and to manage any conflicts that arise. Relating to Monitor’s current licensing 
of providers, Clause 28 would require NHS England to produce an impact 
assessment before a modification of the standard licence conditions that 
apply to all NHS Foundation Trusts and most other providers of NHS services 
(but not NHS Trusts).28 Clause 29 transfers powers from the Trust 
Development Authority (TDA) to NHS England and abolishes the TDA. 

2.3 The Triple Aim (Clauses 4, 15, 43 and 56) 

The 2019 NHS Long Term Plan proposed a ‘triple aim’ for the NHS of better 
health and wellbeing, better quality health care and ensuring financial 
sustainability. The February 2021 White Paper committed to creating a shared 
duty on all NHS bodies to pursue this triple aim. 

Clause 4 requires NHS England to have regard to the ‘triple aim’ duty, which 
will also apply to Integrated Care Boards (under clause 15), NHS trusts 
(clause 43) and NHS Foundation Trusts (clause 56). 

 

27  NHS England/NHS Improvement, The NHS’s recommendations to Government and Parliament for an 
NHS Bill, September 2019 

28  NHS Improvement, using Monitor’s statutory powers to act as a sector regulator for health services in 
England, sets and enforces a framework of rules for providers; implemented in part through licences 
issued to NHS-funded providers. 

Page 41

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BM1917-NHS-recommendations-Government-Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BM1917-NHS-recommendations-Government-Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

20 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Comment 

NHS Providers say this clause seeks to legislate for decision-making which 
balances health and wellbeing, the quality of services, and efficiency and 
sustainability within a constrained resource envelope. While in many ways 
this reflects the status quo, NHS Providers state that this clause offers a new 
legal basis for decisions and could be used to justify greater expenditure on 
some services rather than others.29  

2.4 NHS England and Integrated Care Board 
requirements to involve and consult patients 
and carers (Clauses 5 and 19) 

Clause 5 amends the existing requirement for NHS England to involve and 
consult the public when exercising its commissioning functions to specify 
consultation and involvement with carers and patient representatives. 

Clause 19, which provides a number of duties for Integrated Care Boards, 
requires that, in the exercise of their functions, they promote the involvement 
of patients and their carers and representatives in decisions about the 
provision of health services to patients (through the insertion of new section 
14Z36 in the NHS Act 2006). 

2.5 Other provisions relating to the exercise of 
functions by NHS England (Clauses 6-8 and 
10-11) 

Clause 6 broadens the powers of NHS England to give assistance and support 
to any provider of NHS services or any body carrying out the functions of the 
NHS. This could include Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) and non-NHS bodies 
providing NHS services. 

Clause 7 allows NHS England to direct an ICB to exercise any of NHS 
England’s relevant functions, and to make payments or give directions 
regarding the exercise of these functions. The Explanatory Notes provide 
details of what these NHS functions are for the purposes of these provisions. 
They include functions relating to primary medical services, primary dental 
services, primary ophthalmic services or pharmaceutical services, and any of 
the Secretary of State’s public health functions delegated to NHS England. 
The Secretary of State will have power to make regulations to specify any 

 

29  NHS Providers, Briefing on the Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021 

Page 42

https://nhsproviders.org/resource-library/briefings/on-the-day-briefing-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

21 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

limits or conditions on the functions that NHS England may delegate to ICBs 
under this clause.30 

Clause 8 places duties on NHS England relating to consolidated accounts for 
NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts. This replaces duties imposed on 
Monitor and the Trust Development Authority (which operate as NHS 
Improvement), and which are being abolished under the merger of NHS 
England and NHS Improvement. 

Clause 10 removes the Secretary of State’s powers to make regulations about 
payments by NHS England in respect of quality. Clause 11 amends provisions 
relating to secondments to NHS England. 

2.6 Functions and duties of Integrated Care 
Systems (Clauses 12-25 and Schedules 2 and 3) 

General functions and governance of Integrated Care 
Boards (ICBs) 
Clause 12 sets out that any ICB established under the Bill has the function of 
arranging for the provision of services for the purposes of the health service in 
England. 

Clause 13 insert new sections (14Z25 to 14Z28) into the NHS Act 2006 relating 
to the establishment of ICBs and the abolition of CCGs.  

Key new sections include 14Z25, which requires NHS England to establish ICBs, 
and new section 14Z26, which sets out the process for establishing initial ICBs. 
For example, new section 14726 sets out the process for CCGs to develop 
initial ICBs and their constitutions, and NHS England’s role in approving and 
providing guidance. Under new section 14Z27, all CCGs will be abolished on an 
appointed day, which will be the same day NHS England’s duty to establish 
ICBs commences. The appointed day will be specified in regulations.  

New section 14Z28 contains provision about schemes for the transfer of staff, 
property, rights and liabilities in connection with the establishment of ICBs 
and the abolition of CCGs.  

New Section 14Z28(3) specifies that NHS England is required to ensure that all 
property, rights and liabilities (except criminal liabilities) of CCGs are 
transferred either to an ICB or to NHS England. The Explanatory Notes state 
that these: 

…include rights and liabilities relating to contracts of employment. 
Subsection (5) contains a list of things a transfer scheme may do, 

 

30  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, paras 239-241 

Page 43

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

22 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

including to make provision which is the same as or similar to the 
Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 
2006, which includes certain protections of employment rights for 
transferred staff.31  

New section 14Z29 requires each ICB to publish its constitution, including 
when it is updated or varied. New section 14Z30(1) concerns the management 
of conflicts of interest, and requires each ICB to maintain and publish a 
register of any interests of its board members, committee or sub-committee 
members, and its employees. The Explanatory Notes state that each ICB 
“…must ensure that any potential conflicts of interest that may affect the 
board’s decision-making when commissioning services are declared promptly 
(subsection (3)) and managed effectively (subsection 4)).”32  

Schedule 2 of the Bill inserts a new Schedule 1B into the NHS Act 2006 which 
sets out further detail about ICBs, their constitutions and minimum 
governance requirements, as well as consequential amendments. This 
Schedule provides that the composition of an ICB will, at a minimum, consist 
of a chair, chief executive and at least three other members, known as 
‘ordinary members’. Schedule 1B specifies that the chair of the ICB must be 
appointed by NHS England, with the approval of the Secretary of State. It 
further states that only NHS England may remove the chair from office, and 
that this must be subject to the approval of the Secretary of State. The ICB 
chief executive must be appointed by the chair, with the approval of NHS 
England. The constitution should set out that the chief executive must be an 
employee of the ICB.  

Schedule 2 provides that the ordinary members of the ICB, at a minimum, 
must include one member jointly nominated by NHS Trusts and NHS 
Foundation Trusts, one jointly nominated by general practice, and one jointly 
nominated by the local authorities who provide services within the ICB area. It 
provides that the ICB constitution must detail how the process of nominating 
representatives should operate. The ICB must have regard to any NHS 
England guidance about this process. The ICB constitution must provide for 
committees or sub-committees of the ICB to be formed. The Explanatory 
Notes mention that sub-committees may be established at ‘place’ level, at a 
smaller footprint within the ICS, often aligning with local authority 
boundaries.33 

Clause 14 provides that NHS England must publish rules for determining the 
people for whom ICBs have responsibility. It sets out that, at a minimum, an 
ICB must be identified as responsible for a) everyone who is provided with 
NHS primary medical services (i.e. anyone who is, for example, registered 
with a GP in the ICB area) and b) everyone who is usually a resident in 
England and living in the geography of the ICB, even if they are not provided 
with NHS primary medical services. 

 

31  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 260 
32  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 262 
33  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 269 

Page 44

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

23 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Clause 15 provides ICBs with duties and powers to commission hospital and 
other health services for those persons for whom they are responsible. Clause 
16 gives ICBs responsibility for medical, dental and ophthalmic primary care 
functions.  

Schedule 3 sets out the specific functions conferred on ICBs in relation to 
primary care services and contains related amendments. Statutory 
responsibility for primary care services currently sits with NHS England. The 
Explanatory Notes say “The intention is that ICBs will hold the majority of 
these functions at an agreed point in the future” and that “NHS England will 
retain a limited role in oversight and discharging functions that can be most 
effectively exercised at a national level.”34  

Clause 17 provides for schemes to transfer property, rights and liabilities in 
connection with the transfer of primacy care functions from NHS England to 
ICBs. The Explanatory Notes confirm that this includes provision for 
employees to be transferred to the ICB, under terms which are the same as, or 
similar to, those provided for by the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 2006, which includes certain protections of 
employment rights for transferred staff.35 Schedule 3 also provides that NHS 
England may direct an ICB to exercise any of NHS England’s primary care 
functions. 

The Explanatory Notes say that clause 18 “…allows persons with whom NHS 
England and ICBs have entered into commissioning arrangements to also 
determine the means by which services will be delivered.”36 

Clause 19: Duties of Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) 
Clause 19 sets out a number of duties that ICBs will be subject to in carrying 
out their responsibilities. These are similar to some of the duties placed on 
NHS England and CCGs under the Health and Care Act 2012 Act and include:  

• promoting the NHS Constitution;  
• securing continuous improvements in the quality of services 

commissioned;  
• reducing inequalities;  
• promoting education and training; 
• enabling choice; 
• promoting patient involvement;  
• securing integration; and  
• promoting innovation and research. 

As noted previously, clause 19 provides ICBs with the ‘triple aim’ duty, to have 
regard to all likely effects of their decisions on 1) the health and well-being of 

 

34  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 296 
35  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 309 
36  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 310 

Page 45

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

24 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

the people of England 2) the quality of services provided or arranged by 
relevant bodies, and 3) the efficiency and sustainability of resources used by 
the relevant bodies. 

Clause 19 also provides requirements for ICBs to involve the public (whether 
by consultation or otherwise) and patients in the commissioning process, 
which appear to be broadly similar to existing CCG duties. 

Other ICS functions provided for in clause 19 include: 

• The Joint exercise of functions with Local Health Boards in Wales 
• Powers to make grants and raise additional income 
• The need to have regard to NHS England guidance 
• The need to prepare accounts and produce an annual report 

Clause 19 and Schedule 2 set out that the ICB and its partner NHS Trusts and 
NHS Foundation Trusts must prepare a five-year forward plan setting out how 
they will exercise a number of their statutory duties. The Explanatory Notes 
say “…it is expected that this plan will set out how an ICB will meet the health 
needs of its population and this will include primary, community and acute 
care.” It “…must also reference how the plan implements any relevant joint 
local health and wellbeing strategies”, to which the ICB is required to have 
regard.37 Clause 19 provides for the consultation and revision process for 
forward plans.  

ICBs and their partner NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts must prepare a 
joint plan setting out their planned capital resource use for a period specified 
by the Secretary of State.  

The NHS Providers briefing on the Bill summarises how NHS England will 
assess and manage the performance of ICBs under powers in clause 19: 

NHS England will conduct a performance assessment of each ICB 
each financial year. If NHS England deems an ICB to be failing or at 
risk of failure, NHS England will have powers of direction over the ICB 
(including prohibiting or restricting the ICB from delegating 
functions) and may terminate the appointment of the chief executive 
and direct others to exercise the ICB’s functions.38 

Comment 
The NHS Providers briefing on the Bill notes their concerns that “collective 
confidence” in an ICB could be undermined by an excessively top down 
approach. In particular, they highlight the requirements relating to the 
membership of ICBs in Schedule 2 of the Bill. They also note concerns about 
the potential lack of involvement of ICBs and system partners in the 

 

37  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 334 
38 NHS Providers, Briefing on the Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021, page 7 

Page 46

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://nhsproviders.org/resource-library/briefings/on-the-day-briefing-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

25 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

appointment and removal of ICB chairs (these powers would be held by NHS 
England alone, with approval from the Secretary of State): 

Schedule 2 states that an ICB chair will be appointed by NHS England 
with approval from the secretary of state and no involvement of the 
ICB members or wider system partners. This is concerning as the 
chair needs to have the confidence of the ICB and system partners. 
We urge the government to ensure a significant role for these bodies 
in the recruitment of the chair, even if powers of appointment lie 
elsewhere.  

The Bill provides for NHS England alone, with approval of the 
secretary of state, to remove the chair from office. However, it seems 
probable in the medium term, as local arrangements develop and 
get underway, that an ICB chair may lose the confidence of the ICB 
and/or the organisations within the system. Where this happens 
there must be a role for the ICB board in initiating the removal of the 
chair and this needs to be addressed in the constitution. If the ICB 
cannot initiate the removal of the chair, this will potentially lead to 
conflict, a stalemate and potential disruption to services.39  

Clause 20: Integrated Care Partnerships 
As noted by the NHS Providers briefing on the Bill, ICBs and relevant LAs must 
establish a statutory joint committee for the ICS – known as Integrated Care 
Partnerships (ICPs) – which will bring together health, social care, public 
health, and wider partners. NHS Providers set out some of the ICP provisions 
specified in the Bill:  

The ICP membership will include one member appointed by the ICB, 
one member appointed by each of the relevant LAs, and any other 
members appointed by the ICP. The ICP will be able to determine its 
own procedures locally. The ICP must prepare an ‘integrated care 
strategy’, building on the relevant joint strategic needs assessments 
(JSNAs) and considering the effectiveness of establishing section 75 
arrangements. The ICP must have regard to guidance issued by the 
secretary of state. An ICP may include in this strategy a statement of 
its views on how the provision of health-related services could be 
more closely integrated with health and social care services. The 
strategy must detail how it will be delivered by the ICB, NHS England 
or LAs. There is a requirement for LAs and the ICB, in response and 
with regard to the integrated care strategy, to create a joint local 
health and wellbeing strategy.40 

Clause 20 amends the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007 to account for the transition from CCGs to Integrated Care Boards 

 

39 NHS Providers, Briefing on the Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021, page 7 
40 NHS Providers, Briefing on the Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021 

Page 47

https://nhsproviders.org/resource-library/briefings/on-the-day-briefing-health-and-care-bill
https://nhsproviders.org/resource-library/briefings/on-the-day-briefing-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

26 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

and makes amendments to provide for the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) 
and its integrated care strategy. 

Clause 25 inserts Schedule 4 which makes minor and consequential 
amendments relating to ICBs and ICPs. 

Comment on Integrated Care Partnerships 
While the Health and Social Care Committee’s report on the White Paper 
highlighted concerns from the King’s Fund and other think tanks about the 
risk that Integrated Care Partnerships may lack the powers to drive change 
and that ICSs could be too narrowly focused on the NHS.41 

Responding to the publication of the Health and Care Bill, Cllr David 
Fothergill, Chairman of the Local Government Association’s Community 
Wellbeing Board, said: “The requirement for NHS integrated commissioning 
boards and local authorities to establish a health and care partnership with 
responsibility for producing an integrated care strategy is helpful.” He also 
noted that “It is good to see recognition of the importance of Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and the health and wellbeing strategies and joint strategic 
needs assessment they produce, to improve the health and wellbeing of their 
populations.”42 

2.7 Financial controls on NHS England and ICBs 
(Clauses 21-24) 

These clauses set out the financial responsibilities of NHS England and ICBs. 

Clauses 21 and 22 provide that NHS England must exercise its functions with 
a view to ensuring that total resource and capital expenditure does not 
exceed the amount the health service receives each year, and related 
matters.   

Clauses 23 and 24 provide that ICBs and their partner NHS Trusts and NHS 
Foundation Trusts must operate with a view to ensuring that the capital and 
revenue resources they use do not exceed the limits specified by direction 
from NHS England in that financial year, and related matters.  

 

41  Health and Social Care Committee, The Government’s White Paper proposals for the reform of Health 
and Social Care, 14 May 2021, HC 20 2021-22, para 37, page 12 

42  LGA, LGA responds to publication of Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021 

Page 48

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5827/documents/67112/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5827/documents/67112/default/
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/lga-responds-publication-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

27 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

2.8 Additional powers for the Secretary of State 
and the relationship with NHS England 

Background to proposed powers of direction for the 
Secretary of State 
The White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve 
health and social care for all (February 2021), said the Government would 
bring forward measures to improve accountability and enhance public 
confidence. It set out several proposals to achieve this, including additional 
powers for the Secretary of State: 

1. To direct a newly merged NHS England and NHS Improvement. 

2. To intervene in health service reconfigurations.  

3. To transfer the functions of Arm’s Length Bodies (ALBs).43 

Further detail can be found in section 3 and Annex B of the White Paper. The 
Executive Summary provides an overview of the rationale for the new powers 
of direction, which it says will improve accountability: 

The de facto development in recent years of a strongly supportive 
national NHS body in the form of a merged NHS England and NHS 
Improvement will be placed on a statutory footing and will be 
designated as NHS England. This will be complemented by enhanced 
powers of direction for the government over the newly merged body 
which will support great collaboration, information sharing and aligned 
responsibility and accountability.44 

The White Paper proposed that Ministers should have powers to determine 
service reconfigurations earlier in the process than is presently possible.45 It 
also set out plans for greater flexibility in setting the Department of Health 
and Social Care’s Mandate to NHS England, and in transferring functions 
between Arm’s Length Bodies.  

The Government says these measures will “…further ensure the NHS is able to 
respond to changes and external challenges with agility as needed.”46 

Clause 2: specialised services 
Clause 2 relates to the existing power of the Secretary of State to require NHS 
England to commission certain specialised services that are not appropriate 
 

43  DHSC White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 
for all, 11 February 2021, Section 3 

44  Ibid. para 1.16, page 11 
45  Ibid. para 1.16, page 12 
46  Ibid. para 1.16, page 12 

Page 49

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

28 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

for commissioning by CCGs (or, in future, Integrated Care Boards). The 
Explanatory Notes to the Bill provides examples, including services for 
patients with rare cancers, genetic disorders or other complex medical or 
surgical conditions. 

Under Clause 2(2) the test for the Secretary of State to prescribe a service to 
be commissioned by NHS England is amended to clarify that the Secretary of 
State can prescribe a service if they deem it appropriate for NHS England, or 
someone acting on NHS England’s behalf, to commission it. Clause 2(3) 
removes the requirement for Secretary of State to consider the financial 
implications for CCGs if they were required to arrange for the provision of the 
service or facility. Clause 2(4) requires the Secretary of State to explain to 
NHS England his reasoning, if he refuses a request to revoke provisions made 
in regulations specifying which services NHS England may commission. 

Clause 3: The Mandate to NHS England 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 established a duty for the Secretary of 
State to provide a Mandate to NHS England before the beginning of each new 
financial year, to set its strategic direction. 

The Mandate must include objectives that NHS England has a duty to seek to 
meet and must specify the limits on capital and revenue resource use. The 
Mandate may set out matters the Secretary of State will take into account 
when assessing progress against objectives, and may include requirements 
that NHS England must comply with in order to meet the objectives. The 
White Paper said that greater flexibility in setting the Mandate was required 
as the current annual cycle does not align with NHS annual planning 
timescales or other strategic decisions. It proposed that the Bill should allow 
the Mandate to set direction over a longer term and in a more strategic way. 

Clause 3 removes the requirement for a Mandate to be set before the start of 
each financial year. Instead, Secretary of State will be able to set a Mandate 
at any time. The Bill would ensure there is always a Mandate in place which 
will remain in force until replaced by a new Mandate. 

The White Paper said this change would not impact on Parliament’s ability to 
scrutinise the Mandate as each new Mandate will have to be laid in 
Parliament. NHS Mandate requirements would continue to be underpinned by 
negative resolution regulations. 

As a consequence of removing the statutory link between the Mandate and 
the annual financial cycle, the Explanatory Notes say it is proposed that NHS 
England’s annual limits on capital and revenue resource use are given 
statutory force through financial directions. The Explanatory Notes explain: 

It will become a legal duty for the Secretary of State to give such 
directions, and to both publish them and lay them in Parliament, to 
ensure continued transparency to Parliament for the financial 

Page 50



 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

29 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

allocations within which NHS England is expected to deliver mandate 
objectives and requirements, as well as its wider functions.47 

Clause 9 
Currently, the legal basis for the allocation of the Better Care Fund (a pooled 
NHS and local authority budget for integrated care) relies on ministers 
setting a requirement each year in the NHS Mandate to ringfence this funding. 
As the Mandate will no longer have to be set on an annual basis, Clause 9 of 
the Bill creates a stand-alone power to ensure the Better Care Fund (BCF) can 
continue to function as it currently does. The Explanatory Notes describe this 
as a technical change which “will not have any impact on the operation or 
policy intention of the BCF”.48 

Clause 33 places a duty on the Secretary of State to publish, at least once 
every five years, a report describing the system for assessing and meeting the 
workforce needs of the health service in England. 

Clauses 34-38 and Schedule 6 
The Bill provides the Secretary of State with several new or extended powers 
of direction and intervention.  

On public health, clause 34 would allow the Secretary of State’s public health 
functions to be exercised by an ICB, a local authority that has duties to 
improve public health, a combined authority, or any other body specified in 
regulations. Clause 35 would allow the Secretary of State to direct NHS 
England to take on specific public health functions. Clause 36 provides 
powers of direction for the Secretary of State over NHS England, or any other 
public authority, in relation to safety investigations. 

Clause 37 provides the Secretary of State with a general power of direction 
over NHS England. The Explanatory Notes state that the provision is designed 
to give the Secretary of State the ability, if required, to intervene and to set 
direction for NHS England, and ensure that it is working effectively with other 
parts of the system including social care and public health.  

The Explanatory Notes say the intention is for NHS England to continue to 
exercise its functions as an Arm’s Length Body as it does now, with the 
Mandate remaining the primary mechanism through which the Secretary of 
State will set out the priorities that it should be seeking to achieve.49 This 
clause provides some exceptions to this power, specifying that it cannot be 
used in relation to the appointment of individuals by NHS England (including 
to NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts); individual clinical decisions; or in 
relation to the funding of particular drugs or treatments by the NHS. 

 

47  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 18 
48  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 22 
49  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 421-422 

Page 51

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

30 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Clause 38 and Schedule 6: Health service 
reconfigurations 
Clause 38 inserts Schedule 6 which gives the Secretary of State power to give 
a direction to the NHS calling in any proposal for a local NHS service 
reconfiguration. The Schedule allows the Secretary of State to take on the 
decision-making role of the relevant NHS body with regard to the proposed 
service change.  

The Explanatory notes set out the variety of decisions the Secretary of State 
may choose to take when giving a direction for the reconfiguration of NHS 
services. This includes the power to decide whether a proposal should, or 
should not, proceed, or should proceed in a modified form; the power to 
decide particular results to be achieved by the NHS in taking decisions in 
relation to the proposal; the power to decide the procedural or other steps 
that should, or should not, be taken in relation to the proposal; and the power 
to retake any decision previously taken by the relevant NHS body.  

Schedule 6 provides that the Secretary of State must publish guidance to 
outline the expectations for NHS bodies when a reconfiguration is called in. 
The guidance must outline the process the Secretary of State will follow, 
including how they will adhere to their existing duties, including the Secretary 
of State’s duty as to improvement in the quality of services. 

Comment 
The chief executive of the Nuffield, Nigel Edwards, has raised concerns about 
the new power for the Secretary of State to intervene at any stage of changes 
to NHS services, warning that “It risks gridlock and a lack of innovation, and 
ministers themselves might come to feel it as a millstone around their 
necks.”50 

The Local Government Association has said that the power of the Secretary of 
State to call in NHS reconfiguration proposals should not undermine the role 
of local authority health overview and scrutiny committees. Local authorities’ 
current powers to review and scrutinise the planning, provision and operation 
of local health services derive from the Local Authority (Public Health, Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. The Department 
of Health and Social Care guidance Local Authority Health Scrutiny: Guidance 
to support Local Authorities and their partners to deliver effective health 
scrutiny provides further information on current arrangements. 

The Health and Social Care Committee called for clear criteria to be set out in 
the Bill on the use of the Secretary of State’s powers to intervene in 
reconfigurations. In his letter to the Committee on 6 July, Sajid Javid said that 
“Whilst the scope of the power as drafted is broad, we intend to set out 
further detail of how the process will work in practice and what is expected of 

 

50  Nuffield Trust, Nuffield Trust response to Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021 

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/324965/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/324965/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/324965/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/news-item/nuffield-trust-response-to-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

31 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

all parties.” The Secretary of State also confirmed the Independent 
Reconfiguration Panel will be maintained, and “will help to ensure that 
Ministers receive the necessary advice and information before making 
decisions.”51 

Further information about the role of the Independent Reconfiguration Panel 
(IRP) in reviewing proposals for changes to NHS services that are being 
contested, and advising the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care can 
be found on the IRP website (see also the IRP webpage How we advise the 
Secretary of State).  

2.9 NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts 

Clauses 40-50 and Schedule 7: NHS Trusts 
The Explanatory Notes state that when the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
was passed, it was expected that all NHS Trusts would develop Foundation 
Trust status and so the 2012 Act provided for the abolition of NHS Trusts and 
powers to create new Trusts. However, NHS Trusts remain an important part 
of the NHS, making up around a third of providers, and the Government does 
not expect the provider landscape to drastically change. Although the section 
of the 2012 Act relating to the abolition of NHS Trusts was never commenced, 
clause 39 of the Bill provides for the repeal of these provisions and the 
continuation of the legislative provisions governing such Trusts, including the 
power to establish new Trusts. 

Clauses 40 and 41, and Schedule 7 include further measures relating to NHS 
Trusts, principally to remove the Secretary of State’s powers to appoint NHS 
Trust funds and trustees, and consequential amendments. 

Clause 42 removes the exemption on NHS trusts to hold a licence from 
Monitor (in future NHS England), bringing NHS Trusts in line with the licensing 
arrangements for NHS Foundation Trusts. 

Clause 43 relates to the application of the ‘Triple Aim’ duty to NHS Trusts. 

Clauses 44-47 ensure the Trust Development Authority’s functions to monitor, 
support, and direct NHS Trusts are carried over to NHS England following the 
abolition of the TDA. Similarly, clauses 49 and 50 carry over provisions in 
relation to the appointment of NHS Trust chairs and the setting of financial 
objectives for NHS Trusts. Clause 48 amends provisions relating to the 
conversion of NHS Trusts to NHS Foundation Trusts, and the dissolution of 
NHS Trusts, to provide authorising powers for NHS England, having taken on 
the role of regulator from Monitor. 

 

51  Letter from the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care, Sajid Javid, to the Chair of the Health 
and Social Care Committee, Jeremy Hunt, 6 July 2021 

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/independent-reconfiguration-panel/about
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/706088/000_How_we_advise_SofS_25.04.18.doc
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/706088/000_How_we_advise_SofS_25.04.18.doc
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6630/documents/71458/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6630/documents/71458/default/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

32 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Clauses 51-57: NHS Foundation Trusts 
Clause 52 gives NHS England power to set a capital expenditure limit on an 
NHS Foundation Trust. The Explanatory Notes state that, unlike NHS Trusts, 
Foundation Trusts are not currently subject to statutory annual capital 
expenditure limits. NHS Foundation Trusts also have additional freedoms to 
borrow from commercial lenders and spend their own surpluses to fund 
capital projects.  

The Explanatory Notes say that because capital expenditure by Foundation 
Trusts still counts against the ICS capital envelope and the Department of 
Health and Social Care’s overall capital departmental expenditure limit 
(CDEL), there is a risk that a Foundation Trust’s capital spending may impact 
on the overall local system ICB capital envelope, or on the national capital 
budget. The Bill therefore introduces a power for NHS England to set capital 
spending limits for Foundation Trusts. The Explanatory Notes say that limits 
would be set on an individual basis in respect of a named Foundation Trust for 
a specified period (expected to be a financial year), and the limit would 
automatically cease at the end of that period. It further explains that the 
power would be “used proportionately and in a limited way”: 

[…] The power is intended to only be used on a Foundation Trust 
where there is a clear risk of an ICS breaching its system capital 
envelope as a result of non-cooperation by a Foundation Trust, and 
other ways of resolution have been unsuccessful.  

NHS England will produce guidance on the use of the power which 
will set out the circumstances in which it is likely to make an order to 
set a capital limit. The guidance will show that the power would be 
used proportionately and in a limited way and will outline the 
process before an order is established, including notifications and 
consideration of views from the Foundation Trust and the ICB. The 
guidance will also set out the publication of the order so there is 
transparency in the process.  

The limit applies solely to capital expenditure (e.g. investment in new 
building and equipment etc.) and not to revenue expenditure (e.g. 
staff costs and consumables). Foundation Trusts will continue to 
operate as autonomous organisations, legally responsible for 
maintaining their estates and providing healthcare services, with 
their boards continuing to decide what investments they make. They 
will retain their freedoms around commercial borrowing or 
reinvesting their surpluses.52 

Clause 54 would allow an NHS Foundation Trust to form a joint committee 
with other providers to pool funds and to carry out their functions together.  

Additional clauses relating to NHS Foundation Trusts amend legislation to 
enable the new NHS England to take on the role of Monitor (this role has been 
 

52  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, paras 31-33 

Page 54

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

33 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

carried out under the operational name NHS Improvement since 2016). For 
example, clause 53 provides that NHS Foundation Trusts submit their forward 
plans to NHS England rather than Monitor. Clause 53 introduces some 
additional flexibilities around the preparation of accounts by Foundation 
Trusts. Clauses 51 amends the process for NHS England to grant licences to 
NHS Foundation Trust, and Clauses 55 and 56 amend the process for 
approving the merger and dissolution of NHS Foundation Trusts. Clause 57 
applies the new ‘Triple Aim’ duty to NHS Foundation Trusts. 

Other clauses related to NHS Trusts and Foundation 
Trusts 
Clause 58 allows for NHS England to make one or more schemes to transfer 
property, rights and liabilities between NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts. 

Clause 59 introduces Schedule 8 of the Bill relating to Trust Special 
Administrators (TSAs), who can be appointed to make recommendations to 
secure sustainable and high quality services where an NHS provider has been 
placed into administration. Schedule 8 outlines changes to the process and 
authorisation for the appointment of TSAs, which align with NHS England 
taking on the role of appointing TSAs. 

Comment on NHS Foundation Trust capital limits 
The NHS Providers Parliamentary briefing for the Bill’s Seconding Reading 
debate recognises the need, in the move to system working and given the 
overall national constraints on capital spending, for NHS England to have a 
“reserve, backstop, power” to set individual Foundation Trusts capital 
spending limits. However, they also note that the use of powers to limit 
Foundation Trust capital investment should be carefully controlled: “It is 
absolutely right that foundation trusts and trusts retain their current 
accountability for the delivery of safe care and having sufficient freedom over 
capital expenditure is central to this task.”53 

2.10 Joint working, delegation, and collaboration 
(Clauses 60-65 and Schedule 9) 

Clauses 60 and 61 and Schedule 9 provide for NHS England, ICBs, NHS Trusts 
and Foundation Trusts to arrange for their functions to be exercised by or 
jointly with one of the other bodies, or with local authorities. Clause 60 
allows the establishment of joint committees and pooled funds and provides 
for NHS England to publish guidance for NHS bodies in relation to joint 
working and delegation arrangements. 

 

53  NHS Providers, Parliamentary briefing: Health and Care Bill Second Reading, 8 July 2021 

Page 55

https://nhsproviders.org/resource-library/briefings/parliamentary-briefing-health-and-care-bill-second-reading


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

34 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Clause 62 removes the Secretary of State and NHS England’s duties to 
promote autonomy, which were introduced by the Health and Social Care 
2012. This relates to provisions in the Bill giving the Secretary of State powers 
of direction over NHS England. The Explanatory Notes say that removing 
these duties will also “…ensure that they do not conflict with duties for system 
partners to cooperate and think more broadly about the interests of the wider 
health system.”54 

Clause 63 gives NHS England the ability to issue guidance concerning joint 
appointments between NHS bodies, and between NHS bodies and local 
authorities. 

Clause 64 amends the existing duties on NHS bodies and local authorities in 
England and Wales to co-operate with each other. It provides for the 
Secretary of State to issue guidance on how this duty is discharged. It 
imposes a duty on NHS bodies and local authorities, except for Welsh NHS 
bodies and local authorities, to have regard to this guidance. 

Clause 65 amends provisions relating to licence conditions on NHS providers 
to include further purposes for which NHS England may set conditions in light 
of the creation of the ‘Triple Aim’ duty for NHS Foundation Trusts and NHS 
Trusts. 

2.11 NHS payment systems (Clause 66 and 
Schedule 10) 

The NHS national tariff sets out the prices, and rules for those prices, that 
NHS commissioners pay to providers (such as NHS Trusts and Foundation 
Trusts) for the provision of NHS-funded healthcare. The tariff is currently 
published by Monitor (which is part of NHS Improvement), with the proposals 
for each tariff agreed with NHS England. 

Clause 66 inserts Schedule 10 and replaces the national tariff with a new 
NHS payment scheme and makes provisions relating to the new system. The 
Explanatory Notes say these measures are designed to give the NHS more 
flexibility in how tariff prices and rules are set and to help support the delivery 
of more integrated care at local levels.55 

 

54  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 572 
55  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 26 

Page 56

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

35 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

2.12 Patient choice and competition (Clauses 67-73 
and Schedules 11 and 12) 

Clauses 67 and Schedule 11: Patient choice 
The Explanatory Notes set out that, currently, regulations regarding patient 
choice can be made under Section 75 of the 2012 Act. Section 75 also covers 
procurement and will be repealed by the Bill, which means the regulations 
covering patient choice would also be revoked. However, given the 
Government intention that patients’ rights to choice should continue to be 
protected, the Bill will add similar powers relating to guidance and 
enforcement of the ‘standing rules’ on patient choice.56  

As summarised by the NHS Providers briefing on the Bill, Clause 67 
strengthens the current rules around patient choice by making it mandatory 
for regulations to contain provisions about how NHS England and ICBs will 
allow patients to make choices about their care.57 Clause 67 and Schedule 12 
provide for NHS England to take on powers to make guidance, and to resolve 
breaches of patient choice rules which are currently exercised by NHS 
Improvement.  

Clause 68 and 69, and Schedule 12: Procurement and 
provider selection 
The Explanatory Notes describe the procurement reforms within the Bill which 
will enable the removal of the current rules which apply for NHS and public 
health service commissioners when arranging clinical healthcare services, 
e.g., hospital or community services. The Bill provides a power to create a 
separate procurement regime for these services. This will include removing 
the procurement of health care services for the purposes of the health service 
from the scope of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

The Bill repeals section 75 of the 2012 Act and the National Health Service 
(Procurement, Patient Choice and Competition) (No. 2) Regulations 2013.  The 
Explanatory Notes say that a new procurement regime for NHS and public 
health services (also known as the ‘provider selection regime’) is being 
developed “…to reduce the need for competitive tendering where it adds 
limited or no value.” The Explanatory Notes provide some further background 
on the scope of these reforms: 

These reforms will only apply to the procurement of clinical 
healthcare services, and the procurement of non-clinical services, 
such as professional services or clinical consumables, will remain 
subject to the Public Contract Regulations 2015 rules, until these are 
replaced by Cabinet Office procurement reforms. The power does 

 

56  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 124 
57  NHS Providers, Briefing on the Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021 

Page 57

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://nhsproviders.org/resource-library/briefings/on-the-day-briefing-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

36 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

however provide an ability to make provision for mixed procurements 
in the regime, where a contract involves a mixture of health care and 
other services or goods, for example if a health service is being 
commissioned but in the interests of providing joined up care some 
social care services are also commissioned as part of a mixed 
procurement.58  

Clause 68 enables the Secretary of State to make regulations in relation to 
the procurement of health care services in England and the procurement of 
health care services as part of mixed procurements e.g. with social care 
services. 

Clause 69 removes the reference to existing regulation making powers on 
procurement, patient choice and competition from section 12E of the NHS Act 
2006 and replaces this with the new procurement regulations in clause 68 
(12ZB). Clause 69 would remove the existing regulation making powers on 
procurement, patient choice and competition from the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012, and revokes the current regulations on procurement, patient choice 
and competition (sometimes known as the section 75 regulations). 

 

58 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 116 
59 NHS England and NHS Improvement, The NHS’s recommendations to Government and Parliament for 

an NHS Bill, September 2019 
60 Health and Social Care Committee, NHS Long-term Plan: legislative proposals, June 2019, HC 2000 

2017-19, paras 42 to 48 
61 DHSC White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care for 

all, February 2021, para 5.46 

Background on proposals to reform procurement and 
competition rules 

The February 2021 White Paper set out plans for legislative changes relating to 
competition and procurement in the NHS. It builds on previous NHS England 
proposals to repeal the Procurement, Patient Choice and Competition 
Regulations 2013, and section 75 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.59 

The Health and Social Care Committee’s report NHS Long-term Plan: legislative 
proposals (HC2000, 24 June 2019) supported the intent behind NHS England’s 
proposals to ensure that commissioners can exercise greater discretion over 
when to conduct a procurement process. However, the Committee also noted 
that the way the NHS in England operates may mean the proposals to change 
how procurement rules apply could face legal difficulties. The Committee’s 
report noted varied views about the extent and impact of competitive tendering 
within the English NHS.60 

The White Paper also states that “Where competitive processes can add value 
they should continue, but that will be a decision that the NHS will be able to 
make for itself.”61 

Page 58

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BM1917-NHS-recommendations-Government-Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BM1917-NHS-recommendations-Government-Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhealth/2000/2000.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhealth/2000/2000.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhealth/2000/2000.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

37 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Comment 
The King’s Fund has said the Bill will remove “cumbersome” competition rules 
and make it simpler for health and care organisations to work together to 
deliver more joined-up care to the increasing numbers of people who rely on 
multiple different services.62 

The British Medical Association (BMA) briefing said it believed “the proposed 
reforms are insufficient to fully protect the NHS from unnecessary private 
sector involvement and could, under the Provider Selection Regime, allow 
contracts to be awarded to private providers without proper scrutiny or 
transparency.” The BMA commented that in order to protect the NHS and 
prevent fragmentation of services “…the NHS should be made the default 
option for NHS contracts, with competitive tendering used only where an NHS 
provider cannot provide a given service.”63 

Clauses 70-73 and Schedule 12: competition and the 
role of the Competition and Markets Authority 
The Explanatory Notes explain how the Health and Social Care Act 2012 gave 
Monitor (now operating as NHS Improvement) and the Competition and 
Markets Authority (CMA) formal roles to provide regulatory oversight of 
competition issues within the NHS. Monitor currently has a concurrent duty to 
promote competition in the NHS, whilst the CMA has specific functions to 
investigate mergers between NHS Foundation Trusts. The CMA can also 
investigate contested licence conditions should significant numbers of 
providers and/or commissioners object to them.64 

Clause 70 requires NHS England to give the CMA regulatory information it 
may need to exercise its functions, or which would assist in carrying out its 
functions.  

 

62  The King's Fund response to the Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021 
63  BMA Member briefing: Health and Care Bill, July 2021 
64  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 118 

The powers within the Bill are intended to enable the development of a new 
provider selection regime that will provide a framework for NHS bodies and 
local authorities to follow when deciding who should provide healthcare 
services. The consultation on the NHS Provider Selection Regime was published 
in February 2021.  

Further information on NHS procurement and competition policy is available in 
section 8 of the Library briefing on The Structure of the NHS in England (June 
2020). 

Page 59

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/press/press-releases/important-reforms-undermined-by-ministerial-interference-health-care-bill?utm_source=The%20King%27s%20Fund%20newsletters%20%28main%20account%29&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=12506522_NEWSL_HMP%202021-07-09&dm_i=21A8,7G23E,8N01D,U99NB,1
https://www.bma.org.uk/media/4304/bma-member-briefing-on-health-and-care-bill-july-2021.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/nhs-provider-selection-regime/
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7206/CBP-7206.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

38 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Clause 71 introduces an exemption from Part 3 of the Enterprise Act 2002, 
removing CMA powers over NHS Foundation Trust mergers. Instead, NHS 
England will review NHS provider mergers and acquisitions to ensure there 
are clear patient benefits.  

Private healthcare providers will still be in scope of the CMA’s merger control 
regime. Clause 72 removes Monitor’s concurrent competition duties 
alongside the CMA. Clause 72 provides for Schedule 12, which contains 
consequential amendments. Clause 73 removes the CMA’s involvement in 
contested licence conditions. 

 

Page 60



 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

39 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

3 Part 2: Health and adult social care 
information 

The data provisions in the Bill are intended to enable increased sharing and 
more effective use of data across the health and adult social care system. 
Specifically, the legislation aims to enable the Department of Health and 
Social Care and NHS England to publish mandatory information standards to 
ensure providers of health and adult social care adopt a standardised 
approach to the collection and processing of data. These provisions extend 
the potential application of information standards to include private 
providers of health and adult social care. 

The Explanatory Notes state that requiring, enabling, facilitating, and 
encouraging more effective use of data will support other key provisions in 
the Bill, for example provisions strengthening the duty to cooperate across 
the health and care system.65 

Clause 79 amends powers to publish information standards under the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012, including to make these standards mandatory for 
any person to whom they apply unless there is waiver. 

Clause 80 relates to the sharing of anonymous health and social care 
information. This clause introduces a power for relevant health or social care 
public bodies in England to require the sharing of information, other than 
personal information, for purposes related to their functions in connection 
with the provision of health services or adult social care in England. The 
Explanatory Notes say that pseudonymised or de-identified data, which 
enables individuals to be identified, will not fall under the requirement.66 

Clause 81 amends the general duties of the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre (known as NHS Digital), as established under the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012. It includes an amendment to clarify that NHS Digital 
may only share information for purposes connected with the provision of 
health care or adult social care or the promotion of health. The Explanatory 
Notes set out that this could include the following examples:  

• commissioning,  
• planning,  
• policy analysis and development,  
• population health management,  

 

65  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 75 
66  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 72 

Page 61

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

40 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

• assessment of the quality of services and individuals' experiences of 
them,  

• workforce planning,  
• research for purposes which benefit or are relevant to the provision of 

health or adult social care, and  
• developing innovative approaches to the delivery of health and adult 

social care.67 

Clause 81 would require NHS Digital to have regard to the need to promote 
the effective and efficient planning, development, and delivery of health 
services and of adult social care in England when exercising its functions. It 
further requires that NHS Digital balances the need to have regard to matters 
set out in its statutory functions so far as they compete.  

Clause 82 amends NHS Digital’s powers to require and request the provision 
of information under the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The effect of the 
amendment is to enable NHS Digital to require private providers of health 
services to provide it with any information it requires to comply with a 
direction from the Secretary of State under the 2012 Act to establish an 
information system.68 Clause 84 provides for the enforcement of these duties 
on private providers. 

Clause 83 amends the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to enable the 
Secretary of State to require providers of adult social care to provide 
information to the Secretary of State about themselves, their social care 
activities, or the people to whom they have provided adult social care.69 The 
Explanatory Notes explain there is currently no mechanism to collect data 
from private social care providers. This has resulted in gaps in information 
available to inform policy decisions or identify and respond to risks. It adds 
that the lack of data available to the Government to manage the response to 
Covid-19 “became a significant concern at the start of the pandemic.”70  

The February 2021 White Paper said the ability to collect more data will 
“enable the Department to better understand the system to inform future 
policy developments and ultimately help facilitate the care of individuals 
across the care system.”71 

Clause 85 amends the Medicines and Medical Devices Act 2021 to enable NHS 
Digital to collect a range of information about the use of medicines and their 
effects in the UK and hold this data in one or more information systems. The 
Explanatory Notes say the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory 

 

67  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 700 
68  The Explanatory Notes (Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 701) state that this does not include information 

which NHS Digital requires in order to comply with requests under section 255 of the 2012 Act. 
69  Further information on the detailed provisions, including around data protection, is provided in the 

Bill 140 EN 2021-22, pages 115-6 
70  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 334, page 23 
71  DHSC White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 

for all, 11 February 2021, page 55 

Page 62

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

41 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Agency (MHRA) would be able to use the information to establish and 
maintain comprehensive UK-wide medicines registries to improve post-
market surveillance on the use of medicines. It also notes that medicine 
registries will only be established where there is a clear public health need 
and after the Commission on Human Medicines (CHM), the independent 
expert advisory body to the MHRA, has made a formal registry-specific 
recommendation.72 

Comment 
The BMA has broadly welcomed efforts to improve information standards, but 
has said clarity on powers given to the Secretary of State to enforce 
information standards may need to be established, particularly regarding 
what this could mean for healthcare providers and staff. The BMA has also 
said it “…will be carefully considering the impact of the legislation to ensure 
that the appropriate safeguards for patient confidentiality are not 
undermined.”73 

 

72  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, paras 200-201 
73  BMA Member briefing: Health and Care Bill, July 2021 

Information sharing: the legal framework  

The Explanatory Notes acknowledge that some of the information sharing 
provisions in Part 2 of the Bill engage the legal framework governing the 
sharing and disclosure of personal data. This box provides an overview of that 
framework to put the Bill’s provisions in context.  

The Data Protection Act 2018 

The Data Protection Act 2018 (the ‘2018 Act’) and the UK General Data 
Protection Regulation (UK GDPR) set out the data protection framework in the 
UK which governs the processing and sharing of personal information.  

Processing of personal data is prohibited unless there is a lawful basis for it, 
such as consent; compliance with a legal obligation; or the performance of a 
task in the public interest. Any sharing of personal data must also be 
accountable, lawful, fair, and secure.  

Additional conditions apply in relation to ‘special category data’, which is 
data that is likely to be more sensitive, including data on racial or ethnic 
origins, religious views, and health data. This type of data is treated with 
greater care because collecting and using it is more likely to interfere with 
fundamental rights.  

The data protection framework applies to data that relates to an identified or 
identifiable individual. It does not apply to personal data that has been 

Page 63

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://www.bma.org.uk/media/4304/bma-member-briefing-on-health-and-care-bill-july-2021.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

42 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

anonymised, meaning that the individual to whom it relates can no longer be 
identified.  

Data protection is regulated by the Information Commissioner who has the 
power to issue fines. The 2018 Act also contains several criminal offences 
which can be committed in relation to personal data, including unlawfully 
obtaining data.  

Further information is available on the Information Commissioner’s Office 
website.    

Duty of confidentiality 

The courts have also developed a principle known as the common law duty of 
confidentiality. This means that when someone shares personal information in 
confidence, there may be a duty not to disclose it without some form of legal 
authority or justification.  

Page 64

https://ico.org.uk/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

43 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

4 Part 3: Secretary of State powers to 
transfer functions 

4.1 Arm’s Length Bodies: transferring and 
delegating functions (Clauses 86-92) 

Part 3 of the Bill allows the transfer, by regulations, of functions from one of a 
list of relevant Non-Departmental Public Bodies (NDPB) to another. It will 
enable the Secretary of State, by regulations, to provide for the Secretary of 
State’s functions to be delegated to an NDPB. These powers cannot be used to 
formally transfer any of the Secretary of State’s functions to a NDPB.74 

The Explanatory Notes say there will be a “full and transparent process” in 
making regulations to transfer or delegate functions, including a formal 
consultation before laying. Consultation will involve the affected Arm’s Length 
Bodies (ALBs) and, where relevant, the devolved administrations. The Bill 
provides that these regulations will be subject to approval by the Commons 
and Lords, under the affirmative SI process.  

The Secretary of State already has powers to transfer functions between 
Special Health Authorities or Departmental executive agencies. The 
Explanatory Notes say that the Care Quality Commission (CQC), National 
Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and Health Service Safety 
Investigation Branch (once it is created as a NDPB through this Bill) are to 
remain out of scope given their particular, technical, regulatory functions and 
the need for them to be independent.75 

Clause 86 sets out the following “relevant bodies” to which the Secretary of 
State’s powers to transfer will apply:  

• Health Education England 
• The Health and Social Care Information Centre (known as NHS Digital) 
• The Health Research Authority 
• The Human and Embryology Authority. 
• The Human Tissue Authority 
• NHS England 

As well as conferring power to transfer ALB functions on the Secretary of State 
through regulations, clause 87 sets out the conditions which will need to be 
 

74  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 107 
75  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 110 

Page 65

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

44 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

met in order for these regulations to be made. For example, such regulations 
can only be made when the Secretary of State considers it will improve the 
exercise of these functions with regard to:  

• efficiency;  
• effectiveness;  
• economy; and  
• securing appropriate accountability to Ministers. 

The clause sets out that through secondary legislation, the Secretary of State 
can modify the functions, constitution or funding of a “relevant body” and to 
abolish an ALB if it has become redundant as a consequence of the transfer of 
functions. However, clause 87(3) provides an exemption in relation to the 
transfer of functions of NHS England to prevent the Secretary of State from 
using the new power to make it redundant and to abolish it. 

Clause 88 relates to the delegation of functions by the Secretary of State to 
an ALB. Specifically, subsection 87(1) confers a power on the Secretary of 
State to provide, through regulations, for a relevant body to exercise specified 
functions of the Secretary of State on their behalf. 

Clause 89 relates to the detailed scope of these powers, and clause 90 
relates to the making of schemes for the transfer of property, rights or 
liabilities. Clause 91 refers to taxation arrangements in relation to assets and 
liabilities transferred under a scheme made under clause 90. 

Clause 91 sets out who the Secretary of State must consult on draft 
regulations, including devolved administrations, where relevant. 

Comment 
The NHS Providers’ briefing for Members published ahead of the debate on 
Second Reading says the exercise of powers to transfer ALB functions must 
not threaten the operational independence of key parts of the NHS. In 
particular, where these powers could be used by the Secretary of State to 
abolish a body, or to transfer the majority of its powers to other bodies, there 
should be proper parliamentary scrutiny, and that should require primary 
legislation.76  

Matthew Taylor, chief executive of the NHS Confederation, said that “In their 
current form, these plans also bring with them the risk that arm’s-length 
bodies, including NHS England and NHS Improvement, could be split up or 
abolished without any real scrutiny.”77 

 

76  NHS Providers, Parliamentary briefing: Health and Care Bill Second Reading, 8 July 2021 
77  NHS Confederation, NHS Bill 'right direction of travel' but concerns remain, 6 July 2021 

Page 66

https://nhsproviders.org/media/691734/nhs-providers-briefing-health-and-care-bill-second-reading-debate.pdf
https://nhsproviders.org/media/691734/nhs-providers-briefing-health-and-care-bill-second-reading-debate.pdf
https://nhsproviders.org/resource-library/briefings/parliamentary-briefing-health-and-care-bill-second-reading
https://www.nhsconfed.org/news/nhs-bill-right-direction-travel-concerns-remain


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

45 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

5 Part 4: The Health Services Safety 
Investigations Body 

5.1 Background 

Since April 2017 the Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch (HSIB) has 
conducted independent investigations of patient safety concerns in NHS-
funded care across England. It was set up following recommendations from 
the House of Commons Public Administration Committee, and a subsequent 
expert advisory group. Both recommended the establishment of a body 
focused on investigating and learning from incidents affecting patient safety. 

The HSIB was set up to investigate incidents in the NHS and to improve 
patient safety through recommendations based on these investigations. The 
HSIB can investigate patient safety concerns across any NHS-funded service 
in England. From 1 April 2018, it became responsible for patient safety 
investigations of certain maternity incidents occurring in the NHS.  

The HSIB is a non-statutory body, operational under Secretary of State 
directions as an organisational arm of the Trust Development Authority (TDA) 
which is part of NHS Improvement. 

Further information on the HSIB’s responsibilities is available on its website at 
‘About us’ and in the House of Lords Library briefing on the Health Service 
Safety Investigations Bill [HL].   

Part 4 of the Health and Care Bill would replace the current non-statutory 
HSIB (Investigation Branch) with a new statutory, independent, arm’s-length 
investigating body called the Health Service Safety Investigations Body 
(HSSIB). The Explanatory Notes to the Health and Care Bill state: 

The Bill will establish a new statutory body which will largely replace 
the Investigation Branch. There will be transitional arrangements to 
transfer the Investigation Branch’s function to NHS England for an 
interim period following the abolition of the TDA and prior to the 
establishment of the HSSIB. 

[…] 

Page 67

https://www.hsib.org.uk/about-us/
https://www.hsib.org.uk/about-us/
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/LLN-2019-0139/LLN-2019-0139.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/LLN-2019-0139/LLN-2019-0139.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

46 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Establishing the HSSIB as a new independent body aligns with the 
Department’s drive to improve patient safety and reflects the 
commitment given when the Investigation Branch was established.78 

The Health Service Safety Investigations Bill  

The draft Bill 

Provisions to create a new statutory body to investigate NHS safety incidents 
were proposed by the Government in a draft Health Service Safety 
Investigations Bill on 14 September 2017. The draft Bill was published in 
response to a number of high-profile inquiries and reviews into the 
investigation of patient safety incidents. They included: 

• The Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry Report, 
chaired by Robert Francis QC, February 2013 

• Freedom to Speak Up report, Sir Robert Francis, February 2015 
• Keogh Mortality Review, July 2013 
• Berwick review into patient safety, August 2013 
• Report of the Morecambe Bay Investigation by Dr Bill Kirkup, March 

2015 
• Investigating Clinical Incidents in the NHS, Public Administration 

Select Committee, March 2015. 

The reports highlighted the often, poor quality of NHS incident investigations, 
the pressures that deter healthcare professionals from being frank about 
failings in patient care, and the factors that might contribute to them. The 
reviews emphasised the importance of moving away from a culture of 
individual blame to one of learning, to give healthcare professionals the 
confidence to be honest and candid when things go wrong.   

In its response to the reviews, the Government committed to the introduction 
of a new independent patient safety investigation service to conduct 
independent, expert-led investigations into patient safety incidents.79 

The draft Health Service Safety Investigations Bill, published in September 
2017, made provision for the new investigative body - the Health Service 
Safety Investigations Body (HSSIB).80 In the Foreword to the draft Bill the 
Government said: 

Building on the Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch – in operation 
since April 2017 – this draft Bill will create a statutory Health Service 
Safety Investigations Body, independent of the NHS and at arm’s 
length from Government, with new powers that will enable it to 
discharge its investigation functions fully and effectively. The body 

 

78 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, paras 127-129  
79  Department of Health, Learning not blaming, July 2015, Cm 9113, page 39 
80  Department of Health, Draft Health Service Safety Investigations Bill, Cm 9497, September 2017 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-service-safety-investigations-bill
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-service-safety-investigations-bill
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20150407084231/http:/www.midstaffspublicinquiry.com/report
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20150407084231/http:/www.midstaffspublicinquiry.com/report
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20150218150512/http:/freedomtospeakup.org.uk/the-report/
https://www.nhs.uk/nhsengland/bruce-keogh-review/documents/outcomes/keogh-review-final-report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/berwick-review-into-patient-safety
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/berwick-review-into-patient-safety
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408480/47487_MBI_Accessible_v0.1.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmpubadm/886/88602.htm
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/645961/Draft_bill_health_service_safety_investigations_bill.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/445640/Learning_not_blaming_acc.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/645961/Draft_bill_health_service_safety_investigations_bill.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

47 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

will play a pivotal role in safety improvement using established 
investigative methods. Importantly, it will investigate for the sole 
purpose of learning, not to attribute blame or individual fault, 
providing a safe space for staff and patients to be open and candid 
when things go wrong. The new body will be an exemplar of 
healthcare safety investigative practice and will help embed a 
culture of learning across the NHS in England.81 

Pre-legislative scrutiny 

A joint Committee of the House of Commons and the House of Lords was 
tasked with conducting pre-legislative scrutiny of the draft Bill. In its August 
2018 report of recommendations to the Government, the Committee 
welcomed many aspects of the draft Bill, including the need for the new 
statutory health safety body to be independent of the NHS and the 
Government and to have statutory investigative powers to make it fully 
effective.82 It recommended that, in order for the HSSIB to carry out 
comprehensive investigations, its remit should be extended to cover privately 
funded care.83 

The Committee raised several concerns in relation to the HSSIB’s powers of 
disclosure and the effect those provisions may have on compromising the 
‘safe space’ protection for investigations. It did not agree with the provision to 
allow the HSSIB to accredit other NHS trusts to carry out ‘safe space 
investigations’ into their own and other trusts.84 

The Committee expressed further concern about the HSSIB’s remit to 
undertake maternity investigations and other non-safe space investigations 
on the basis that they could lead to confusion about its role and undermine 
support and cooperation from other bodies for investigations. The Committee 
recommended the provision for maternity investigations and for other non-
‘safe space’ investigations should not be included in the Bill and should not be 
allocated to the HSSIB. It believed that maternity investigations should 
instead be recognised as a duty of NHS Improvement.85 

A Government’s response to the joint Committee’s recommendations was 
published in December 2018. The Government accepted many of the 
recommendations, including concerns over the accreditation of ‘safe space’ 
investigations and committed to remove them from the Bill.86   

 

81  Department of Health, Draft Health Service Safety Investigations Bill, Cm 9497, September 2017 
82  Joint Committee on the Draft Health Service Safety Investigations Bill, Draft Health Service Safety 

Investigations Bill: A New Capability for Investigating Patient Safety Incidents, HL Paper 180 2017–19, 
2 August 2018 

83  ibid, para 179 
84  ibid, chapter 3 
85  ibid, p50 
86  Department of Health and Social Care, Government Response to the Report of the Joint Committee on 

the Draft Health Service Safety Investigations Bill, December 2018, Cm 9737, p8.  

Page 69

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/jt201719/jtselect/jthssib/1064/1064.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/761146/Gov_response_to_the_Report_of_the_JC_HSSI_Bill.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/645961/Draft_bill_health_service_safety_investigations_bill.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/jt201719/jtselect/jthssib/1064/1064.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/jt201719/jtselect/jthssib/1064/1064.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

48 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

In respect of the Committee’s recommendation that the HSSIB’s remit be 
extended to investigate independently funded care, the Government agreed 
to give this further consideration and consult with stakeholders.87 

The Government did not, at that stage, accept the Committee’s 
recommendation to remove the statutory duty of cooperation and maternity 
investigations from the Bill on the basis that it believed the best way to 
improve maternity investigations was to allow the current programme under 
the HSIB to continue so that learning and benefits could be gained.  

Further analysis of the joint Committee’s inquiry, the Government’s response 
and changes made to the subsequent Bill as a result of its recommendations 
can be found in the House of Lord’s Library note Health Service Safety 
Investigations Bill [HL]: Briefing for Lords Stages. 

Health Service Safety Investigations Bill 2019 

The Health Services Safety Investigations Bill 2019  was introduced in the 
House of Lords on 15 October 2019. The factsheet accompanying the Bill said 
its main objectives were to: 

• establish the Health Service Safety Investigations Body 
(HSSIB) as a new independent arm’s-length body with powers 
to conduct investigations into patient safety incidents that 
occur during the provision of NHS-funded services; 

• create a ‘safe space’ whereby participants can provide 
information to the HSSIB safe in the knowledge the 
information will not be shared with others, and only disclosed 
under certain limited circumstances as set out in legislation; 
and 

• amend the Coroners and Justice Act 2009 to allow for NHS 
bodies, rather than local authorities, to appoint medical 
examiners; and place a duty on the Secretary of State to 
ensure the system is properly maintained. 

Under the Bill, the HSSIB would take over the duties of the current non-
statutory Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch (HSIB). It would effectively 
put this body on a statutory footing, giving it full independence and statutory 
powers. However, the Government said the maternity investigations 
programme currently led by HSIB had been not been added to HSSIB’s remit 
and was not included in the Bill. As noted above, concerns about this aspect 
of the body’s duties were raised by the joint Committee set up to consider the 
draft Bill published in September 2017. Although the Government initially 
rejected the Committee’s concerns, it subsequently decided that maternity 
investigations would not transfer to the statutory body upon its 
establishment. 

 

87  Ibid. para 2.17 

Page 70

https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/lln-2019-0139/
https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/lln-2019-0139/
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2466
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/839728/Health_Service_Safety_Investigations_Bill__004_.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

49 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

The House of Lords Library briefing note written for the second reading 
debate provides further information on the changes made to the legislation 
following pre-legislative scrutiny and consultation.  

As a result of the dissolution of Parliament for the December 2019 General 
Election, the Bill progressed no further than its second reading stage in the 
House of Lords. Legislative provisions to establish HSSIB were reintroduced 
under Part 4 of the Health and Care Bill on 6 July 2021.  

Further background on the genesis of the HSSIB and the HSSI Bill is set out in 
the following reports, briefing papers and factsheets:  

Report of the Joint Committee on the Draft Health Service Safety 
Investigations Bill, 2 August 2018 

The Government response to the Report of the Joint Committee on the Draft 
Health Service Safety Investigations Bill, December 2018 

Health Service Safety Investigations Bill [HL]: Briefing for Lords Stages, 24 
October 2019 

Factsheets on the Draft Health Service Safety Investigations Bill 

5.2 The Bill (Clauses 93-119 and Schedule 13) 

Part 4 of the Bill would establish the Health Service Safety Investigations Body 
(HSSIB) as an independent body corporate with responsibility to conduct 
investigations into patient safety incidents occurring during the provision of 
health services in England. Schedules 13 and 14 to the Bill contain further 
provisions relating to the HSSIB and its functions. 

Clauses 93–94 and Schedule 13: HSSIB and its investigatory functions  

Clause 93 of the Bill would establish a new statutory patient safety 
investigating body to replace the current Healthcare Safety Investigations 
Branch (HSIB).88 Schedule 13 makes provision for the new body’s governance 
arrangements, including its status and membership.  

The new Health Service Safety Investigation Body (HSSIB) would be an 
independent non-departmental body responsible for investigating “qualifying 
incidents”, set out in clause 94(1) as incidents that:  

(a) occur in England during the provision of health care services, and 

(b) have or may have implications for the safety of patients. 

 

88  Clause 93 and Schedule 13 

Page 71

https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/lln-2019-0139/
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2466/stages/11432
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/jt201719/jtselect/jthssib/1064/1064.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/jt201719/jtselect/jthssib/1064/1064.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/761146/Gov_response_to_the_Report_of_the_JC_HSSI_Bill.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/761146/Gov_response_to_the_Report_of_the_JC_HSSI_Bill.pdf
https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/lln-2019-0139/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-service-safety-investigations-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

50 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Clause 94 of the Bill would extend the scope of current HSIB’s powers and 
those set out in the previous HSSI Bill to allow the HSSIB to investigate non-
NHS funded services in England. This change was implemented in response to 
recommendations made by the joint Committee on the draft Bill and to 
questions raised during the debate on second reading of the HSSI Bill in the 
House of Lords on the omission of private healthcare investigations.89 

Clause 94 makes it clear that the purpose of an investigation is not to assess 
or determine blame or liability, but to identify risks to patients and address 
those risks by facilitating improvements in health service systems and 
practices.  

Clauses 95 and 96: Investigatory procedures 

Clause 95 makes clear that the HSSIB’s functions under clause 94 include the 
power to determine which “qualifying incidents” to investigate. This is subject 
to a power of the Secretary of State to direct the HSSIB to investigate a 
particular qualifying incident. Clause 95 also makes provision for the 
procedures that apply when the HSSIB decides to begin, to discontinue or not 
to investigate a qualifying incident. 

Clause 96 would require the HSSIB to develop and publish:  

• the criteria it will use to determine the incidents it will investigate;  
• the principles governing investigations;  
• the processes to follow when carrying out investigations; and  
• the processes for ensuring that patients and their families are 

involved in investigations. 

Publications concerning the processes for patient and family involvement in 
investigations are required to be easily accessible and capable of being easily 
understood by patients and families.  

Clause 96 also specifies that the HSIBB must review its criteria, principles and 
processes three years after first publication, and then every five years. It must 
consult with the Secretary of State (and any other person it considers 
relevant) when developing or revising its criteria, principles and processes.  

Clauses 97-101: Incident reports 

The HSSIB would be required to publish a final report into any incidents it 
investigates. This report must contain the facts of the investigation and an 
analysis of the findings, together with any recommendations as to the action 
to be taken by any person(s) specified. Where applicable, the report must 
also set out the HSSIB’s conclusions in respect of improvements to NHS 
systems and practices.  

 

89  See HL Deb, 29 October 2019, c892 on the Health Service Safety Investigations Bill [HL], Lord Hunt of 
Kings Heath 

Page 72

ttps://hansard.parliament.uk/lords/2019-10-29/debates/8C14A74D-4C9F-4B57-834B-6CCF37EAF67D/HealthServiceSafetyInvestigationsBill(HL)


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

51 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

The focus of the final report must be on ascertaining risks to the safety of 
patients and on making recommendations on actions to address those risks.  
The function of the final report is not to make an assessment of, or to 
determine, blame. This is made explicit on the face of the Bill in clauses 
97(3)-(4).  

Clause 97(6) prohibits the naming of individuals providing information to the 
HSSIB or involved in an incident under investigation unless they have 
consented to being named. 

Under clause 98, the HSSIB would have power to publish interim reports into 
investigations, subject to the same requirements for final reports. 

Clause 99 states that before publication, drafts of interim and final reports 
must be circulated to those who may be adversely affected by it and may be 
circulated to other potentially interested parties. Such persons must be 
notified of the opportunity to comment on the draft before a specified 
deadline. 

Clause 100 outlines the procedure for when a report from the HSSIB makes 
recommendations for future action. The HSSIB must make a report available 
to a person to whom its recommendations apply. Under clause 100(4) 
HSSIB’s recommendations would require a written response from any 
addressee(s) (unless specifically exempt).  

Clause 101 provides that the HSSIB’s draft, interim and final reports are not 
admissible in certain court, tribunal or regulatory body proceedings set out in 
clause 101(2).  The high court may however, make an order admitting those 
reports following an application to do so from a person in those proceedings.  

Clause 102: Inspection and seizure  

Clause 102 makes provision for powers of entry, inspection and seizure of 
documents by HSSIB investigators for the purposes of investigations. Clause 
102(1) would allow investigators to:  

• enter and inspect premises in England (that are not used as private 
dwellings); 

•  inspect and take copies of documents;  
• inspect equipment or items at the premises; and  
• seize and remove documents, equipment, or items. 

Items seized by an investigator may be retained by the HSSIB for so long as is 
necessary for the purposes of the investigation.90 

The explanatory notes to the Bill say the powers of entry, inspection and 
seizure are intended to be used where consent to do so has not been given.  
The Explanatory Notes say: 

 

90  Clause 102(3) 

Page 73

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

52 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

In carrying out its function of investigating incidents, the HSSIB will 
engage with those under investigation and those managing the 
organisations where the investigation is taking place. It is expected 
that in most cases, the staff and organisation will co-operate with 
the HSSIB investigators, consent to the investigators’ entry to 
premises and provide relevant documents. However, where consent 
is not given, clause 102(1)(a) gives the HSSIB powers to enter and 
inspect premises in England.  

These are similar powers to investigatory bodies in other safety-
critical industries, such as the Air Accident Investigations Branch 
(AAIB). 91 

Clauses 103 and 104: Powers to require information  

Clauses 103 and 104 contain provisions for how the HSSIB should give notice 
to individuals requiring them to provide information or items or to be 
interviewed regarding investigations. Under clause 103(3) a person given 
notice to provide information or items would not be required to do so where 
there is a risk to a patient’s safety or it may incriminate the person.   A person 
would be also entitled to refuse to provide information if they would be 
entitled to do so in legal proceedings on the grounds that it is subject to legal 
professional privilege.  

Clause 103 allows the HSSIB to retain any document, equipment or other item 
provided to an investigator, for as long as is necessary, for the purposes of an 
investigation unless its retention would risk the safety of any patient.  

Clause 105: Offences 

Clause 105 would create new criminal offences of obstructing an investigator 
in the performance of functions conferred under clause 102 or failing to 
comply with a notice under clause 103 without a reasonable excuse. It would 
be a criminal offence to knowingly provide false or misleading information to 
a HSSIB investigator. 

Clauses 106 – 109 and Schedule 14: Disclosure of information 

Clause 106 prohibits the disclosure of “protected material” to any person.   

The Government has said the aim of the provision is to create a ‘safe space’ 
for participants during the investigation, enabling them to “speak openly and 
candidly with the HSSIB”.  The Explanatory Notes add: 

The safe space applies both to protected material obtained before 
the HSSIB decided whether to investigate as well as to material held 
in connection with an investigation already underway or 
completed.92 

 

91  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, paras 854-855 
92  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 877 

Page 74

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

53 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Subject to certain exemptions, the prohibition on the disclosure of protected 
materials would encompass any information, document, equipment or other 
items held by the HSSIB in connection with its investigations; relates to a 
qualifying incident; or has not been lawfully made available to the public.  

Exemptions to the prohibition are set out in Schedule 14 to the Bill. They 
include if disclosure is:  

• necessary for the purposes of carrying out the HSSIB’s investigation 
function; 

• necessary for the prosecution or investigation of an offence 
• believed to be necessary to address a serious and continuing risk to 

the safety of a patient or the public; 
• ordered by the High Court; and 
• required by a coroner.  

The Secretary of State would be able to authorise further exceptions to clause 
106 by virtue of a regulation-making power under clause 107(c). 

Clause 108 would make it a criminal offence for a person to knowingly or 
recklessly disclose protected material when they know or suspect that 
disclosure is prohibited. 

Clause 109 would prevent the use of powers in other legislation being used to 
require the disclosure, or seizure of protected material from the HSSIB.  The 
power is subject to the provisions in Schedule 14 to allow disclosure to 
coroners. 

Clauses 110-112: Relationship with other bodies 

Clause 110 would impose a duty on the HSSIB and specified listed persons to 
co-operate with each other when investigating the same or related qualifying 
incident. Listed persons include NHS bodies, health authorities and 
regulators specified in clause 110(3). 

Under clause 111, the HSSIB would be required to comply with requests from 
NHS bodies and NHS England to give assistance to an NHS body with carrying 
out investigations into incidents involving NHS services. The assistance 
includes:   

• disseminating information about best practice in carrying out 
investigations;  

• developing standards to be adopted in carrying out investigations; 
and   

• providing advice, guidance, or training (where practical).  

Page 75



 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

54 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

The HSSIB could also provide assistance to unspecified bodies if requested,93 
as long as it would not interfere with the exercise of its main functions.94 It 
would be able to charge for this provision.95  

Although under clause 94 the HSSIB’s investigatory functions apply to health 
care incidents occurring in England, the Bill would allow the HSSIB to support 
investigations by NHS bodies in other areas of the United Kingdom. Under 
clause 112 the HSSIB could enter into agreements to carry out investigations 
connected to incidents with implications for patient safety occurring in the 
United Kingdom during the provision of Welsh or Northern Irish NHS services. 
Clause 112(4) would allow the HSSIB to charge for these services; it would not 
be permitted to enter into an agreement to provide services if doing so would 
significantly interfere with its main functions. 

The clause 112 would not enable the HSSIB to provide assistance in 
connection with Scottish NHS services, but it could offer assistance in 
investigations if requested to do so under the provision in clause 111(5). 

Clauses 113 and 114: Oversight of functions by the Secretary of State 

Clause 113 provides for intervention by the Secretary of State should the HSSIB 
fail significantly to carry out its functions or fail to carry them out properly.  

Clause 114 requires the Secretary of State to publish a review of the 
effectiveness of the HSSIB in carrying out its investigative functions four years 
after being formally established and lay that report before Parliament. 

Clause 115-119: Supplementary provisions 

Clauses 115 to 119 contain supplementary provisions relating to: offences 
under Part 4 by bodies corporate (clause 115) and partnerships (clause 116); 
obligations of confidence and data protection in respect of disclosure of 
information (clause 117) ; consequential amendments (clause 118) and 
definitions in Part 4 of the Bill (clause 119).  

Comment 
The NHS Providers’ briefing on the Bill reiterates a number of concerns raised 
by the joint Committee on the draft HSSI Bill concerning the independence of 
the HSSIB. It recommends the addition of “balancing provisions” in order for 
the HSSIB to be able to determine, without interference, when it undertakes 
investigations.96 

Further concerns are raised in relation to the exceptions on the prohibition on 
disclosure which it argues “are wide ranging, discretionary and unreasonably 
open to external applications for access”.97 It recommends the Bill be 
 

93  Clause 111(5) 
94  Clause 115(6) 
95  Clause 115(8) 
96 NHS Providers, Briefing on the Health and Care Bill, 9 July 2021, page 10 
97  ibid, p11 

Page 76

https://nhsproviders.org/media/691734/nhs-providers-briefing-health-and-care-bill-second-reading-debate.pdf
https://nhsproviders.org/media/691734/nhs-providers-briefing-health-and-care-bill-second-reading-debate.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

55 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

amended to put beyond any possible doubt that the ‘safe space’ cannot be 
compromised save in the most exceptional circumstances and that the 
prohibition on disclosure applies equally to disclosure to coroners.98 In 
addition, it calls on the test for an application to disclose protected material 
be tightened to “ensure that disclosure is only sought in extremis”.99  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

98  ibid 
99  ibid 

Page 77



 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

56 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

6 Provisions relating to adult social care  

While the Bill’s provisions regarding health and social care integration are 
clearly of importance for adult social care, the Bill also contains several other 
provisions directly related to the sector.  

6.1 Hospital discharge and social care 
assessments (Clause 78) 

Background 
Under Schedule 3 of the Care Act 2014, local authorities are required, in 
certain circumstances, to carry out an assessment of a person’s social care 
needs before they are discharged from hospital.100  

This requirement has been disapplied during the Covid-19 pandemic during 
which time the NHS has operated a “Discharge to Assess” model, whereby 
social care needs assessments can take place after an individual has been 
discharged from hospital.101 Additional funding has been provided to cover 
the follow-on care costs of patients discharged under this model. Further 
information is provided in section 5 of the Library Briefing: Coronavirus: Adult 
social care key issues and sources. 

Models of “Discharge to Assess” or “Home First” were being used before the 
pandemic, with some pilots starting in 2016. This was part of work between 
the Department of Health and Social Care, NHS England, NHS Improvement, 
and local government to provide support to help local areas improve 
transfers out of hospital and reduce delays.102 

Clause 78 of the Bill revokes the requirement for social care needs 
assessments to be carried out prior to a person’s discharge from hospital.103 It 
is intended that guidance on hospital discharge will set out the requirements 
of health and social care partners during the discharge process.104 

The Explanatory Notes to the Bill say the requirement to carry out 
assessments prior to discharge can lead to delays when people are ready to 
 

100 Care Act 2014, Section 74 & Schedule 3. 
101  Coronavirus Act 2020, section 14(8) & Schedule 12, paragraph 14; DHSC, Hospital discharge and 

community support: policy and operating model, last updated 5 July 2021. 
102  For more information, see: DHSC, ADASS, NHS England, QUICK GUIDE: DISCHARGE TO ASSESS. 
103  Health and Care Bill, Clause 78; Bill 140 EN 2021-22, pages 36 & 111. 
104  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, p36. 

Page 78

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9019/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9019/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/section/74/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/schedule/3/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/7/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospital-discharge-service-policy-and-operating-model
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospital-discharge-service-policy-and-operating-model
https://www.nhs.uk/nhsengland/keogh-review/documents/quick-guides/quick-guide-discharge-to-access.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

57 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

leave hospital. In turn, this can lead to poorer patient outcomes and can add 
to pressure on hospital beds. They add that the change provided for by the 
Bill will allow local areas to adopt the most suitable discharge model for local 
needs, including the “discharge to assess” model.105  

The February 2021 White Paper added that the change “will help to embed 
good practice guidelines which have been followed over the past few 
years.”106 

Comment 
In its response to the Bill, the Local Government Association said “the repeal 
of legislation related to delayed discharges is good news and paves the way 
for the continuation of discharge arrangements which have worked well 
during the pandemic.”107 

In evidence to the Health and Social Care Committee, Age UK said it was “very 
supportive of the policy intentions and aspirations of the Discharge to Assess 
model”, but added that appropriate safeguards are needed “to ensure that 
the standards of care older people can expect are clearly articulated and no 
one falls through the gaps.”108  

In its evidence to the Committee, Carers UK expressed concern about the 
Discharge to Assess model and said it must be ensured that “before someone 
is discharged from hospital, their carer is willing and able to care for that 
person.”109 However, in its response to the Bill, it noted that the hospital 
discharge guidance had now been updated to reflect carers’ rights during the 
process.110  

6.2 CQC assessment of local authority social care 
functions (Clause 121) 

Clause 121 of the Bill provides for the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to be 
placed under a duty to assess local authorities’ delivery of their adult social 
care functions under Part 1 of the Care Act 2014. The exact functions in scope 
for review will be set out in regulations. Under the Bill’s provisions, there will 
be certain steps that the CQC may or must take if it considers that a local 
authority is failing in the discharge of its adult social care functions. If the 
failings are considered substantial, this includes informing the Secretary of 

 

105  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 157 
106 DHSC, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all,  

February 2021, page 57. 
107 LGA, LGA responds to publication of Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021 
108 HSC0986,  
109 HSC0942 
110  Carers UK, Carers UK responds to introduction of Health and Care Bill, 6 July 2021 

Page 79

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/lga-responds-publication-health-and-care-bill
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/25412/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/25071/html/
https://www.carersuk.org/news-and-campaigns/press-releases/carers-uk-responds-to-introduction-of-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

58 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

State and recommending any special measures it considers the Secretary of 
State should take.111 

The February 2021 White Paper said accountability for social care services has 
become increasingly important as more people access social care as a result 
of demographic change. It added that it was therefore “only reasonable for 
Government to want to ensure the [adult social care] system is delivering the 
right kind of care, and the best outcomes, with the resources available.” The 
White Paper added that the Government understood that the proposals come 
“following an extraordinarily challenging time for adult social care” and that 
the focus initially would be on improving data collection [see above] with the 
assessment element “introduced over time.”112 

Comment 
The Health and Social Care Committee’s report on the Government’s White 
Paper (14 May 2021) said the proposal “received a mixed response from our 
witnesses.” While a number of witnesses broadly welcomed the proposal, 
they also noted that it would not solve the main issues in the sector, including 
around funding. The Committee’s report concluded that the proposal would 
“shine a much-needed light on local variation in the provision of social care” 
but that, for it to be successful, “the social care system needs to have in place 
a fully funded 10-year plan to sit alongside the NHS’s own 10-year plan.”113 

In its response to the Bill, published on 6 July 2021, the Local Government 
Association said it was working closely with the CQC and the Department of 
Health and Social Care to “ensure the assurance process is proportionate, 
includes a clear and continuous role for existing sector-led improvement 
work, and takes account of the significant financial pressures facing adult 
social care.”114 

6.3 Financial assistance (Clause 122) 

Clause 122 of the Bill amends the Health and Social Care Act 2008 to provide 
the Secretary of State with power to provide financial assistance to adult 
social care providers. Currently, while the Secretary of State may provide 
financial assistance to “qualifying bodies” delivering adult social care, this 
does not include providers operating for profit, and thus excludes much of the 
adult social care provider market. 

 

111  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, pages 148-50 
112  DHSC White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 

for all, 11 February 2021, page 56 
113  Health and Social Care Committee, The Government’s White Paper proposals for the reform of Health 

and Social Care, 14 May 2021, HC 20 2021-22, pages 19-20. 
114  LGA, LGA responds to publication of Health and Care Bill (6 July 2021) 

Page 80

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5827/documents/67112/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5827/documents/67112/default/
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/lga-responds-publication-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

59 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

The February 2021 White Paper said the Covid-19 pandemic had demonstrated 
“the need for speed and flexibility in providing support to the social care 
sector.” It added that, while the Bill would not prescribe the circumstances 
when the power can be used, the Government is clear that it will only be used 
in “exceptional circumstances” and “will not be used to amend or replace the 
existing system funding of adult social care.”115 

6.4 Comment on wider reform of adult social care 

Most of the commentary on the adult social care elements of the Bill and the 
February 2021 White Paper have focused on what isn’t included – namely, 
more fundamental reform of the adult social care sector.  

For example, in its response to the Bill, the Nuffield Trust stated  

The social care reforms in this Bill do not solve any of the problems 
that have brought this sector to a point of crisis, where hundreds of 
thousands of people needing care cannot get it. It’s all very well to 
hold local councils to account for delivering, but at the moment they 
are operating within a system that all political parties agree is 
fundamentally broken. The hope that the NHS will cooperate more 
with social care services will also come to nothing without proper 
reform so that more people receive help, more staff join the sector, 
and stability is restored after years of desperation.116 

The King’s Fund response to the Bill emphasised the “pressing need” for more 
fundamental reform of adult social care and said “reforming health services 
while leaving the social care sector in crisis would be a recipe for failure.”117  

The Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) similarly noted in 
its response that it had “called on the Government to urgently publish its 
promised plans for Adult Social Care ahead of the parliamentary recess later 
this month, so that we can collectively ensure that they dovetail with and 
complement the provisions in the Health and Care Bill.”118 

The Health and Social Care Committee’s report on the Government’s White 
Paper also noted a “significant number of submissions to our inquiry pointed 
out that the White Paper did not address the urgent need for a long-term plan 
for social care.” The report expressed concern that the “White Paper did not 
set out a long-term plan for social care” and stated that “the absence of a 
fully funded plan for social care has the potential to destabilise Integrated 
Care Systems and undermine their success.” In order to give reassurance to 
 

115  DHSC White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 
for all, 11 February 2021, page 56 

116  Nuffield Trust, Nuffield Trust response to Health and Care Bill (6 July 2021) 
117  King’s Fund, 'Important reforms could be undermined by plans for ministerial interference': The King's 

Fund response to the Health and Care Bill (6 July 2021) 
118  ADASS, ADASS Responds: Health and Care Bill  

Page 81

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/news-item/nuffield-trust-response-to-health-and-care-bill
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/press/press-releases/important-reforms-undermined-by-ministerial-interference-health-care-bill
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/press/press-releases/important-reforms-undermined-by-ministerial-interference-health-care-bill
https://www.adass.org.uk/adass-responds-health-and-care-bill


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

60 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

the sector that the wider financial and structural issues will be addressed, the 
report recommended that the Bill include a duty for the Secretary of State to 
publish a 10-year plan within six months of the Bill receiving Royal Assent.119 

The Government has committed to bring forward proposals for adult social 
care reform by the end of the year. Further information is provided in Library 
Briefing (CBP8001), Reform of adult social care funding: developments since 
July 2019 (England).  

Further information on the broader funding of adult social care, is available in 
Library Briefing (CBP7903), Adult Social Care Funding (England). 

 

 

119 Health and Social Care Committee, The Government’s White Paper proposals for the reform of Health 
and Social Care, 14 May 2021, HC 20 2021-22, pages 16-19 

Page 82

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8001/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8001/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-7903/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5827/documents/67112/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5827/documents/67112/default/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

61 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

7 Restrictions on TV and online 
advertising of less healthy food and 
drink 

7.1 Background  

Currently, responsibility for monitoring and regulating broadcast advertising 
is co-regulated by the Advertising Standards Authority (ASA) and Ofcom.  
Permitted content and standards for broadcast advertising on television and 
on demand programme services (ODPS) are set out in the Communications 
Act 2003.  Advertising on the internet is not currently subject to statutory 
regulation. 

The Government believes that obesity is one of the greatest long-term health 
challenges the UK faces, with 1 in 3 children leaving primary school already 
overweight or living with obesity.120  In addition, around two-thirds (63%) of 
adults are above a healthy weight and of these, half are living with obesity.121 
Evidence suggests that people who are overweight, or are living with obesity 
are at greater risk of long-term health conditions and being seriously ill and 
dying from Covid-19.122  

Following public consultations in 2019 and 2020 on proposals for new 
restrictions on the advertising of High Fat Salt and Sugar (HFSS) food and 
drink123, the Government published its response on 24 June 2021.124 It 
announced that new advertising restrictions would be implemented as part of 
its ongoing commitment to tackle childhood obesity. Specifically, a 9pm 
watershed for advertisements of HFSS foods, applicable to television and UK 
on-demand programmes.125  In addition, a prohibition on paid-for advertising 
of HFSS foods online. Both restrictions are legislated for in the Bill (clause 125 
and Schedule 16). 

 

120  NHS Digital, “National Child Measurement Programme, England 2018/19 School Year [National 
Statistics]”, 10 October 2019  

121  NHS Digital, “Statistics on Obesity, Physical Exercise, and Diet, England 2020”, 5 May 2020  
122 DHSC, “Policy Paper: Tackling obesity: government strategy”, 27 July 2020  
123 “HFSS products” are food and soft drink products that are high in fat, salt or sugar as identified using 

nutrient profiling. The Government uses “Nutrient Profiling Technical Guidance” published by the 
Department of Health on 1 January 2011  

124 Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) and the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC), “Introducing further advertising restrictions on TV and online for products high in fat, salt and 
sugar: government response”, 24 June 2021  

125 DHSC, New Advertising rules to help tackle childhood obesity, press release, 24 June 2021 

Page 83

https://www.asa.org.uk/
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/contents
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2018-19-school-year
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2018-19-school-year
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2018-19-school-year
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2018-19-school-year
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-obesity-government-strategy
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216094/dh_123492.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-advertising-rules-to-help-tackle-childhood-obesity


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

62 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Detailed information on the background to both measures and the policy 
rationale is outlined in Section 7 of a separate briefing paper, “Obesity”.126  
That  paper also provides an overview of the current regulation of advertising 
in the UK by the ASA (i.e. content of advertising, sales promotions, and direct 
marketing across all media, including marketing on websites).   

A second briefing paper, Advertising to children, provides further information 
and  government statistics on children’s media habits and HFSS online 
advertising.127  

7.2 The Bill (Clause 125 and Schedule 16) 

An important aim of the Bill is to reduce children’s exposure to the advertising 
of “less healthy food and drink” products on TV and online. For the purposes 
of the Bill, a food or drink product is “less healthy” if: 

• it falls within a description specified in regulations made by the 
Secretary of State, and  

• it is “less healthy” in accordance with the relevant guidance. 

The relevant guidance is “Nutrient Profiling Technical Guidance” published by 
the Department of Health on 1 January 2011. The Government has said that to 
keep the restrictions proportionate, the new advertising restrictions would 
only apply to food and drink products of most concern to childhood obesity 
(i.e. HFSS products).128  

Clause 125 and Schedule 16 of the Bill would amend the Communications Act 
2003 (CA 2003) to restrict advertising of certain food and drink products. The 
restrictions are as follows:  

• A 9pm television watershed before which adverts for HFSS products 
could not be shown.  

• Paid-for advertising for HFSS products online would be banned.  
• All on demand programme services (ODPS) under UK jurisdiction, and 

therefore regulated by Ofcom, would be included in the TV watershed.129  
• Other ODPS not UK regulated would be subject to the online advertising 

prohibition (since they are not defined in the CA 2003 they are considered 
“internet services”).  

 

126 House of Commons Library briefing, Obesity (CBP 9049), 8 July 2021 
127 House of Commons Library briefing, Advertising to children (CBP 8198), 9 July 2021 
128 This is consistent with the approach that will be used for the promotions restrictions on price and 

volume policy, part of the Tackling Obesity Strategy 
129 On demand programme services (ODPS) differ from “live” television because they allow viewers to 

watch programmes at a time of their choosing and on a device of their choosing. It is the case that 
may broadcast TV channels also have ODPS, there are also ODPS available as paid-for subscriptions..  

Page 84

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-9049/CBP-9049.pdf
https://www.asa.org.uk/
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8198
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216094/dh_123492.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/contents
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-9049/CBP-9049.pdf
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8198


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

63 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

The television and online restriction is to be introduced simultaneously.  

In respect of broadcast television and ODPS subject to Part 4A of the CA 2003,  
Schedule 16 would amend the CA 2003 to enable Ofcom to introduce 
restrictions prohibiting HFSS advertising between the hours of 5.30am to 
9:00pm on broadcast TV. The Bill would also introduce a prohibition on paid-
for HFSS advertising online by inserting a new section into the CA 2003 after 
Part 4B. In effect, a person must not pay for advertisements for an 
“identifiable” less healthy food or drink product to be placed on the internet. 

Significantly, the online ban would be limited to “paid-for” advertising130 of 
HFSS products; it would not apply to “owned media”.  This means that brands 
could continue to advertise within owned media spaces online (e.g. a brand’s 
own blog, website, app, or social media channel).131  The Government’s 
consultation response132 said this is to ensure that:  

• brands can continue to talk about their products in the spaces they own, 
• adults are not prevented from accessing owned media online spaces,    
• and factual information can be shared on a brand’s own online spaces 

(e.g. allergen ingredients).  

The Bill’s prohibition on paid-for advertising for HFSS products online would 
also not cover adverts:   

• published online by a person who does not carry on business in the UK 
• not intended to be accessed principally by persons in any part of the 

UK.133  

Schedule 16 also provides for other exemptions, including:  

• Businesses would be able to continue to promote online their products or 
services to other businesses (in other words, the Bill would allow 
marketing communications online targeted exclusively business-to-
business).   

• Audio online content which is streamed (e.g. podcasts and online only 
radio) would also be exempt, because the Government thinks that the 
impact of HFSS advertising in this media is unclear.134 

 

130 Paid-for space online is any space where a third party has had to pay the owner to display content  
131 Owned media is any online property owned and controlled, usually by a brand. For owned media the 

brand exerts full editorial control and ownership over content 
132 Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) and the Department of Health and Social Care 

(DHSC), “Introducing further advertising restrictions on TV and online for products high in fat, salt and 
sugar: government response”, 24 June 2021  

133 This approach is the same as that taken in the Tobacco Advertising and Promotions Act 2002 
134 Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) and the Department of Health and Social Care 

(DHSC), “Introducing further advertising restrictions on TV and online for products high in fat, salt and 
sugar: government response”, 24 June 2021  

Page 85

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/part/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/21/part/4B
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

64 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

In respect of both a prohibition on paid-for advertising of HFSS products 
online and the 9pm TV watershed, Schedule 16 contains two important 
exemptions, namely:   

• Brand advertising would still be permitted provided there were no 
“identifiable” HFSS products in the adverts. The reason given for this 
exemption is to give brands the opportunity to change and “move 
towards offering healthier products”.135  

• The advertising restrictions would only apply to businesses with 250 or 
more employees that make and/or sell HFSS products.  

This final exemption is important. It means that small and medium sized 
enterprises (SMEs) who employ 249 employees or less, would be able to 
continue advertising online and before the 9pm TV watershed. In its June 2021 
consultation response, the Government explained the reasons for this 
exception:  

The government recognises these companies may be some of the 
hardest hit by the pandemic and rely on online media as the sole way 
to communicate with their customers. 

[…] 

Furthermore, advertising restrictions could mean SMEs are less able 
to compete with larger brands who can use their brand recognition 
and resources to mitigate the effects of the proposed HFSS 
restrictions.136 

Some stakeholders are calling on the Government to reconsider this 
exemption amid fears that it creates a “loophole” that might be exploited by 
multinationals. It is argued that multinationals selling their HFSS products in 
the UK and employing fewer than 250 staff could be exempt from the 
advertising restrictions, meaning they could advertise freely before the TV 
watershed and online.137  

In respect of liability for non-compliance with the HFSS advertising 
restrictions, Schedule 16 of the Bill stipulates:  

• Television Broadcasters and UK regulated ODPS (as defined in the CA 
2003) would be liable for any breaches of the HFSS TV watershed. 

• Advertisers would be liable for any breaches of the paid-for online 
prohibition.   

 

135 Ibid 
136  Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) and the Department of Health and Social Care 

(DHSC), “Introducing further advertising restrictions on TV and online for products high in fat, salt and 
sugar: government response”, 24 June 2021  

137 “Row over ‘loophole’ that could let foreign firms dodge junk food advert ban”, Telegraph, 6 July 2021 

Page 86

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/politics/2021/07/06/row-loophole-could-let-foreign-firms-dodge-junk-food-advert/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

65 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

• For non-UK ODPS, the advertiser would be liable for any breaches of the 
paid-for online prohibition on these platforms.  

As outlined in the Government’s response,138 this approach aligns with the 
current enforcement frameworks across TV, online and ODPS advertising:  

It will provide greater regulatory coherence for broadcasters, 
platforms, advertisers and regulators as the liable parties for 
HFSS advertising breaches will be the same as for other breaches 
of the advertising codes.139 

It is significant that under the provisions of the Bill, online platforms would 
not be made expressly liable for breaches. In its response the Government 
states that the extent of platforms’ liability for unlawful advertising generally 
would be considered as part of its “Online Advertising Programme”.140 It 
would be for the regulators to determine whether an online platform should 
be treated as an advertiser.  

In respect of enforcement of the new HFSS advertising restrictions, Ofcom 
would be the statutory regulator. However, under the Bill, Ofcom could 
appoint a day-to-day regulator to carry out frontline regulation; the 
expectation is that the ASA will carry out this function. The day-to-day 
regulator would use powers contracted out by Ofcom to promote compliance 
with, and understanding of, the new HFSS advertising restrictions.   

In effect, day-to-day responsibility for applying the new advertising 
restrictions, considering complaints, and providing guidance would be with 
the frontline regulator. It is envisaged that, in the first instance, the frontline 
regulator would use informal powers to insist on a non-complying advert 
being removed (e.g. reputational sanction, such as naming and shaming) and 
takedown requests. However, for serious or repeated breaches or where 
these sanctions have had no effect, the frontline regulator could refer the 
case to Ofcom. To enforce the new advertising restrictions, Ofcom could use 
fines and other civil sanctions (the maximum fines would be in line with those 
found in broadcasting, for parity between broadcast and online). In effect, 
Ofcom would act as the backstop regulator. In the Government’s view, this 
approach would make enforcement “both rigorous and proportionate within 
the changing online media landscape”.141  

If enacted, the measures contained in Schedule 16 of the Bill would come into 
force on 1 January 2023. As with all other advertising restrictions, the rules 
would apply to the whole of the UK. The Government has already made a 

 

138  Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) and the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC), “Introducing further advertising restrictions on TV and online for products high in fat, salt and 
sugar: government response”, 24 June 2021  

139 Ibid. 
140 Ibid. 
141  Ibid. 

Page 87

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.asa.org.uk/about-asa-and-cap.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

66 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

commitment to work with regulators to ensure guidance is made available to 
businesses before the implementation of the new restrictions.142   

7.3 Views of stakeholders  

The Government summarises respondents’ feedback to the March 2019 and 
autumn 2020 consultations in its response published on 24 June 2021.143 It 
states that: 

• 81% of individuals, 73% of organisations and 13% of businesses 
supported a watershed for television HFSS adverts.  

• 75% of individuals, 85% of organisations and 23% of businesses 
supported an online ban for HFSS adverts.  

According to the Government, one respondent to its 2019 consultation drew 
attention to the fact that current rules already require advertisers to use 
multiple evidence sources where possible to ensure they are compliant with 
the Advertising Codes, and to exercise caution in cases where robust evidence 
is not available. Another respondent said that dynamically served advertising 
online is not strictly automated, and that “humans make conscious decisions 
about when and where adverts are shown online, control the buying process, 
and specify how ads should be targeted, with numerous points in the process 
where regulatory compliance is checked before, during and after a 
campaign”.144

  

Responding to these specific points the Government said:  

We do not consider that this addresses fundamental concerns about 
flaws in the system by which advertising is targeted, which are 
magnified as children spend more time online, and further 
undermined by a lack of transparency.  

A solution building on existing audience-based restrictions is 
therefore too dependent on an opaque and potentially porous 
system, over which the advertiser may sometimes have limited 
control, and applied to an advertising category which is unique in 
being age restricted in advertising but not otherwise (unlike, for 
example, alcohol which is age restricted for purchase and 
consumption).  

 

142 Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) and the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC), “Introducing further advertising restrictions on TV and online for products high in fat, salt and 
sugar: government response”, 24 June 2021  

143 Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) and the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC), “Introducing further advertising restrictions on TV and online for products high in fat, salt 
and sugar: government response”, 24 June 2021  

144 Department of Health and Social Care and the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport, “Total 
restriction of online advertising for products high in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS)”, 10 November 2020 

Page 88

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-advertising-restrictions-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar/outcome/introducing-further-advertising-restrictions-on-tv-and-online-for-products-high-in-fat-salt-and-sugar-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/total-restriction-of-online-advertising-for-products-high-in-fat-sugar-and-salt-hfss
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/total-restriction-of-online-advertising-for-products-high-in-fat-sugar-and-salt-hfss


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

67 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

In addition, an approach where compliance relies on the quality and 
reliability of targeting information and the ability to target certain 
advertisements away from children, may engage issues of 
competition. Effective and widespread targeting tools and methods 
would be necessary to ensure a level playing field. Some platforms 
may be better disposed to implement time-based targeting already, 
which may confer an advantage over those facing operational or 
practical burdens in implementing a time-based restriction. 
Measures to enable compliance would have to be universally 
accessible and compatible in order to minimise potential risks of 
market distortion and competitive advantage.145

 

On 10 June 2019, the ASA, the Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP) and 
the Broadcast Committee of Advertising Practice (BCAP) published their 
response to the Government’s March 2019 consultation. They questioned the 
evidence base for the proposed 9pm watershed for TV advertising of HFSS 
products and asked whether the existing controls in the BCAP and CAP Codes 
might be further developed instead. An extract from this response is 
reproduced below:   

In relation to the pre-9pm option, CAP and BCAP raise concerns on 
the basis of practicality and proportionality and invite a further 
assessment of the relative merits of timing-based restrictions 
(proposed in the consultation) and audience-based restrictions, 
which are currently in place. CAP, BCAP and legacy ad regulators 
have historically favoured audience-based restrictions (combined 
with content rules) as the most effective and efficient means to 
achieve the necessary protection afforded to children while avoiding 
disproportionate intrusion into adults’ TV viewing and adults’ online 
engagement. 

[…] 

If, following its consideration of consultation responses, Government 
is inclined to consider alternative adjustments to the current 
framework of restrictions, we think there is an opportunity for it to 
work with all parties to identify a wider range of options that may 
better address any harms that are not adequately addressed by the 
current restrictions, which continue to be effective.146 

The Internet Advertising Bureau (IAB UK), the industry body for digital 
advertising, was part of a group147 that came together to respond to the 
Government’s autumn 2020 consultation paper and its proposal to implement 

 

145 Ibid. 
146 Letter to the Department of Health and Social Care from the Advertising Standards Authority, the 

Committee of Advertising Practice and the Broadcast Committee of Advertising Practice, 10 June 2019 
147  This group, organised by the Advertising Association, included the ISBA, the IPA (Institute of 

Practitioners in Advertising) and food and drink manufacturers  

Page 89

https://www.asa.org.uk/about-asa-and-cap.html
https://www.asa.org.uk/about-asa-and-cap/people/cap-panels-and-committees.html#CAP
https://www.asa.org.uk/about-asa-and-cap/people/cap-panels-and-committees.html#BCAP
https://www.asa.org.uk/uploads/assets/uploaded/3746673b-6902-4164-870cdff5f567a653.pdf
https://www.iabuk.com/about-us
https://www.asa.org.uk/uploads/assets/uploaded/3746673b-6902-4164-870cdff5f567a653.pdf
https://www.asa.org.uk/uploads/assets/uploaded/3746673b-6902-4164-870cdff5f567a653.pdf
https://adassoc.org.uk/our-work/joint-ad-industry-comment-on-hfss-advertising/
https://www.isba.org.uk/about
https://ipa.co.uk/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

68 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

a ban of HFSS adverts online. The IAB published the Ad industry’s reaction, an 
extract is reproduced below:  

Trade bodies across the ad industry have condemned the 
Government's proposed ad ban as “unwarranted” and “draconian” 
and called for the Government to be led by the evidence, which 
doesn’t show that a ban would address obesity. Industry bodies 
including IAB UK, Advertising Association, ISBA, IPA, AOP, PPA and 
the NMA sent a joint letter to the Prime Minister expressing these 
views and calling for a proportionate approach to the issue based on 
robust evidence. You can read IAB UK’s full statement, which was 
also sent to the Government, here.  

Following the launch of the Government’s consultation on how to 
implement a total ban online in November 2020, IAB UK issued a 
joint statement with the Advertising Association, ISBA and the IPA, 
plus run an editorial piece in The Times that calls on the Government 
to base their decision on evidenced policies that deliver the greatest 
benefit for the least economic cost. We are holding meetings with 
Government ministers and the Prime Minister’s advisors, and have 
written jointly with the AA, ISBA and the IPA to backbench MPs 
highlighting our concerns.148

  

On 10 November 2020, the Advertising Association also published online a 
“Joint Ad Industry Comment on HFSS Advertising”.149 It urged ministers to 
“develop evidenced solutions that are targeted at the problem they wish to 
address, appropriate to digital media fit for the 21st century”.150

 The 
Advertising Association also criticised the Government for beginning the 
consultation during the coronavirus pandemic:   

If this policy of an outright ban goes ahead, it will deal a huge blow 
to UK advertising at a time when it is reeling from the impact of 
Covid-19. This consultation has landed just as we have entered 
another period of lockdown, with all the heightened uncertainty this 
creates for people and businesses right across the country. 
Businesses that should be devoting their time and energy to surviving 
this economically unpredictable situation will now have to devote 
precious resources to responding to the Government and working out 
whether they will even be able to advertise their products in the 
future.151 

Conversely, the RSCPH (Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health) 
published a response developed in collaboration with the Obesity Health 
Alliance (OHA) (a coalition of over 40 health charities, medical royal colleges 
and campaign groups working together to influence Government policy to 
 

148 Internet Advertising Bureau (IAB UK) “Q&A: What does an online HFSS ad ban mean?”, 17 November 
2020 

149 Advertising Association, Joint Ad Industry Comment on HFSS Advertising, 10 November 2020  
150 Ibid. 
151  Ibid. 

Page 90

https://www.iabuk.com/news-article/qa-what-does-online-hfss-ad-ban-mean
https://www.iabuk.com/news-article/ad-industry-unites-joint-letter-pm-hfss
https://www.iabuk.com/news-article/iab-uks-response-governments-proposal-ban-hfss-online-advertising
https://www.iabuk.com/news-article/industry-responds-launch-governments-hfss-consultation
https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/banning-adverts-on-junk-food-can-only-ever-be-a-sticking-plaster-6krqlzmlm
https://adassoc.org.uk/about-us/
https://adassoc.org.uk/our-work/joint-ad-industry-comment-on-hfss-advertising/
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/about-us
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/rcpch_response_to_hfss_advertising_restrictions_consultation_final_june_2019.pdf
http://obesityhealthalliance.org.uk/
https://www.iabuk.com/news-article/qa-what-does-online-hfss-ad-ban-mean
https://adassoc.org.uk/our-work/joint-ad-industry-comment-on-hfss-advertising/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

69 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

reduce obesity).152
  While supporting the introduction of new restrictions on 

the advertising of HFSS products on TV and online, the RSCPH suggested that 
similar restrictions should be applied to other types of media:   

We also think restrictions should apply to packaging, and to 
sponsorship, including sponsorship of TV channels, programmes, 
websites, sports events, and school-based activities. Sponsorship is 
currently regulated separately, and we need a level playing field to 
avoid a loophole where HFSS could be shown at the start and end of 
advertising breaks.153

  

The OHA published “An analysis of adverts shown during a week of ‘Britain’s 
Got Talent’ live shows”.154

 Among its key findings was that more than one in 
five (23%) of all adverts shown before 9pm was for an HFSS food or drink. In 
addition, “a child who watched all six episodes up to 9pm would see over 22 
minutes of unhealthy food and drink adverts – which could lead to them 
eating over 300 additional calories”.155 The OHA made the following 
recommendation:  

Despite comprehensive evidence showing the harmful effect of 
unhealthy food and drink advertising and Government 
acknowledgment of the issue, unhealthy food and drink adverts 
continue to be shown heavily during children’s favourite TV 
programmes. This analysis provides real-world evidence that 
hundreds of thousands of children are being exposed to unhealthy 
food advertising at a level that leads to excess calorie consumption.  

We want to see the Government commit to introducing a 
comprehensive 9pm watershed on unhealthy food and drink adverts 
on TV and online with no exemptions. This would provide broad 
protection for children and is supported by over 70% of the public.156

  

 

In its autumn 2020 consultation document the Government cites Cancer 
Research UK analysis.157

  Cancer Research UK found that almost half of all 
food adverts shown on ITV, Channel 4, Channel 5 and Sky One were for HFSS 
products, rising to almost 60% between 6pm and 9pm when they are deemed 
most likely to be viewed by children.158

  

 

152 A list of full members is available on the OHA (Obesity Health Alliance) website 
153 Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, “Department of Health and Social Care: Further 

advertising restrictions for products high in fat, sugar and salt”, June 2019 
154 Obesity Health Alliance, “Britain’s Got a Problem with Junk Food Adverts: An analysis of averts shown 

during a week of “Britain’s Got Talent’ live shows”, May 2019 
155 Ibid. 
156 Ibid. 
157 Cancer Research UK, “Analysis of revenue for ITV1, Channel 4, Channel 5 and Sky One derived from 

HFSS TV advertising spots in September 2019”, by Dominic Ng, Alizee Froguel and Malcolm Clark, July 
2020 

158 Ibid. 

Page 91

http://obesityhealthalliance.org.uk/
http://obesityhealthalliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/BGT-advertising-analysis-2019.pdf
http://obesityhealthalliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/BGT-advertising-analysis-2019.pdf
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/sites/default/files/cruk_report_on_sept19_nielsen_tv_ad_analysis_-_final22july20.pdf
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/sites/default/files/cruk_report_on_sept19_nielsen_tv_ad_analysis_-_final22july20.pdf
http://obesityhealthalliance.org.uk/members/
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/rcpch_response_to_hfss_advertising_restrictions_consultation_final_june_2019.pdf
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/rcpch_response_to_hfss_advertising_restrictions_consultation_final_june_2019.pdf
https://hopuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/conwayl_parliament_uk/Documents/Obesity%20Health%20Alliance,
https://hopuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/conwayl_parliament_uk/Documents/Obesity%20Health%20Alliance,
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/sites/default/files/cruk_report_on_sept19_nielsen_tv_ad_analysis_-_final22july20.pdf
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/sites/default/files/cruk_report_on_sept19_nielsen_tv_ad_analysis_-_final22july20.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

70 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

8 Other provisions 

8.1 International healthcare (Clause 120) 

On 26 March 2019, legislation to enable the implementation of new reciprocal 
healthcare arrangements received Royal Assent: the Healthcare (European 
Economic Area and Switzerland Arrangements) Act 2019.  The legislation was 
introduced as the Healthcare (International Arrangements) Bill on 26 October 
2018. During the Lords stages there were significant changes to limit the 
global scope of regulations and to confine the Bill to arrangements with EEA 
countries and Switzerland. To reflect these changes at Report stage on 12 
March 2019, the Lords amended the title to the Healthcare (European 
Economic Area and Switzerland Arrangements) Bill. Further information on 
the Healthcare (European Economic Area and Switzerland Arrangements) Act 
2019, including Explanatory Notes and Impact Assessments, can be found on 
the Parliament website. 

The Explanatory Notes to the Bill explain that the limited territorial scope of 
the powers in 2019 Act mean that the Secretary of State does not have 
necessary powers to implement reciprocal healthcare agreements with 
countries outside of the EEA, including, for example, British Overseas 
Territories and Crown Dependencies, other than the ability to exempt 
individuals from charges for relevant NHS services.159 

As a result, although the UK has a number of reciprocal healthcare 
agreements with countries outside the EU, such as Australia and New 
Zealand, “they are limited in scope because of the absence of financial 
reimbursement or data sharing powers”. Broadly, they allow UK nationals to 
access emergency treatment while in the other country, but access to 
services such as haemodialysis for kidney patients is restricted or not 
included within the scope of existing agreements.160 

Clause 120 amends the Healthcare (European Economic Area and 
Switzerland Arrangements) Act 2019 to enable the Government to implement 
comprehensive reciprocal healthcare agreements with countries outside the 
EEA and Switzerland. The Explanatory Notes state that the exact 
arrangements which will be provided for under any future reciprocal 
healthcare agreements is a matter for negotiations.161 Unlike most other 

 

159 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 139 
160 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 140 
161 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 923 

Page 92

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2019/14/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2019/14/contents/enacted
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2019-03-12/debates/BA7E2781-1B78-489F-8F1E-A75E75848043/Healthcare(InternationalArrangements)Bill
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2019-03-12/debates/BA7E2781-1B78-489F-8F1E-A75E75848043/Healthcare(InternationalArrangements)Bill
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2017-19/healthcareinternationalarrangements.html
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2017-19/healthcareinternationalarrangements.html
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2019/14/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2019/14/enacted
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2305
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

71 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

provisions in the Bill, the territorial extent and application of this clause 
includes Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, as well as England. 

8.2 Professional regulation (Clause 123) 

The Explanatory Notes state that powers sought through this Bill “…form part 
of a wider programme aiming to create a more flexible and proportionate 
professional regulatory framework that is better able to protect patients and 
the public.”162  

Section 60 of the Health Act 1999 provides powers to make changes to the 
professional regulatory landscape through secondary legislation. Clause 123 
extends the scope of the existing powers in section 60 and Schedule 3 of the 
Health Act 1999 to enable a number of significant changes to be made to the 
professional regulation system through secondary legislation. The 
Explanatory Notes say these powers could be used so that:  

• where it appears that a regulated healthcare profession no 
longer requires regulation for the purposes of public 
protection it can be deregulated by an order in council;  

• a regulatory body can be abolished by an order in council 
where the profession(s) concerned have been deregulated as 
above or will continue to be regulated by another regulatory 
body;  

• groups of workers, whether or not they are generally 
regarded as a profession, can be brought into regulation;  

• reserved functions of regulatory bodies can be delegated to 
other regulatory bodies by an order in council. These 
reserved functions are maintaining a register of members, 
determining standards of education and training and giving 
advice about standards of conduct and performance, and 
administering the fitness to practise function.163 

The Explanatory Notes clarify that the new powers could be used to bring 
senior NHS managers and leaders within the scope of professional regulation, 
irrespective of whether they are part of a healthcare profession.164 

As with all Section 60 orders, secondary legislation using these new powers 
would be subject to public consultation and the affirmative parliamentary 
procedure.165  

 

162 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 162 
163 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 949 
164 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 166 
165 This requires the approval of both Houses of Parliament.  

Page 93

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

72 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

The nine regulatory bodies for health and care professions operate across the 
UK, and the Explanatory Notes state that any use of the extended powers 
“would be subject to Ministerial approval across the devolved 
administrations.”166 Orders will always require the approval of the Northern 
Ireland Assembly where professional regulation is a transferred matter and 
may require the approval of the Scottish Parliament (where they concern 
professions brought into regulation after the Scotland Act 1998) or the Welsh 
Assembly (where the order concerns social care workers).  

The Memorandum from the Department of Health and Social Care to the 
Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee, regarding the Health 
and Care Bill, provides the following rationale for clause 123: 

The legislation governing the regulation of health care professions is 
best amended by means of secondary legislation in order to allow 
regulatory bodies to be flexible and responsive to the changing 
needs of the healthcare environment, to support the development of 
a diversifying workforce and to protect the public effectively.167 

On 24 March 2021 the Government published Regulating Healthcare 
Professionals, Protecting the Public, a consultation setting out detailed policy 
proposals for reforming the legislation of healthcare regulators. This 
consultation closed on 16 June 2021. 

8.3 Medical examiners (Clause 124) 

Clause 124 of the Bill would amend the Coroners and Justice Act 2009 to 
introduce a statutory medical examiner system within the NHS rather than 
local authorities in England, for the purpose of scrutinising all deaths which 
do not involve a coroner. It would require the Secretary of State to ensure that 
enough medical examiners are appointed in the healthcare system in 
England, that enough funds and resources are made available to medical 
examiners to enable them to carry out their functions of scrutiny, and to 
ensure that their performance is monitored.  

The Explanatory Notes to the Bill state: 

Medical examiners will introduce an additional level of scrutiny to 
those deaths not reviewed by a coroner, improve engagement with 
the bereaved in the process of death certification and offer them an 
opportunity to raise any concerns as well as improving the quality 
and accuracy of Medical Certificates of Cause of Death. Independent 
scrutiny of deaths will reduce the potential for malpractice by 
doctors to go unchecked. The level of scrutiny will be proportionate 

 

166 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 164 
167 Health and Care Bill Delegated Powers Memorandum from DHSC to the Regulatory Reform 

Committee, 6 July 2021 

Page 94

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/regulating-healthcare-professionals-protecting-the-public
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/regulating-healthcare-professionals-protecting-the-public
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

73 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

so as not to impose undue delays on the bereaved or undue burdens 
on medical practitioners and others involved in the process.168 

Further information can be found in the Library Briefing paper, Death 
certification and medical examiners (CBP9197, 12 July 2021).  

8.4 Hospital food (Clause 126) 

The Independent Review of NHS Hospital Food published in October 2020 
recommended improved NHS food and drink standards for patients, staff and 
visitors be put on a statutory footing. The Bill would grant the Secretary of 
State for Health and Social Care powers to adopt secondary legislation that 
will implement the national standards for food across the NHS. The 
Explanatory Notes provide the following: 

This Bill amends section 20 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 to 
provide the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care powers to 
make regulations imposing requirements in connection with the 
provision of food or drink provided on hospital premises in England 
relating to food or drink provided or sold to patients, staff, visitors or 
anyone else on hospital premises. Such requirements include the 
power to specify nutritional standards, or other nutritional 
requirements, such as to specify descriptions of food or drink that 
are not to be provided or made available.169 

8.5 Food labelling requirements (Clause 127) 

Clause 127 introduces a power to amend retained EU law relating to food 
information for consumers. 

Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 (the Regulation) makes provision regarding food 
information, including the labelling of prepacked food and drink for 
consumers in the UK, and brings together EU rules on general food labelling 
and nutrition into a single piece of legislation. Article 7 of the Regulation sets 
out a general principle that food information should not be misleading. 

The Regulation was converted into domestic law and retained under the 
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018. The retained version of Regulation 
(EU) No 1169/2011 applies to food businesses in Great Britain, whereas EU food 
law, including Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 continues to apply in Northern 
Ireland. 

 

168  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 175 
169   Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 179 

Page 95

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9197/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9197/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-review-of-nhs-hospital-food
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A32011R1169
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

74 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Guidance from the Food Standards Agency provides further information about 
the legal requirements for food packaging and labelling in the UK. 

Section 16 of The Food Safety Act 1990 makes provisions regarding food safety 
and consumer protection and enables the Government to make regulations 
on various aspects of food safety. Section 16(1)(e) of the Act enables the 
Government to introduce regulations which make provision for: 

…imposing requirements or prohibitions as to, or otherwise 
regulating, the labelling, marking, presenting or advertising of food, 
and the descriptions which may be applied to food; 

The Bill would give the UK, Scottish and Welsh Governments the power to 
amend Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011, by amending an existing power in the 
Food Safety Act 1990. This is set out in clause 127, section 16(3A): 

(3A) Regulations under subsection (1)(e) may amend Regulation (EU) 
No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the 
provision of food information to consumers.  

Amendments to Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 would be made using secondary 
legislation and an affirmative process. 

The Department of Health and Social Care acknowledged the breadth of the 
power proposed in the Bill, and measured this against safeguards: 

The power is a broad one but is subject to a number of safeguards; 
regulations are to be made via the affirmative procedure and there is 
a general duty to consult in matters concerning food law. Article 9 of 
Regulation (EU) 178/2002 (which is retained EU law) places a 
statutory requirement to consult on changes to food law.170 

Why has the Government proposed the new powers? 
The Government has said that clause 127 of the Bill would enable it to 
respond appropriately to the needs of domestic consumers and changing 
scientific opinion: 

A delegated power enables the Secretary of State (where he deems 
appropriate) to adapt the existing regime concerning the provision 
of food information to consumers in response to the specific needs of 
domestic consumers (for example, nutritional information to support 
public health needs of the population) and in response to feedback 
from stakeholders concerning operating within the restrictions. 

[…] 

 

170 Health and Care Bill, Memorandum from the Department of Health and Social Care to the 
Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee, 6 July 2021, para 795 

Page 96

https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance/packaging-and-labelling
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/16/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

75 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Food safety law and the requirements around food labelling can be a 
fast developing area and it is the Department’s view that it is 
desirable that requirements in relation to the labelling of food should 
be able to adapt appropriately to evolving scientific opinion and 
other developments in the area.171 

The Bill is intended to simplify the legislative process for amending the 
Regulation. 

Owing to its status as retained direct principal EU legislation, changes to 
Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 would need to be made via primary legislation, 
as per the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018. The new Bill would enable 
these changes to be made with secondary legislation. 

The Government has also suggested that “the level of technical detail 
involved in amendments to the retained legislation in [Regulation (EU) No 
1169/2011] is deemed too high for inclusion in in primary legislation”.172 

Referring to an overlap in the provisions of the Regulation and the Food Safety 
Act 1990, the Department of Health and Social Care proposed that 
regulations made using the powers set out in the Food Safety Act 1990 should 
now have the ability to amend the provisions under Regulation (EU) No 
1169/2011.173 

Developing Government policy on food labelling 
The Bill would contribute to the Government’s wider policy on food, and in 
particular, the Government’s obesity strategy. In a policy paper setting out 
the proposals for the Health and Care Bill, the Government said that the new 
powers would enable it to introduce key policies from its obesity strategy: 

5.129 We are proposing to amend section 16 of the Food Safety Act 
1990 to give ministers the power to amend the EU Food Information 
to Consumers (2011/1169) regulations that have been transposed into 
UK law. This will allow ministers to introduce new strengthened 
labelling requirements that best meet the needs of the consumer to 
make more informed, healthier choices subject to approval by 
Parliament.  

5.130 This power will enable the swift introduction of key obesity 
strategy policies such as changes to our front-of-pack nutrition 
labelling scheme and mandatory alcohol calorie labelling, following 
consultation. We are considering the impact of this clause with the 

 

171  Health and Care Bill, Memorandum from the Department of Health and Social Care to the 
Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee,  6 July 2021, paras 790 and 793 

172 Health and Care Bill, Memorandum from the Department of Health and Social Care to the 
Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee,  6 July 2021, para 790 

173 Health and Care Bill, Memorandum from the Department of Health and Social Care to the 
Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee,  6 July 2021, para 791 

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-care-bill-delegated-powers-memorandum


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

76 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

devolved administrations and will continue to engage them on our 
current and any future policy proposals.174 

As part of its obesity strategy, the Government has committed to a range of 
work on food labelling.  

In a July 2019 prevention Green Paper, Advancing our health: prevention in 
the 2020s, the Government said that it would: 
• Explore how the marketing and labelling of infant foods can be improved 
• Consult on how the success of the current front-of-pack nutritional 

labelling scheme could be built on following the UK’s departure from the 
EU 

In a July 2020 policy paper, Tackling obesity: empowering adults and children 
to live healthier lives, the Government said that it would: 

• Publish a 4-nation public consultation to gather views and evidence on 
the current “traffic light” food labelling system 

• Introduce legislation to require large out-of-home food businesses to 
add calorie labels to the food they sell 

• Consult on the intention to make companies provide calorie labelling on 
alcohol 

For a detailed discussion of the Government’s obesity policy, please see the 
Library’s July 2021 briefing on obesity. 

Aside from obesity policy, the Government has also indicated that it will give 
consideration to addressing other matters related to food labelling. Defra 
Minister Victoria Prentis said on 7 July 2021 that the Government plans to 
consult later in 2021 on “what can be done through labelling to promote high 
standards of animal welfare across the UK market”.175 

8.6 Water fluoridation (Clauses 128 and 129) 

Clauses 128 and 129 of the Bill would amend the Water Industry Act 1991 so 
that the Secretary of State has powers to directly introduce, vary or terminate 
water fluoridation schemes in England.  These changes would mean that the 
Secretary of State would no longer need to be directed by a local authority to 
establish a water fluoridation scheme.   

The Explanatory Notes to the Bill highlight difficulties with the current 
process, such as discrepancies between water flow boundaries and local 
authority boundaries. It explains that the amendments would remove “the 
 

174 DHSC White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 
for all, 11 Feb 2021 

175 PQ 24280, 7 July 2021 

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s-consultation-document
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s-consultation-document
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-obesity-government-strategy/tackling-obesity-empowering-adults-and-children-to-live-healthier-lives
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-obesity-government-strategy/tackling-obesity-empowering-adults-and-children-to-live-healthier-lives
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/front-of-pack-nutrition-labelling-in-the-uk-building-on-success
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9049/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2021-06-29/24280


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

77 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

burden from local authorities and will allow the Department of Health and 
Social Care to streamline processes and take responsibility for proposing any 
new fluoridation schemes, which will be subject to consultation and funding 
being agreed.”176 

Background 
Fluoride is a naturally occurring mineral, that can help to prevent tooth 
decay, and improve oral health.  Since the mid-20th century, fluoride has been 
added to drinking water through water fluoridation schemes to reduce the 
risk of tooth decay in the population.177  Currently, around six million people in 
England live in areas with fluoridation schemes.178  In other areas of England, 
the water naturally contains fluoride at the required level.   

The water fluoridation process is the responsibility of the water company 
providing the supply in the area.  It is controlled through a series of legislative 
and regulatory measures and companies are required to exercise their 
responsibilities in accordance with a technical code of practice published by 
the Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI), the body responsible for assuring the 
quality of public water supplies in England.179 The DWI is also responsible for 
monitoring the levels of fluoride in water that occur both naturally and as a 
result of fluoridation schemes.180 More information about the fluoridation 
process and the regulation of fluoride in water is provided in the Public Health 
England guidance, Improving oral health: A community water fluoridation 
toolkit for local authorities 

Public Health England (PHE) has a duty to monitor (on behalf of the Secretary 
of State) the health effects of water fluoridation schemes under Section 90A 
of the Water Industry Act 1991181 and is required to produce reports on this at 
least every four years.  The most recent report, Water fluoridation: health 
monitoring report for England 2018, was published in March 2018.  It 
concluded that “water fluoridation is an effective and safe public health 
measure to reduce the prevalence and severity of dental caries, and reduce 
dental health inequalities.”182   

Water fluoridation is widely supported by medical organisations such as the 
British Medical Association,183 the British Dental Association,184  and the Royal 
College of Paediatrics and Child Health.185 However, there has been some 
controversy around the introduction of water fluoridation schemes, and 

 

176  Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 205 
177  NHS, Fluoride, August 2018 
178  Public Health England, Water fluoridation: health monitoring report for England 2018, March 2018 
179  DWI, Code of Practice on Technical Aspects of Fluoridation of Water Supplies 2016, January 2016 
180  DWI, Fluoridation of drinking water, June 2016 
181  Section 90, Water Industry Act 1991 
182  Public Health England, Water fluoridation: health monitoring report for England 2018, March 2018 
183  BMA, BMA response to ‘Advancing our health: prevention in the 2020s’, 2 October 2019, page 5. 
184  BDA, Dentists: Fluoridation offers ‘theoretical’ benefits without up-front investment, 11 February 2021 
185 RCPCH, The State of Child Health, Oral health, [accessed 12 July 2021] 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-oral-health-community-water-fluoridation-toolkit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-oral-health-community-water-fluoridation-toolkit
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/section/90
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/section/90
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-fluoridation-health-monitoring-report-for-england-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-fluoridation-health-monitoring-report-for-england-2018
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/fluoride/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-fluoridation-health-monitoring-report-for-england-2018
http://dwi-content.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/03135356/Code-of-Practice-on-technical-aspects-of-Fluoridation-of-water-supplies-2016.pdf
https://cdn.dwi.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/23151701/fluoride_v2.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/section/90
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-fluoridation-health-monitoring-report-for-england-2018
https://www.bma.org.uk/media/1626/bma-consultation-response-prevention-green-paper-oct-2019.pdf
https://www.bda.org/news-centre/press-releases/dentists-fluoridation-offers-theoretical-benefits-without-up-front-investment
https://stateofchildhealth.rcpch.ac.uk/evidence/prevention-of-ill-health/oral-health/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

78 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

significant local opposition to their introduction in some areas.186  Concerns 
have been raised by some organisations that there may be negative health 
impacts associated the fluoridation of drinking water.187  The NHS website 
reports that reviews of the risk so far have “found no convincing evidence to 
support these concerns.”  It does note that dental fluorosis (mottling of the 
teeth) can occur in children’s teeth where they are exposed to too much 
fluoride when developing but states that it is uncommon for severe fluorosis 
to occur in the UK because fluoride levels are carefully monitored.188 

The 2018 Public Health England monitoring report of the health effects of 
water fluoridation provided the following conclusions: 

The reduction in the number of five-year-olds experiencing caries 
and the decrease in the severity of this dental disease was significant 
in those receiving a fluoridated water supply, and most clearly so in 
more deprived areas, narrowing differences in dental health between 
more and less deprived children. The effect of fluoridation on 
admission for tooth extraction was also substantial. A larger number 
of the most deprived children and young people benefited, again 
lessening differences in dental health between more and less 
deprived children and young people.  

We have also been able to explore associations with potential 
adverse health effects in more detail: despite some suggestion of 
associations between water fluoridation and certain health effects, 
the overall results of our analysis, and weight of wider evidence 
means causal associations are unlikely.189 

Current legislative framework and proposed 
amendments 
Currently, under the amended Water Industry Act 1991, local authorities have 
the powers to introduce, consult on and end water fluoridation schemes in 
their local areas.  Under this Act, the Secretary of State for Health and Social 
Care is responsible for making, varying or terminating fluoridation 
agreements with water companies only in accordance with the proposals of 
the affected local authority.  

Government proposals 

The February 2021 White Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together 
to improve health and social care for all, set out proposals to give the 
Secretary of State greater power with regard to water fluoridation schemes in 

 

186 BBC, Southampton's fluoridation decision 'unlawful', 19 January 2011; BBC, Southampton council votes 
to oppose fluoride water plan, 15 September 2011; BBC, Southampton water fluoridation plans 
scrapped, 28 October 2014. 

187 See for example, UK Freedom From Fluoride Alliance  
188 NHS, Fluoride, August 2018 
189 Public Health England, Water fluoridation: health monitoring report for England 2018, March 2018 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-hampshire-12223552
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-hampshire-14924292
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-hampshire-14924292
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-hampshire-29803864#:%7E:text=Plans%20to%20add%20fluoride%20to,backing%20from%20Southampton%20City%20Council.
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-hampshire-29803864#:%7E:text=Plans%20to%20add%20fluoride%20to,backing%20from%20Southampton%20City%20Council.
https://www.ukfffa.org.uk/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/fluoride/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-fluoridation-health-monitoring-report-for-england-2018


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

79 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

the Health and Care Bill.  It explained some of the difficulties that local 
authorities have faced under the existing arrangements:  

Local authorities have reported several difficulties with this process 
including the fact that local authority boundaries are not co-
terminous with water flows, which requires the involvement of 
several authorities in these schemes, in a way which is complex and 
burdensome. In addition, local authorities are responsible for the 
oversight of revenue and costs associated with new proposals, 
including feasibility studies and consultations, while having no direct 
financial benefit from any gains in oral health.190 

The White Paper set out that, in response to these challenges, the 
Government was proposing to give the Secretary of State the power to directly 
introduce, vary or terminate water fluoridation schemes. It noted that the 
Secretary of State already has power to decide on whether proposals for 
water fluoridation should be approved, and responsibility for the 
administration of schemes.  The White Paper said that the proposal would 
“remove the burden from Local Authorities” and allow the Department to 
“streamline processes” and take responsibility for proposing new fluoridation 
schemes, which would remain subject to public consultation.191 Central 
government would become responsible for associated work and costs. 

In the report on its inquiry on the Government’s White Paper proposals for the 
reform of Health and Social Care, the Commons Health and Social Care Select 
Committee noted that it had received mixed responses to the Government’s 
plans on fluoridation in the White paper.192  Health organisations had 
expressed support for the proposals, but some had highlighted the need for 
consultation with local areas.  The Local Government Association had also 
said that fluoridation schemes should not be imposed on local areas and that 
local decision makers were  “best placed to take into account locally-
expressed views and to balance the perceived benefits of fluoridation with the 
ethical arguments and any evidence of risks to health”.  Some organisations 
in opposition to water fluoridation also submitted evidence to the committee.  
The UK Freedom From Fluoride Alliance said that whilst it remained in 
opposition to fluoridation generally, if this continued it should remain in the 
hands of local authorities where it said, local people could be more easily 
involved in the decision.  The Committee drew the Governments attention to 
the submissions and said that “the Secretary of State will recognise the long-
standing debate on fluoridation, and we look to him to set out a balanced 
response to both sides of the argument during the debates on the Bill.”193 

 

190  DHSC White Paper, Working together to improve health and social care for all, 11 February 2021, 
page 58 

191  DHSC White Paper, Working together to improve health and social care for all, 11 February 2021 
192  Commons Health and Social care Select Committee, Department's White Paper on health and social 

care, 14 May 2021, HC 20 2021–22 
193  Commons Health and Social care Select Committee, Department's White Paper on health and social 

care, 14 May 2021, HC 20 2021–22 

Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/publications/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/publications/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/publications/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1068/departments-white-paper-on-health-and-social-care/publications/


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

80 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

 

8.7 Miscellaneous provisions (Clauses 75-77) 

Clause 74 disapplies the existing legislative provisions that currently impose 
a three year time limit on any new Special Health Authority (SpHA). The three 
year limit was introduced by the Health and Care Act 2012, and only applies 
to SpHAs that came into force after 2012. Currently this requirement applies 
to the NHS Counter Fraud Authority, which has to have its existence formally 
extended every three years. Clause 75 sets out requirements for SpHAs in 
relation to their accounts and auditing.  

Clause 76 relates to the repeal of spent powers of the Secretary of State, 
under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to make a property transfer 
scheme or a staff transfer scheme in connection with the establishment or 
abolition of a body by that Act, or the modification of the functions of a body 
or other person by or under that Act. 

Clause 77 abolishes Local Education and Training Boards (LETBs), which are 
statutory sub-committees of Health Education England (HEE). HEE and their 
LETBs were established under the Care Act 2014. The Explanatory Notes state 
that LETBs “…exercise HEE’s functions at local level to plan and commission 
education and training, quality assure the education and training 
commissioned for their areas, and act as a forum for local workforce 
development in the NHS and public health system.”  There are seven LETBs 
covering England, with each of the geographical footprints matching that of 
NHS England’s regional directorates. The policy intention is to abolish LETBs 
as a statutory sub-committee “…to enable HEE to develop and adapt its own 
flexible regional operating model to best deliver its objectives over time.”194 

8.8 Part 6: Consequential provisions, regulations, 
commencement, extent and short title 
(Clauses 130-135) 

Clause 130 gives the Secretary of State some general regulation making 
powers consequential on the Bill. In particular, the power may be used to 
amend, repeal, revoke or otherwise modify any provision within this Bill or any 
provision made by or under primary legislation passed or made either before 
this Act is passed or later in the same Parliamentary session. The Explanatory 
Notes say “Where regulations modify primary legislation, the affirmative 

 

194 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 63 

Page 102

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

81 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

procedure must be used. Otherwise, the regulations can be made under the 
negative procedure.”195 

Clause 131 makes some further provision relating to regulations made under 
the Bill. In particular it sets out that, in addition to any regulations that 
amend primary legislation, regulations laid under the following clauses must 
be subject to the affirmative parliamentary procedure:  

• Clause 14(4) regarding Integrated Care Board responsibility. 
• Clause 87 and 88 regarding the power to transfer functions between 

Arm’s Length Bodies. 
• Clause 107 regarding exceptions to the Health Service Safety 

Investigation Body’s prohibition on disclosure.196 

Clause 132 deals with the further financial provision necessary as a result of 
the Bill. 

Clause 133 sets out the territorial extent of the Bill, providing that it extends 
to England and Wales only with the exception of the following sections and 
subsections that extend to England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland:  

• Schedule 1 part 1, paragraph 1(3) or (4) (renaming of NHS Commissioning 
Board). 

• Part 3 (Secretary of State’s powers to transfer or delegate functions). 
• Part 4, section 109 (restriction of statutory powers requiring disclosure). 
 
The provisions extending to England and Wales apply to England only, as 
health is largely a matter for devolved competence. 

There is a convention that Westminster will not normally legislate with regard 
to matters that are within the legislative competence of the Scottish 
Parliament, Senedd Cymru or the Northern Ireland Assembly without the 
consent of the legislature concerned. The Explanatory Notes provide, in the 
annex, a summary of the position on territorial extent and application in the 
UK.197 

Clause 134 provides that Part 6 of the Bill come into force on the day the Act 
is passed. These are the general provisions (dealing with consequential 
amendments, regulations, extent, commencement and the title). Clause 125 
and Schedule 16 (advertising of less healthy food and drink) come into force 
on 1 January 2023. The remaining provisions would come into force on the day 
or days specified by the Secretary of State in regulations. There is a power to 
make regulations which include transitional or saving provisions in 
connection with the coming into force of any provision of the Bill. 

 

195 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, paras 1014-1015 
196 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, para 1019 
197 Bill 140 EN 2021-22, Annex, pages 173-174 

Page 103

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/en/210140en.pdf


 

 

The Health and Care Bill [Bill 140 of 2021-22] 

82 Commons Library Research Briefing, 12 July 2021 

Clause 135 states the Bill’s short title as ‘The Health and Care Act 2021’. 

Page 104



 

 

 

The House of Commons Library is a research and 
information service based in the UK Parliament.  
Our impartial analysis, statistical research and 
resources help MPs and their staff scrutinise 
legislation, develop policy, and support constituents. 

Our published material is available to everyone 
on commonslibrary.parliament.uk. 

Get our latest research delivered straight to your inbox. 
Subscribe at commonslibrary.parliament.uk/subscribe 
or scan the code below: 

 

 commonslibrary.parliament.uk 

 @commonslibrary 
 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year.  In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid 
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to 
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable 
issues that might occur from time to time. 
 

 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of 
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to what 
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, 
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’. 
 

 The latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule is attached to this report for the Board’s 
consideration. 
 

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 

2021/22 municipal year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work Schedule 

Date: 27th July 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden 

Tel: 0113 3788661 

Page 107

Agenda Item 4



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year and therefore the latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule for the 
remainder of the municipal year is attached as Appendix 1 for Members’ consideration. 

 
2. During the Board’s consultative meeting on 15th June 2021, Members discussed possible 

areas of work for the Board to undertake this year, as set out within the note of that 
meeting.  The latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule is therefore reflective of the 
Board’s discussion held on 15th June 2021. 

 
3. The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 23rd June 2021 are also 

attached as Appendix 2.  The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive 
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any 
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted. 

 

Developing the work schedule 
 

4. When considering any developments and/or modifications to the work schedule, effort 
should be undertaken to: 

 

 Avoid unnecessary duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums 
already having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue. 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value 
and can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 Avoid pure “information items” except where that information is being received as part 
of a policy/scrutiny review. 

 Seek advice about available resources and relevant timings, taking into consideration 
the workload across the Scrutiny Boards and the type of Scrutiny taking place. 

 Build in sufficient flexibility to enable the consideration of urgent matters that may arise 
during the year. 

 
5. In addition, in order to deliver the work schedule, the Board may need to take a flexible 

approach and undertake activities outside the formal schedule of meetings – such as 
working groups and site visits, where necessary and appropriate.  This flexible approach 
may also require additional formal meetings of the Scrutiny Board. 
 

Developments since the previous Scrutiny Board meeting 
 

Additional meetings held by the Scrutiny Board on 9th July 2021. 
 

6. On 1st July 2021, a Call-In request was received regarding a decision made by the 
Executive Board on 23rd June 2021.  The decision related to the Adults & Health Service 
Review 6 – Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post Consultation Recommendations and 
therefore fell within the remit of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board.  As 
such, the Scrutiny Board held a Call In meeting on 9th July 2021 to consider this request. 

 
7. An additional formal public meeting of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny 

Board was also held on 9th July 2021 to seek formal agreement on the Board’s position in 
relation to the appointment of co-opted members; the Scrutiny Board’s representation on 
the West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and adopting the 
Health Service Developments Working Group arrangement for this current municipal year. 
 

8. The draft minutes from both meetings will be brought to the Board’s next formal public 
meeting for approval.  

 

Page 108



What impact will this proposal have? 

 

9. All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year. 
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

10. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the 
Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member about available resources 
prior to agreeing items of work. 

 
What are the resource implications? 
 

11. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if 

the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and 

focus its resources on one key issue at a time.    

 

12. The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council 

functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and 

that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.   

 

13. Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 
about available resources; 
 

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 
 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and 
can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 
What are the legal implications?  
 

14. This report has no specific legal implications. 
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

15. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 
16. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives. 
  
 
 
 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 109



Appendices 
 

17. Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny 
Board for the 2021/22 municipal year. 
 

18. Appendix 2 – Draft minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 23rd June 2021. 
 

 

Background papers 
 

19. None. 

Page 110



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

June 2021 July 2021 August 2021 

Meeting Agenda for 15/06/21 at 1.30 pm. 

Meeting Agenda for 09/07/21 at 10.30 am. 
 

Board Member appointments and the Health 
Service Developments Working Group 
arrangement (PDS) 

 
Meeting Agenda for 27/07/21 at 1.30 pm. 

 
** Consultative Meeting** 

 
The Health and Care Bill and the development 
of the local Integrated Care System (DB) 

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled 
 

 
** Consultative Meeting** 

 
Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and 
Sources of Work (DB) 
 

Performance Update (PM) 
 

 

Working Group Meetings 

  
 
 
 

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 111



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 
 

September 2021 October 2021 November 2021 

Meeting Agenda for 07/09/21 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 05/10/21 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 16/11/21 at 1.30 pm. 

 
Improving ‘same day response’ services in 
Leeds (PSR) 
 
The re-engagement of specialist 
commissioned services (PSR) 
  
 

 
The development and future vision of stroke 
services in Leeds, including reference to the adult 
inpatient rehabilitation service (PSR) 
 
Community neurological rehabilitation service 
redesign (PDS) 
 
Understanding and addressing the symptoms of 
‘long Covid’ (PSR)  
 

 
Understanding the impact of Covid-19 
and the ongoing recovery measures 
across the local health and care system.  
 

 
Tackling health inequalities and the 
Leeds response to the ‘Build Back 
Fairer: Covid 19 Marmot Review (PSR)  
 

 

Working Group Meetings 

   

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 112



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

December 2021 January 2022 February 2022 

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled Meeting Agenda for 11/01/022 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 08/02/22 at 1.30 pm. 

 
 
 

 
Performance report (PM) 
 
Financial Health Monitoring (PSR) 
 
2022/23 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS) 
 
Access and participation in Active Leeds 
services (PSR) 
 

 
Arrangements surrounding the 
implementation of Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (PDS) 
 
 
 
 
 

Working Group Meetings 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 

P
age 113



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 
 

March 2022 April 2022 May 2022 

Meeting Agenda for 15/03/22 at 1.30 pm. No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled 

 
Update on the development of the local 
Integrated Care System (PSR) 

 
 

Working Group Meetings 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

P
age 114



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 23RD JUNE, 2021 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair 

 Councillors A Carter, D Coupar, S Golton, 
J Pryor, M Rafique, F Venner, S Arif, 
M Harland and H Hayden 

 
Apologies Councillor   

 
 

5 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt from 
publication on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business 
to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the 
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information 
so designated as follows:-  
 

(A) That appendix 3 to the report entitled, ‘White Rose Railway Station’, 
referred to in Minute No. 20 be designated as being exempt from 
publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and considered in private on the 
grounds that the information contained within that appendix contains 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular 
person (including the Council). It is considered that the public interest 
in maintaining the content of appendix 3 as exempt from publication 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, as doing so 
would prejudice the Council’s commercial position and that of third 
parties should it be disclosed at this stage; 
 

(B) That appendices 3, 3b and 3c to the report entitled, ‘Acquisition of Land 
for the A637 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner Junction Improvement 
Scheme’, referred to in Minute No. 22 be designated as being exempt 
from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 
12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and considered in private on 
the grounds that the information contained within those appendices 
contain information relating to the financial or business affairs of a 
particular organisation and of the Council. This information is not 
publicly available from the statutory registers of information kept in 
respect of certain companies and charities. It is considered that since 
this information was obtained through one to one negotiations for the 
proposed land exchange then it is not in the public interest to disclose 
this information at this point in time. Also, it is considered that the 
release of such information would, or would be likely to prejudice the 
Council’s commercial interests in relation to other similar transactions 

Page 115



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

in that prospective transacting parties for other similar sites would have 
access to information about the nature and level of consideration which  
may prove acceptable to the Council. It is considered that whilst there 
may be a public interest in disclosure, much of this information will be 
publicly available from the Land Registry following completion of this 
transaction and consequently the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at 
this point in time; 
 

(C) That appendix 7 to the report entitled, ‘Adults and Health Service 
Review 6: Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post Consultation 
Recommendations Report’, referred to in Minute No. 25 be designated 
as being exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) 
of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and considered 
in private on the grounds that the information within that appendix 
contains details regarding the combined value of the two care home 
buildings, which has recently been estimated for residential use. The 
estimated amount in question has been identified as exempt from 
publication in accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rule 
10.4(3) because it is commercially sensitive, should an open market 
disposal process be approved. Keeping the information confidential 
avoids potentially prejudicing the Council’s commercial position and 
that of third parties, should the estimated valuation amounts be 
disclosed at this stage. It is deemed that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption regarding Appendix 7 outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  

6 Late Items  
Agenda Item 14 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response 
and Recovery Plan 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the 
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response 
and Recovery Plan’. 
 
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that 
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board. 
However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in 
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information 
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally 
published on the 15th June 2021. (Minute No. 17 refers). 

7 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
In relation to Agenda Item 5, ‘arts@leeds’ – Year 5 Extension’, Cllr Pryor 
declared an interest in this item, due to the fact that his partner was an 
employee of Phoenix Dance Theatre, and as such, Councillor Pryor did not 
participate in the consideration of that item, and left the meeting room for the 
duration of that consideration. (Minute No. 9 refers). 
 
With regard to Agenda Items 18, ‘Disposal of Land at Dawson’s Corner by the 
Calverley Charity’ and 19, ‘Acquisition of Land for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s 
Corner Junction Improvement Scheme’, Councillor A Carter brought to the 

Page 116



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

Board’s attention his position as a Trustee of the Calverly Charity, as 
appointed to by the Outer West Community Committee and as registered 
within the ‘Other Registerable Interests’ section of his Register of Interests, 
and as such, declared an ‘Other Registerable Interest’ in those items. 
 
As required by the Council’s ‘Councillor Code of Conduct’, where a Member 
has declared an ‘Other Registerable interest’, in order to enable Councillor 
Carter to remain in the room and speak on those items, Councillor Carter had 
applied for and been granted a dispensation on the grounds that without the 
dispensation, representation from his political group on the Executive Board 
would not be possible and in granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor 
Carter to speak in the interests of persons living in the authority’s area.  In 
doing so, Councillor Carter confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and 
speaking on Agenda Items 18 and 19, he would not be voting upon them. 
(Minute Nos. 21 and 22 refer). 

8 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meetings held on 21st April 
2021 and 8th June 2021 respectively, be approved as correct records. 
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION 
 

9 arts@leeds - Year 5 Extension  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to 
extend the arts@leeds funding programme for a fifth year, with it being noted 
that a fifth year would extend the current round of funding to 31 March 2023. 
 
In considering the report, the Board received information regarding the 
reasons for the proposal from the Chief Officer Culture and Economy. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board noted that the decision to 
extend the funding programme did not have any implications for the Council’s 
budget setting process.  
 
With regard to an enquiry regarding this proposal and the separate proposals 
relating to the provision of resource for ‘Leeds 2023’, a Member sought 
assurance that there would be no ‘double counting’ across these two areas in 
terms of grant funding provision. In response, it was undertaken that 
clarification would be provided to the Member in question. 
 
RESOLVED – That an ‘in principle’ extension of the arts@leeds programme 
for a fifth year, to 31 March 2023, be approved. 
 
(Further to the declaration of interest as detailed at Minute No. 7, Councillor 
Pryor took no part in the consideration of this matter and left the meeting room 
for the duration of this item) 

10 Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at 
Allerton High School from September 2022  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the 
outcome of a consultation exercise undertaken regarding a proposal to 
expand secondary school provision at Allerton High School and which sought 
approval to the publication of a statutory notice on that proposal. 

Page 117



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

 
In supporting the proposal, emphasis was placed upon the importance of 
ensuring that the traffic regulation orders for the area were implemented. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the publication of a statutory notice on a proposal to permanently 
expand secondary provision at Allerton High School from a capacity of 
1100 to 1400 pupils by increasing the admission number in Year 7 from 
220 to 280, with effect from September 2022, be approved; 
 

(b) That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal detailed would 
be subject to the response of the proposed statutory notice and on the 
outcome of further detailed design work and planning applications, as 
indicated at section 4.4 of the submitted report; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the proposal has been brought forward in time for 

places to be delivered for 2022;  
 

(d) That it be noted that the responsible officer for implementation of such 
matters is the Head of Learning Systems. 

11 Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at St 
Edward's Catholic Primary School from September 2022  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the 
outcomes from a consultation exercise undertaken regarding a proposal to 
permanently increase learning places at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School 
from September 2022, and which sought approval to the publication of a 
Statutory Notice on that proposal. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, assurance was provided that a full traffic 
assessment and transport statement would be produced, and that as far as 
possible, recommendations from that would be implemented. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the publication of a Statutory Notice on a proposal to permanently 
expand primary provision at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School and 
increase the number of places offered at the school in Reception from 
20 to 30, with effect from September 2022, be approved; 
 

(b) That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal would be 
subject to the outcome of the proposed statutory notice and on the 
outcome of further detailed design work and planning applications, as 
indicated at section 4.4 of the submitted report; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the proposal has been brought forward in time for 

places to be delivered for 2022;  
 

(d) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems. 

PUBLIC HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES 
 

Page 118



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

12 Covid-19 Memorial Woodland within New 48 Hectare Parkland at former 
South Leeds Golf Course  
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report 
that presented a proposal to create a new 48 hectare park incorporating a 
Covid-19 memorial woodland on the site of the former South Leeds golf 
course. 
 
In welcoming the report, a Member suggested that other appropriate 
proposals could potentially be considered in other areas of the city, with a 
view to accessing external funding streams where appropriate. 
 
A Member highlighted the significant resource implication being proposed in 
an area with already considerable parkland facilities, and noted the proportion 
of the memorial woodland when considering overall size of the proposed new 
parkland.  
 
Responding to an enquiry regarding public consultation, it was noted that the 
local and wider community would be appropriately consulted in relation to the 
proposals within this report.  
 
The Board then discussed the current position with regard to the provision of 
grass cutting along highways in the city.   
 
RESOLVED – That the following be approved:- 

(a) The establishment of a formal partnership agreement between the 
Council and Leeds Hospitals Charity to create a Covid-19 memorial 
woodland; 
 

(b) The commencement of consultation on establishing up to 48 hectares 
of new parkland incorporating a Covid-19 memorial woodland and 
other recreational features, which will then form part of Middleton Park; 

 
(c) The injection of £700k into the Capital Programme in order to enable 

works to commence on establishing the Covid-19 memorial woodland, 
with authority to spend approval for the full scheme being delegated to 
the Director of Communities, Housing and Environment, and that the 
£30k annual revenue budget provision required to maintain the new 
parkland, be noted; 

 
(d) That it be noted that the Chief Officer for Parks and Countryside will be 

responsible for the implementation of the resolutions above, in line with 
the timetable, as set out in paragraph 31 of the submitted report. 

INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLIMATE 
 

13 Transforming Cities Fund: Leeds City Centre Cycling Improvements  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval 
for the design and delivery of a package of 6 schemes to provide safe, 
segregated facilities for cycling and walking around the city centre, with it 
being noted that these projects would link existing cycle routes together to 

Page 119



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

form a coherent network, facilitating active travel choices and reducing 
dependency on the private car for short and medium length journeys. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the successful delivery of cycle infrastructure across Leeds as 
part of Leeds City Council’s ambition to encourage active sustainable 
transport and address the Climate Emergency, be noted;  
 

(b) That the principle and general layout of the six Transforming Cities 
Fund - Leeds City Centre Cycling projects, as detailed within the 
submitted report, be approved; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the costs of £7.06M to design and deliver the 6 

projects detailed in the submitted report will be entirely funded from the 
Transforming Cities Fund; 

 
(d) That it be noted that the construction of the detailed projects is 

expected to begin in early summer 2021 for completion in spring 2023; 
 

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation) 
will be responsible for the implementation of such matters, and will 
receive further reports as necessary to facilitate these proposals and 
will give authority to spend for the individual projects. 

14 Leeds Local Plan Update – Public Consultation on the Scope of the Plan  
The Director of City Development submitted a report that presented details 
regarding the proposed scope for the Local Plan Update, namely a focus 
upon new or revised planning policy to help further address the Climate 
Emergency. On this basis, the report sought approval to commence 
consultation on the proposed scope of the Local Plan Update, as detailed. 
 
In considering the report, a Member highlighted the importance of ensuring 
that the comments which would be received as part of the proposed 
consultation process were taken into consideration, as appropriate.  
 
Emphasis was also placed upon the importance of ensuring that the methods 
used to conduct the consultation made the process as accessible as possible. 
In response, the Board was provided with details of the actions being taken 
with the aim of maximising accessibility.  
 
Reference was also specifically made to the continued importance of flood 
prevention, and the need for due consideration to be given to this issue as 
part of this process.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the proposed initial scope of the Local Plan Update, be agreed as 
follows:- 

 Update and create new policies; make consequential changes, within 
the Adopted Leeds Core Strategy (amended 2019), the Natural 
Resources and Waste Local Plan (2013) and Unitary Development 
Plan (2006) which focus on: carbon reduction, flood risk, green 

Page 120



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

infrastructure, place-making and sustainable infrastructure in order to 
adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change and ensure the 
delivery of sustainable development within the Leeds Metropolitan 
District for a period of at least 16 years from Adoption; 
 

(b) That the commencement of consultation on this scope for a period of 
eight weeks using supporting topic papers (Appendices 1 and 2 within 
the submitted report), be agreed; 
 

(c) That the consultation documentation (Appendices 1 and 2 within the 
submitted report) be referred to the Infrastructure, Investment and 
Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board for the purposes of consultation in 
accordance with the requirements of the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework; 
 

(d) That the necessary authority be provided to the Chief Planning Officer, 
to enable the Chief Planning Officer, in liaison with the Executive 
Member for Infrastructure and Climate, to approve any amendments to 
the consultation material in advance of public consultation; 
 

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Planning Officer is responsible for the 
implementation of the resolutions, as detailed above. 

 
(The matters referred to within this minute, given that they were decisions 
being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules, were not eligible for Call In, as Executive and Decision Making 
Procedure Rule 5.1.2 states that the power to Call In decisions does not 
extend to those decisions being made in accordance with the Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure Rules) 

15 Redevelopment of City Square - Outcome of the Design Competition and 
Appointment of the Preferred Designer  
The Director of City Development submitted a report that presented the 
outcome of the design competition for the redevelopment of City Square, and 
which sought approval to the appointment of the preferred designer, who in 
being appointed would work proactively with the Council and stakeholders to 
redevelop City Square from the design concept submitted as part of the 
design competition into an approved design. 
 
In introducing the report and in providing assurance to Members, the 
Executive Member highlighted that the design which had been submitted as 
part of the associated competition was an indicative design and that the 
preferred designer would work proactively with the Council and partners in 
developing a final design. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry regarding the extent to which the design 
competition format provided value for money, it was noted that the level of 
cost was in line with what would be expected at this stage of design 
development for a scheme of this scale. 
 

Page 121



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

A Member’s suggestion regarding the potential for an appropriate Covid-19 
memorial to form part of the design for City Square was noted, with an 
undertaking that it would be taken into consideration.  
 
In conclusion, the Board received further details regarding the competition 
process, and the Executive Member emphasised the key importance of the 
new design, given that City Square was a gateway to the city centre.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the appointment of the preferred designer, Re-form Landscape 
Architecture, to develop the conceptual design proposals to the end of 
the RIBA Concept Design Stage, be approved; 
 

(b) That the Authority to Spend up to a maximum of £250k in order to 
develop the conceptual design to the end of the RIBA Concept Design 
Stage, be approved; 

 
(c) That the entering into a Professional Service Short Subcontract with 

Balfour Beatty Civil Engineering (BB) for the post-competition design 
fees up to the end of the RIBA Concept Design Stage, be approved. 

16 Parklife - Fullerton Park and Matthew Murray Update  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided an 
update regarding the Council’s Fullerton Park ‘Parklife’ scheme, together with 
the outcome of recent discussions with Leeds United Football Club (LUFC) 
around their preference to preserve the potential for a disposal of the former 
Matthew Murray High School site to LUFC, as part of the club’s ambition to 
relocate their training ground facilities closer to Elland Road and also as part 
of proposals regarding the expansion of the Elland Road stadium. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received an update regarding 
the timeframe for this proposal, with it being acknowledged that this was in 
response to a request made by LUFC, as a result of the club’s updated 
aspirations regarding stadium expansion.  
 
With regard to an enquiry regarding the Woodhall Playing Fields site as part 
of the Parklife submission process, Members received an update regarding 
the current position, with it being undertaken that a further report regarding 
the Parklife scheme would be submitted to the Board at the appropriate time.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the progress which has been made to date with regard to the 
Fullerton Parklife scheme, be noted; 
 

(b) That the principle of the relocation of the Fullerton Parklife scheme to 
the former Matthew Murray High School site, in order to preserve the 
ambitions of Leeds United Football Club to achieve a 55,000 seater 
capacity stadium at Elland Road, be approved; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the principle approval above is subject to LUFC 

meeting Leeds City Council’s additional design costs that it will incur as 

Page 122



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

a consequence of this change, as outlined in paragraph 23 of the 
Resources section of the submitted report; 

 
(d) That it be noted that the relocation proposals will provide the 

opportunity for an increased facility offer at Matthew Murray, including 
4 full sized all-weather pitches and an increase space take up by the 
NHS; 

 
(e) That it be noted that the Football Foundation (the main grant funder for 

Parklife) and the NHS are fully supportive of the relocation and the 
positive impact that this will have on the Parklife business case; 

 
(f) That it be noted that the impact of the relocation of the Fullerton 

Parklife to Matthew Murray will result in a loss of the potential capital 
receipt to be realised from LUFC, however, it be noted that this will in 
part be offset from the realisation of a new capital receipt from Fullerton 
Park for land required as part of the Stadium expansion; 

 
(g) That it be agreed for Council officers to work in partnership with Leeds 

United Football Club on a revised masterplan for the Elland Road 
Stadium and Fullerton Park area, and that agreement be given for 
those draft proposals to be submitted to a future Executive Board in 
readiness for public consultation; 

 
(h) That it be noted that the officer responsible for this project and the key 

matters associated with it is the Head of Projects and Programmes in 
Asset Management and Regeneration. 

LEADER'S PORTFOLIO 
 

17 Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery 
Plan  
Further to Minute No. 157, 21st April 2021, the Chief Executive submitted a 
report providing an update on the work being undertaken as part of a multi-
agency partnership approach in response to, and as part of the recovery from 
the Covid-19 pandemic. The Response and Recovery Plan, as the main 
reporting tool for ongoing work across the seven service areas, was 
appended to the submitted report at Annex A.  The report and annexes set 
out the broad range of activities being undertaken, including a summary plan 
on a page for the rest of 2021, delivery via vital partnership arrangements, 
and details of the continued proactive work to try and control the numbers of 
cases across the city and increase testing, tracing, isolating and vaccination 
uptake. 
 
The Leader, together with the Executive Member for Public Health and Active 
Lifestyles introduced the report, providing an update on the current position in 
Leeds, with specific reference to the approach being taken towards 
addressing the recent increase in infection rates. 
 
RESOLVED –  

Page 123



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

(a) That the latest version of the Response & Recovery Plan, as presented 
at Annex A to the submitted report, including a summary plan on page 
and risks, be noted; 
 

(b) That Annex B to the submitted report, which presented a summary of 
national developments since the last meeting of Executive Board, be 
noted, together with Annex C, which provided the monthly Coronavirus 
Dashboard. 

RESOURCES 
 

18 Financial Performance - Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2021  
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the 
Council’s final outturn position for the 2020/21 financial year in respect of both 
the General Fund revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account. The 
report also sought approval regarding the creation of earmarked reserves, as 
detailed. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member 
in question with further detail on the overall amount of funding which had been 
received from Government in the form of Covid-19 financial support during the 
pandemic. 
 
Responding to Members’ enquiries regarding whether, in light of the outturn 
position, consideration would be given to reviewing staffing levels in some 
front line services, or reconsidering some of the decisions taken as part of the 
21/22 budget setting process, the Council’s continuing financial challenges 
were highlighted, with it also being undertaken that comprehensive reviews 
would also be undertaken as part of the budget setting process for next 
financial year. 
 
In conclusion, the Executive Member for Resources extended her thanks to all 
employees for their continued efforts throughout this difficult time, including 
those who had left the Authority through the Early Leaver’s Initiative. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the Council’s outturn position for the 2020/21 financial year, as 
presented in the submitted report, be noted; 
 

(b) That the creation of earmarked reserves, as detailed in paragraph 6.7 
of the submitted report, be agreed, and that the necessary authority 
be delegated to the Chief Officer Financial Services, to enable the 
Chief Officer Financial Services to approve their release; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be 

responsible for the implementation of the above resolutions 
following the ‘call in’ period. 

19 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2020/21  
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the 
Council’s Treasury Management Outturn position for the 2020/21 financial 
year. 

Page 124



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

 
In considering the report, Members discussed current costs with regard to 
Minimum Revenue Provision, and in response to a specific enquiry, the Board 
was provided with information on the actions being taken towards 
safeguarding against potential interest rate rises, when considering the 
Council’s borrowing costs. 
 
In conclusion, the officers responsible for this area were thanked for the work 
they continued to do to ensure that treasury activity remained within the 
Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management outturn position for the 
2020/21 financial year, as presented within the submitted report, be noted, 
with it also being noted that treasury activity has remained within the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Policy Framework. 

20 White Rose Railway Station  
The Director of City Development submitted a report outlining a proposal for 
the Council to provide a loan facility to Munroe K, in compliance with 
subsidiary control, to finance Munroe K’s maximum contribution towards the 
scheme as presented, with the report also seeking the related necessary 
approvals to help facilitate this proposal.  
 
Following consideration of Appendix 3 to the submitted report designated as 
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the public part of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That approval be given for the Director of City Development, in 
consultation with the Chief Officer Financial Services and the Executive 
Member for Resources, to develop and enter into a Loan facility 
Agreement of up to £4.5m with Munroe K, as per the Heads of Terms 
and principles detailed within exempt appendix 3 to the submitted 
report; 
 

(b) That approval be given to inject £4.5m into Capital Scheme Number 
32774/WHI/000 in order to finance the loan facility; and that approval 
be given for the necessary authority to be delegated to the Director of 
City Development and the Chief Officer Financial Services to enable 
the Director and Chief Officer to provide ‘authority to spend’ up to that 
amount in order to provide the loan, subject to the completion of legal 
agreements with Munroe K; 

 
(c) That a future paper on the delivery of the economic masterplan and 

emerging spatial masterplan at the White Rose Park be submitted to 
the Board in due course. 

21 Disposal of Land at Dawson's Corner by The Calverley Charity  
The Chief Officer of Asset Management and Regeneration submitted a report 
which sought approval of the terms of the sale of approximately seven acres 
of land at Dawson’s Corner, Pudsey. The report noted that this land was 

Page 125



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

privately owned by The Calverley Charity and as such, the submitted report 
was specifically for the purpose of Executive Board, on behalf of the Council 
and in the Council’s capacity as sole trustee of the charity, to give appropriate 
consideration to the proposal. 
 
In considering the report, a Member highlighted the importance of the 
landscaping mitigation works which would need to be undertaken as part of 
the proposals detailed within Agenda Item 18 to ensure that safe pedestrian 
access was provided (Minute No. 22 refers), a matter on which the Member 
had directly contacted the Highways department about.    
 
In referencing the fact that in line with the Council’s ‘Councillor Code of 
Conduct’ Councillor Carter was required to seek a dispensation to enable him 
to speak on this matter, due to his ‘Other Registerable Interest’ he requested 
that consideration be given to reviewing the Code in light of this issue. In 
response, the Chair advised that if the Code is causing practical issues, then 
he was agreeable for it to be reviewed on a cross party basis. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That Executive Board, on behalf of the Council acting as sole trustee of 
the Calverley Charity, approve the terms of the disposal of the Charity’s 
land at Dawson’s Corner, and that approval be given to delegate the 
approval of any variation to the final terms to the Chief Officer of Asset 
Management and Regeneration in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Resources, in so far as there is no conflict with regard to 
the delegation and the respective interests of the parties; 
 

(b) That it be noted that the officers responsible for this matter are the 
relevant Senior Land & Property Officer, City Development directorate, 
and Principal Legal Officer, Resources directorate, and upon approval 
of the sale terms by Executive Board (in resolution (a)), the sale will be 
progressed and completed in timescales to suit the Charity and the 
purchasing Highway Authority (with the aim of completion by end of 
2021). 
 

(As detailed within Minute No. 7, Councillor Carter, having declared an ‘Other 
Registerable Interest’ in this item, had applied for, and been granted a 
dispensation on the grounds that without the dispensation, representation 
from his political group on the Executive Board would not be possible and in 
granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor Carter to speak in the interests 
of persons living in the authority’s area.  In doing so, Councillor Carter 
confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and speaking on this item, he 
would not be voting upon it). 

22 Acquisition of Land for the A647 / A6120 Dawson's Corner Junction 
Improvement Scheme  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to 
acquire land from a third party to enable the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner 
junction improvements to take place.  
 

Page 126



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

Following consideration of Appendices 3, 3b and 3c to the submitted report 
designated as being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access 
to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the 
conclusion of the public part of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the principle of acquiring third party land to enable the A647 / 
A6120 Dawson’s Corner junction improvements, be approved; 

 
(b) That the terms agreed for parcel A, as detailed in appendix 2 to the 

submitted report, and the terms for parcels B and C, as detailed in 
exempt appendix 3 to the submitted report, be approved; 

 
(c) That it be noted that should there be any changes to the agreed terms 

for parcels A, B and C, then these are to be approved by the Director of 
City Development under delegated powers; 

 
(d) That the necessary authority be delegated to officers to negotiate 

acquisition terms for parcel D, with agreement being given for those 
terms to be approved by the Director of City Development under 
delegated powers; 

 
(e) That with regard to the associated implementation timescales, it be 

noted that the intention is for third party land to be acquired by the end 
of 2021 and, subject to funding, junction improvement works beginning 
in either spring 2022 or spring 2023, with the construction period due to 
last around 12-18 months. 
 

(As detailed within Minute No. 7, Councillor Carter, having declared an ‘Other 
Registerable Interest’ in this item, had applied for, and been granted a 
dispensation on the grounds that without the dispensation, representation 
from his political group on the Executive Board would not be possible and in 
granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor Carter to speak in the interests 
of persons living in the authority’s area.  In doing so, Councillor Carter 
confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and speaking on this item, he 
would not be voting upon it). 

23 Health, Safety and Wellbeing Performance and Assurance Report  
The Director of Resources submitted a report which provided an overview of 
the Council’s performance regarding health, safety and wellbeing for the 
period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021. The report highlighted the 
improvements which have been made and detailed the challenges ahead. 
 
In presenting the report the Executive Member for Resources provided an 
overview of the key information as presented, and extended her thanks to 
those officers responsible for this area of work for their continued efforts 
during a very challenging year. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report, be noted, with the 
Board recognising that a robust, yet proportionate approach towards risk 
management within the Council continues to be applied. 

Page 127



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

24 To consider Future Developments with regards to Addressing and 
Reducing On-Street Sex Work in the City  
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report 
presenting a proposal to cease with the ‘Managed Approach’ and replace it 
with a revised approach, as outlined within the submitted report, in order to 
tackle and reduce on-street sex work in the city. The report noted that this 
proposal was seeking Executive Board’s endorsement, given that the 
proposal was subject to agreement by the Safer Leeds Community Safety 
Partnership. 
 
In presenting the report, the Executive Member for Resources highlighted that 
she had written to all Members notifying them about the submission of this 
report to Executive Board.  
 
Members considered the proposals detailed within the report. In response to 
some Members’ comments and concerns, specifically with regard to the time 
taken to arrive at the current proposals, the Board was provided with further 
information regarding the following: the initial aims of the Managed Approach 
and how those initial aims and the overall Approach had continued to be 
reviewed and evolved; the consideration of the outcomes arising from 
processes such as the independent review which was presented to the Board 
in July 2020 and the ‘Listening Well’ campaign; and the combination of factors 
which had led to the current proposals being submitted to Executive Board for 
endorsement and to the Safer Leeds Community Safety Partnership for 
agreement. 
 
In discussing the report, Members highlighted that, further to the information 
provided at the meeting, they looked forward to receiving more detail on the 
proposals moving forward and the package of multi-agency support which 
would continue to be put in place for those affected.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the proposal to now cease with the Managed Approach and 
replace it with the revised approach outlined within the submitted report 
to tackle and reduce on-street sex work in the city, be endorsed, with it 
being noted that such proposals are subject to agreement by the Safer 
Leeds Community Safety Partnership (LSP); 
 

(b) That the significance of the operational developments leading to the 
proposed revised approach, be acknowledged and noted; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the Director of Communities, Housing and 

Environment, and where appropriate, partner organisations and 
representatives, will be responsible for the delivery of the revised 
approach; 

 
(d) That it be agreed that members of the Executive Board be kept 

informed and updated on any key changes arising from the 
implementation of the new approach. 

 

Page 128



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

(At the conclusion of this item, the meeting was adjourned at 2.30pm for a 
period of 30 minutes, prior to reconvening at 3.00pm)  
ADULT AND CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS 
 

25 Adults & Health Service Review 6 - Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post 
Consultation Recommendations Report  
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report that presented the 
findings of the consultation exercise undertaken regarding the proposals to 
close Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and 
Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley. In 
considering the information within the submitted report, the Board were 
requested to determine the future of both care homes, with the recommended 
option being to decommission those care homes for the reasons as set out.  
 
In presenting the submitted report, the Executive Member for Adult and 
Children’s Social Care and Health Partnerships acknowledged the anxiety 
caused by the proposals and highlighted that such a recommendation to close 
the two homes had not been made lightly. However, the Executive Member 
went on to undertake that, should the recommendations be approved, then 
every effort would be made to support residents and their families, together 
with affected staff throughout the proposed process.  
 
In addition, details of the range of factors which had been taken into 
consideration when coming to the conclusions within the report were 
highlighted. These included: the decline in demand for care home provision; 
the alternative provision which was available; the financial context and the 
increased budgetary challenges faced across social care; the increased 
demand levels in other areas of social care provision; the investment which 
was being made in other areas of social care, including the future use of the 
two sites in question.  
 
In discussing the report, concerns regarding the following were raised and 
responded to: 

- The two homes’ occupancy levels referenced within the report and in 
discussion; 

- The levels of demand for care home provision generally, and the level 
of the two homes’ use by those in the local community; 

- The consultation process undertaken and the recommendations arising 
from it;  

- The discussions which had taken place with the NHS regarding the 
proposal to close Richmond House; 

- The timing of the proposals; 
- The budgetary challenges which continued to be faced by the Council 

and specifically with regard to social care provision, together with the 
proportion of resource provided in terms of both adult and children’s 
social care provision;  

- The proposals for the 2 sites moving forward, with it being undertaken 
that further detail would be provided to the Members in question 
regarding the advice which had been received that the respective 

Page 129



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

footprints of the two sites were not large enough to provide extra care 
housing.    

 
Following consideration of Appendix 7 to the submitted report designated as 
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the public part of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the outcome of the full consultation reports with stakeholders, 
(Appendix 3 to the submitted report), and the information contained 
within exempt Appendix 7 to the submitted report (Estimated Land 
Valuation), be noted; 
 

(b) That the recommendation to decommission services at Home Lea 
House Residential Long Stay Care Home, in Rothwell, be approved; 

 
(c) That the recommendation to decommission services at Richmond 

House Short Stay Residential Care Home, in Farsley, be approved; 
 

(d) That the timescales for ceasing the services based on the timeline 
attached in Appendix 9 to the submitted report, be agreed; 

 
(e) That it be noted that there is a commitment in principle for the sites to 

be used for the development of supported housing; general needs 
housing at the Home Lea House site in Rothwell, and supported 
housing for older people at the Richmond House site in Farsley; 

 
(f) That it be noted that the lead officer responsible for such matters is the 

Director Adults and Health. 
 

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors A Carter 
and S Golton both required it to be recorded that they respectively voted 
against the decisions referred to within this minute) 

26 Update on Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which provided an 
overview of ‘Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds’, together with the 
work being undertaken as part of the strategy, including details of the 
response in this area during the pandemic. 
 
The Executive Member presented the report highlighting the range of reasons 
why children and young people were living in poverty, with details also being 
provided on the impact of the pandemic upon such poverty levels. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry in respect of enabling educational 
achievement and the impact of home schooling during the pandemic on such 
matters, the Board was provided with details of the actions being taken to 
progress specific priorities which had been identified in light of the pandemic, 
and also further information specifically regarding the support provided to 

Page 130



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

parents and carers in helping their children progress in the area of educational 
attainment.  
 
The Board also discussed the nature of the update report provided and the 
range of measurable outcomes within it, with a suggestion that as part of the 
submission of the next scheduled update report, further detail could be 
included regarding the progress being made with regard to supporting 
children and their families in respect of educational attainment. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the strategic framework in place to mitigate the impact of child 
poverty, and the work being undertaken by the Council and other 
partners in the key areas of activity, as detailed within the submitted 
report, be endorsed; 
 

(b) That the need to promote the work of the ‘Thriving’ strategy across the 
city and in particular in each respective Members’ portfolio in order to 
highlight the impact of poverty on children and their families, be 
acknowledged; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the strategy is the 

Deputy Director Children and Families; working in partnership across 
the Council directorates. 

DATE OF PUBLICATION:  FRIDAY, 25TH JUNE 2021 
 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:  5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 2ND JULY 2021 
 
 
 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Meeting note of 15th June 2021
	3 The Health and Care Bill 2021-22 and the development of the local Integrated Care System
	Item 3 - Appendix 1 - Report of Director of A&H
	Item 3 - Appendix 2 - H&C Bill House of Commons document
	Summary
	What does the Bill do?
	Social care and public health provisions
	Safety investigation and other measures
	Reaction to the Bill
	NHS England
	The Health and Social Care Committee
	More powers for the Secretary of State
	Private sector involvement
	What about other pressures on the NHS?


	1 Background to NHS reform and integrated care
	1.1 The NHS Long Term Plan (January 2019) and the Health and Care White Paper (February 2021)
	1.2 The Health and Social Care Committee’s report on the White Paper
	Integrated Care Systems
	The design of ICSs


	2 Part 1: Provisions to support integration and collaboration
	2.1 Background
	2.2 Merging NHS England and NHS Improvement (Clauses 1, 26-32 and Schedules 1 and 5)
	Background
	Clause 1 and Schedule 1: changing the name of the NHS Commissioning Board
	Clauses 26-32 and Schedule 5: Merging functions of Monitor and the Trust Development Authority into NHS England

	2.3 The Triple Aim (Clauses 4, 15, 43 and 56)
	Comment

	2.4 NHS England and Integrated Care Board requirements to involve and consult patients and carers (Clauses 5 and 19)
	2.5 Other provisions relating to the exercise of functions by NHS England (Clauses 6-8 and 10-11)
	2.6 Functions and duties of Integrated Care Systems (Clauses 12-25 and Schedules 2 and 3)
	General functions and governance of Integrated Care Boards (ICBs)
	Clause 19: Duties of Integrated Care Boards (ICBs)
	Comment
	Clause 20: Integrated Care Partnerships
	Comment on Integrated Care Partnerships

	2.7 Financial controls on NHS England and ICBs (Clauses 21-24)
	2.8 Additional powers for the Secretary of State and the relationship with NHS England
	Background to proposed powers of direction for the Secretary of State
	Clause 2: specialised services
	Clause 3: The Mandate to NHS England
	Clause 9
	Clauses 34-38 and Schedule 6
	Clause 38 and Schedule 6: Health service reconfigurations
	Comment

	2.9 NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts
	Clauses 40-50 and Schedule 7: NHS Trusts
	Clauses 51-57: NHS Foundation Trusts
	Other clauses related to NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
	Comment on NHS Foundation Trust capital limits

	2.10 Joint working, delegation, and collaboration (Clauses 60-65 and Schedule 9)
	2.11 NHS payment systems (Clause 66 and Schedule 10)
	2.12 Patient choice and competition (Clauses 67-73 and Schedules 11 and 12)
	Clauses 67 and Schedule 11: Patient choice
	Clause 68 and 69, and Schedule 12: Procurement and provider selection
	Comment
	Clauses 70-73 and Schedule 12: competition and the role of the Competition and Markets Authority


	3 Part 2: Health and adult social care information
	Comment

	4 Part 3: Secretary of State powers to transfer functions
	4.1 Arm’s Length Bodies: transferring and delegating functions (Clauses 86-92)
	Comment


	5 Part 4: The Health Services Safety Investigations Body
	5.1 Background
	The Health Service Safety Investigations Bill
	The draft Bill
	Pre-legislative scrutiny
	Health Service Safety Investigations Bill 2019


	5.2 The Bill (Clauses 93-119 and Schedule 13)
	Clauses 93–94 and Schedule 13: HSSIB and its investigatory functions
	Clauses 95 and 96: Investigatory procedures
	Clauses 97-101: Incident reports
	Clause 102: Inspection and seizure
	Clauses 103 and 104: Powers to require information
	Clause 105: Offences
	Clauses 106 – 109 and Schedule 14: Disclosure of information
	Clauses 110-112: Relationship with other bodies
	Clauses 113 and 114: Oversight of functions by the Secretary of State
	Clause 115-119: Supplementary provisions
	Comment


	6 Provisions relating to adult social care
	6.1 Hospital discharge and social care assessments (Clause 78)
	Background
	Comment

	6.2 CQC assessment of local authority social care functions (Clause 121)
	Comment

	6.3 Financial assistance (Clause 122)
	6.4 Comment on wider reform of adult social care

	7 Restrictions on TV and online advertising of less healthy food and drink
	7.1 Background
	7.2 The Bill (Clause 125 and Schedule 16)
	7.3 Views of stakeholders

	8 Other provisions
	8.1 International healthcare (Clause 120)
	8.2 Professional regulation (Clause 123)
	8.3 Medical examiners (Clause 124)
	8.4 Hospital food (Clause 126)
	8.5 Food labelling requirements (Clause 127)
	Why has the Government proposed the new powers?
	Developing Government policy on food labelling

	8.6 Water fluoridation (Clauses 128 and 129)
	Background
	Current legislative framework and proposed amendments
	Government proposals

	8.7 Miscellaneous provisions (Clauses 75-77)
	8.8 Part 6: Consequential provisions, regulations, commencement, extent and short title (Clauses 130-135)



	4 Work Schedule
	Item 4 - Appendix 1 - AHAL work schedule 2021-22
	Item 4 - Appendix 2 - Draft minutes of Executive Board - 23rd June 2021


